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With vision and the right strategy, we
pick the right spot, build a world-class
commercial facility, and deliver a new
growth source every year.
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Next to launch: Forum 66, Shenyang
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We value our relationships with customers
and are totally dedicated to understanding
their needs. By providing superlative
property management service and
business opportunities, we are creating a
win-win situation for everyone.
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FHE Rosanna Wong =AM EF — M RYEEIR(FH) Senior Leasing Officer — Leasing and Management (Hong Kong)
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IEfEZ -l & HE We are
we are Hang Lung

RIGHT on

Hang Lung Properties Limited
(stock code: 101) is the property arm of
Hang Lung Group Limited (stock code: 10).

We are a top tier property developer in Hong Kong and on
the Mainland with a recognized commitment to quality.

We are a truly diversified property development company as
reflected in our varied portfolio of commercial, retail, office,
residential, serviced apartments, industrial/office and car
park properties. Our primary focus is to acquire the best
sites in the cities where we operate and employ only the top
architectural firms to achieve the highest design quality and
develop the best properties.

In Hong Kong and on the Mainland, our corporate policy is to
constantly review and, where necessary, upgrade our tenant

mix while regularly refurbishing our existing developments so
as to achieve a maximum return on our investments. We also
emphasize value-added services and incentives, which add to
the appeal and marketability of our properties.

Our long-term vision is to expand on the Mainland while
continuing to invest in our home market of Hong Kong, with
the aim of becoming a property developer of the highest
quality in both markets.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Results
BB EETTE in HK$ million 2011 2010
(&%)
(Restated)
= Turnover
MEME Property leasing
Ea Hong Kong 2,822 2,615
A A Mainland China 2,339 1,931
MEHE Property sales 3 7,511
= ::F by Total turnover 5,164 12,057
IR 3R P& { AL R Net profit attributable to shareholders 5,792 23,561
RE Dividends 3,175 2,951
BREHR Per share data
gl Earnings $1.33 $5.68
A% 2 Dividends
HHA Interim $0.17 $0.17
REA Final $0.54 $0.54
“Et Total $0.71 $0.71
AR M Shareholders’ equity $245 $22.4
BEFE Net assets $25.7 $23.5
IR R = Shareholders’ equity 109,719 93,105
IRELEE Pay-out ratio 53% 13%
afR Gearing ratio o' 0% 0%
Underlying Results
S EHETTE in HK$ million 2011 2010
B} SR A B A At R 2 Underlying net profit attributable to
. shareholders N°t¢2 2,741 6,674
FREF ﬂﬁz“ Earnings per share o3 $0.63 $1.67
pid=Na S Pay-out ratio o3 13% 44%
PR - Notes:

1. BEXAFEFEEREINFEES LR o B E 1. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents
EIEIRITER B ERLRE - IBRBE e RIR bank loans and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with banks.
TR o IRAE R B IEAR R a5 I SR AR b 25 © Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests.

2. AMEYEAEELELENER  SWEAE 2. Tofadllitate better understanding of the Group's operational results, the
BEREMBRRERAT BT ERFEA05RE underlying net profit attributable to shareholders are presented by excluding the
MEIZTE  ZEABREREMERERS effect of adopting Hong Kong Accounting Standard 40, Investment Property
REYENTEZ EBW G ABRIEER E & which requires changes in fair value of investment properties and investment
IR NS R P ARR © properties under development net of related deferred tax and non-controlling

interests be accounted for in the income statement.

3. BRHERBRREEERGREE - 3. The relevant calculations are based on the underlying net profit attributable to
shareholders.

6 EEBERRAT -2/ ——FFH
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Sustainable Income and Proflt Growth in Core Business

HEEXER &= 7 BERAEARKRE
Rental Turnover Rental Profit Total Dividends per Share
BESA=THILFE BHEAA=1+THLEFE HEAA=1THILFE
For the years ended June 30 For the years ended June 30 For the years ended June 30
BEEET BRI AL
HK$ million HK$ million HK cents
BEFIERE $5,161 509 BEEERR $4,194 71 cents
6000 | HHr+H million 0k 4500 | maY+H million 70
Compound 4,000 Compound
5000 | annual growth 45% ' annual growth 60
! of 15% 3500 | of 15%
4,000 40% 3,000 2U
2,500 40
3,000 35%
2,000 30
2,000 30% 1,500
20
1,000
1,000 25% 10
500
0 20% 0 0
07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M

® EEE Hong Kong leasing
B A & Mainland China leasing
PEANMAEEHEEREEROL
% of Mainland China leasing of total leasing
turnover

BEO®E ZEEH
Strong Financial Capability to Capture Business Opportunities

BeREE BREAEEFH
Cash and Borrowings Interest Cover*
WANA=1+8 BENA=THILLEE
At June 30 For the years ended June 30
BEEET =]
HK$ million times
$27,202 148
S0 million 160 times
25,000 140
120
20,000 $16,736
million 100
15,000 80
10,000 cu
40
5,000
20
0 0
07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M

18¢ K R1T17F 3K Cash and bank deposits

® {EE Borrowings

* BRI EEEIERTAREWE AT EES *  Interest cover represents operating profit before changes in fair value of
R BT A B 255 T B LA R BUE AL BT B9 F F investment properties and interest income divided by net interest expenses
SN before interest capitalization.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
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Results & Dividend

Turnover for the year ended June 30, 2011 retreated by 572%

to HK$5,164 million. Net profit attributable to shareholders fell
by 75.4% to HK$5,792 million. Earnings per share was HK$1.33
representing a drop of 76.6% from the previous year.

While we decided not to release residential flats to the market, our
property leasing business performed well and recorded a 13.5%
increase in rental income to HK$5,161 million. Operating profit
therefrom grew 12.6% to HK$4,194 million.

When excluding all the effects of revaluation gain, the underlying
net profit fell by 58.9% to HK$2,741 million. Similarly, underlying
earnings per share decreased to HK$0.63.

EEBLEGRAR T/ ——F4R



EZRERRBERAREEREERANT
il BEFHER - HFARPIORAEEEF
T—AEBM\EAR D 2 @ BIERREL
o 2FEERRE ZARNEEFHER -

£ e

MR EEER AT RAEE - FigA
HEBRBNDEREN - R - HAMRAKE
MEHE - SR T EN MENREA - MF
Al BRI FREAIER - SR8 Bl —
B REMERRRY  RF2EHEREM
M) Z B R EEFIE BRI R -

MEHEHEBBEA N 2O 0 - EHK
BB - REBLERIHEBRER
BETIN - BEYEREAR EHERFEZHEL -

MeEXRAEMNO T IBEFRERAER
e MeBAREFEABES 2+ A
EEMELAASZ/\ R ERI AR
DZ_t— o AEMHTE - BEMEAR
BEREAs 2 EMER - AMWER AR
DZThe

tEhE - AERN LBEERES ZEDRD
SREZBNER  REEASZ =T/
mEmERNBEERESNEAED ZT =/
THiE o e F L EMER - B —HTARNEER
miEE LEEEESHNEER - AT
ELeEMEESERIME=F - #A L
BERESHABHEHSWARE L7 8
ISR FRARAR - HEZMEERKRF
BRABEREMIERY - B E2MERE
BHERENERRE -

EENEEERNBEAENA ZNT="
NBRIREFEE B D 2\ 1 ° REREFH
= ARSEEFNREBRAEER e
KA FE - B EREEESNEFET
BRMDARER - BRANE  EEXHIEE

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

The Board recommends a final dividend of HK54 cents per

share which is the same as the year before. If approved by
shareholders, total dividends per share for the full year will remain
the same as last year although our capital base has increased by
7% due to the share placement last November.

Business Review

Because management did not deem market conditions hot
enough, we did not sell any completed apartments in Hong Kong.
As a result, profit only came from rental which explains the fall.
Two years ago we experienced exactly the same. Nevertheless,
just like that time, investment properties have performed well with
almost all property types in both Hong Kong and the Mainland
recording increases at satisfactory levels.

45% of total rent is contributed by the Mainland operation while
the rest is from our home market. With the exception of Hong
Kong serviced apartments which are insignificant to us, all product
types everywhere remained basically full.

Growth rates for rental turnover and profit were very similar to
those at mid-year. We received 14% more rents than the year
before, with Hong Kong properties coming in at 8% and Mainland
properties at 21%. In our home market, both retail and offices
turned in a 7% rise while other buildings advanced by 15%.

In Shanghai, the five star mall Plaza 66 continued a fast pace
growth at 28% while the four star Grand Gateway 66 increased

by 13%. From information at hand, it is likely that the same top
brands in the former generate at least two to three times more
sales than their other stores in the same city. Although office
rents received from Plaza 66 went up slightly, competition remains
severe. It would be unrealistic to expect meaningful growth say

in the next two years. Turnover at Shenyang Palace 66 met the
target.

Rental margin in Hong Kong rose to almost 83% while that on the
Mainland fell slightly to 80%. The latter was anticipated since the
addition of any new facility will have that effect. Profit contribution
for the one year old Shenyang Palace 66 was still limited but will
improve. This is the nature of the business.



R B OR R

CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

BMENEERS] HRRIEBEEERE
Bl ERAEERTABREAEEEBRE] -
BRE/T R mENEE - TREFS e
MRETHE - EEFREARELHEDD
SERE S BN LEERESEBR X
A MENRREEN—BTYZE =
EHAREMNEENRRE - BNEER
[2ESEERITER - BEERNAMEER
AEBRNSERBYRISEE —% - &R
BANME—F -

EUNESEECmENHEERENE - LR
ETLEENBABENEES  AIGLHER
BAER o FHRE - EBEREESNEED
EBEEREESNME  MERPETENR
EREME (R AR) WEENDER LS
BEESSHME  BRENERDEAE
BeER  eANEENLBRMEREZ&R
EREMEERENE  LERERSZ—
B EIS D E R E B4 HE |

BB S —ARBRELEEEZRTS
MEAZR ° LiBIERES ZBYESHER
BEHRNEEREBEBERSSHA D
ZZ—TR e BRIENTFEERARKENA
DZT— MEENATHEBBELTENE
MMfE - EFRTMENBEERERASD
A AIERABENESNETR  REA
RENBYERE - REBEEBERESESF
BENTEALE BESARZEE| &
ARt LBEERBNLBREIEREE

bPEmRFGERFAPNERRE R
ERE-AMEAMA L EE SRR
RKEE - 8B —RERMEF—ERA
REMORTA] BHARNABEHREBE
BEANGEMRAE - EHHETR LBE
EERSNENHPEFAROARE -+
& - meEERESIEBARE TR
TTe [1BfE]MIE LBMESFAR‘BAR
B EITHRK - ERSHAERTNE 8
MR- —HEMBETHANE BEHHE - MRIE
EREEYIAR - AMEAHERRRME
EEgmn—alo - efirgsErg -
ELEFH BT BRI M

10

We have changed the name “The Grand Gateway"” to “Grand
Gateway 66." In daily usage, it can be simply “Gateway 66."
This is to unify the brand and the logo, for even many Shanghai
residents do not know that this popular mall and the legendary
Plaza 66 have a common owner. One marvel of goodwill and
brand equity is that not only will they not diminish when shared,
they in fact grow. As Grand Gateway 66 moves further upscale,
the association with what is considered by many to be the most
prestigious luxury shopping center in the country can only help.

It is interesting to compare our Shanghai malls with our Hong
Kong shops in terms of productivity defined as sales per unit
space. On average Plaza 66 is twice as productive as Grand
Gateway 66. Whereas our best retail space in Hong Kong

(in Mongkok district) is still two times more productive than

the average of Plaza 66, the top brands in the latter are in the
stratosphere! They can be almost four times more productive than
our Hong Kong best and ten times that of Queensway Plaza, one
of our busiest malls in terms of footfall.

Another way to look at Shanghai’s amazing luxury market is that
the shopping center at Plaza 66 now generates annual sales which
is some 26% more than that of Grand Gateway 66 although the
latter has almost twice the leasable space. Yet the higher sales

is accomplished by a footfall which on average is only 11% that
of the bigger facility. That illustrates how different the clienteles
are - - one boasts high net worth clients while the other excels in
the huge number of shoppers. It is indeed impressive that Grand
Gateway 66 now has almost 80 million visitors each year! That
may be a record for any mall in Shanghai and perhaps even in the
country.

A unique measure used by the Shanghai government to measure
commercial activities of a building complex is the tax collected
through all activities associated with it. For example, a company
with headquarters in one of our office towers will have all the
taxes it pays accrued to that complex. Official records show

that some RMB2.4 billion of taxes were paid by our tenants

and ourselves at Plaza 66 and over RMB1.7 billion at Grand
Gateway 66. The fact that “we” can generate more than RMB4
billion of taxes annually from our two Shanghai properties is an
astonishment to municipal officials everywhere. Several of them
from other cities have told me that they would be pleased if Hang
Lung were to build in their city and pay them a fraction of that.
Such numbers help build our brand in China.

EEBLEGRAR T/ ——F4R
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The huge 171,000 sg.m. shopping center Jinan Parc 66 is fully
leased up. We achieved that six months ahead of the August

26, 2011 official opening. Even without factoring in sales rent
which for a new facility should be minimal, the initial unleveraged
gross return on invested capital will likely exceed all our previous
experiences. For reasons explained in detail in my letter to
shareholders a year ago, Shenyang Palace 66 barely matched the
opening vyield of our two Shanghai properties when they hit the
market over a decade ago. | would not be surprised if Parc 66 will
in the first year do 50% better. | will leave the explanation to after
the new mall is opened and after actual numbers are in. Suffice it
to say here that with all space leased at pleasing rents, the omen
is auspicious indeed.

Some shareholders may remember that we have been working
on a site in Changsha for over six years. For tactical reasons, we
even announced the possible transaction back in 2006. However,
in January this year the piece was auctioned by the municipal
government and we lost it. To me it was a disappointing but not
necessarily a sad outcome.

Firstly, the winning bid was obviously higher than what we were
willing to pay. Another reason was that instead of the plot ratio we
discussed with the city, it was eventually raised to a much higher
level thus cramming a lot of buildable space onto the limited plot
of land. Several office towers and perhaps a hotel will have to be
built. The top location notwithstanding, it would have become
more difficult to design a world class complex which could
command the highest rent.

The fact that there are three existing high rise residential buildings
on the island site is not ideal from a design perspective. However,
we would have been willing to live with them if not for another
uncertainty relating to the plot. It sits on what was the original

city center when Changsha was founded some 2,500 years ago.
When its neighboring piece was developed some time ago, many
valuable cultural relics were unearthed. It was a lot easier to deal
with such an issue then, but not now. So all things considered, we
exercised discipline in our bidding. The chapter is now closed.

This brings me to what | consider the most critical event of the
past year. It relates to the serious change in the competitive
landscape which | touched upon six months ago. Even more has
happened since which may affect our business for years to come.
If the change of Managing Directorship exercised my mind the
most a year ago, this new market reality has had the same effect

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11 "
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in the past 12 months. The fortunate thing is that my previous
problem was most satisfactorily resolved through the coming on
board of Mr. Philip Chen. | trust that the present difficulty will also
in time be overcome.

Once Philip decided to join, | told him that his most critical task
was to buy land on the Mainland. Over a year has passed and my
views have evolved. It now seems possible that we may not do
that for another year or two. | may be proven wrong (and it will
not be the first time) for the market may yet change suddenly.
Irrespectively, we will still push ahead on many potential land
acquisitions. If we do not, there will be no possibility to conclude
transactions once the market becomes favorable again. That was
exactly our experience in early 2009 - - two plots we had been
negotiating for some time suddenly came to fruition once liquidity
dried up for our competitors and perhaps also for the sellers, i.e.
municipal governments.

In the past | had written about Mainland home builders invading the
space of commercial real estate. Many reasons were presented
which | will not repeat here. Suffice it to say that a good number
of developers have apparently come around to our views regarding
the residential sector - - volatile markets, lack of recurrent income,
government intervention, and high taxes, just to name a few.

It is said that contributing to the shift, albeit in a very small way,

is the so called “Hang Lung Phenomenon.” Many developers on
the Mainland have in the past years noticed our achievements and
tried to emulate them. Our assessment that few will succeed will
not stop them. Property arms of huge state-owned enterprises as
well as large non-government owned real estate companies are
entering the fray to supplement their residential projects. A few
Hong Kong players have recently turned aggressive in the same
space thus further crowding the field.

Then came the game changer. In February this year, the

Central Government announced the building of 36 million units

of subsidized or social housing for sale or rent over the next

five years. In 2011 alone, 10 million apartments must begin
construction. After years of managing demand and failing, Beijing
now feels obliged to address the supply side as well. It is one
thing to provide a massive amount of land for the private sector to
build apartments whose sales prices are restricted by land lease
from the government; it is quite another for the municipalities to
build and sell themselves. Their respective effects on the market
are very different.

EEBERRAT -2/ ——FFK
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Even if the government does not accomplish all it sets out to do,
there is no denying that to a residential developer, this equates to
a serious shrinkage of the pie. In 2010, the entire new stock of
commercially built residential units numbered 9.3 million, but next
year alone, the government may complete 10 million apartments,
40% of which could be for lease. Given present statistics of
slightly over three people to a dwelling, 36 million units in the next
five years mean that they will house over 110 million residents.
This is some 17% of all city dwellers on the Mainland! No wonder
so many home builders are moving into the commercial property
sphere.

This will undoubtedly drive up commercial land prices. A country
already full of substandard malls and offices will see even more
of the same. Many will eventually fail but that will not deter
developers. Due partly to their weak financial positions as well

as a desire to churn their capital, almost all such buildings will be
cut up into small units and sold, often before completion. History
everywhere shows that once condominiumized, the condition of
such already poorly designed facilities can only quickly deteriorate.
China will inevitably become - - if it has not already become so - - a
country of “junk malls” and “junk offices.” This is a tremendous
waste of resources, land and building materials, and will condemn
Chinese cities and their citizens to such “visual pollution.”

In a later section, | will discuss Hang Lung’s response to this new
competitive landscape.

At mid-year, | wrote about two events that took place during the
first half of the fiscal year - - breaking ground at Dalian Olympia

66 last September and the share placement last November.
Rationale for the latter was clearly enunciated and | will not repeat
it here. There is however one other development which bears
explanation.

Since the rule changed exactly a year ago, we began to
accumulate Renminbi. So far we have bought about RMB20
billion worth. At times we were one of the biggest purchasers

in the open market. None of this is for speculation; we never do
that. Rather the acquisitions are for capital expenditure needs.

In the coming three years, we will spend approximately RMB15
billion in construction on the Mainland. This does not take into
consideration land that we may purchase. Judging from recent
transactions, to spend RMB5 billion in a day for that is rather easy!
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Moreover, we always hold on to our completed projects for long
term rent rather than for a quick sale. That means returns will
come in slowly though surely. Yet construction must be paid

for upfront in sums far exceeding the annual rent intake. This is
especially true in the earlier years of a completed complex. So
although strictly speaking we do not have a currency mismatch

- - both outgoings and rents received are in Renminbi - - there is
a time gap. Consequently, management with blessing from your
Board decided to buy now what we need. After all, most people
believe that at least in the coming year or so, the chance of that
currency going up is greater than the chance of its fall. Interest
from Renminbi deposits is also higher than for Hong Kong dollars.

One argument against acting so is that present regulations on the
Mainland make transmitting offshore Renminbi onshore difficult

if not impossible. But even in the worst case scenario where we
have to reconvert Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars before sending
into the Mainland, we are still ahead because of the deposit rate
differential. What we may gain in currency appreciation will be a
side benefit.

This is not to mention our belief that Renminbi deregulation is
ongoing. China now has perhaps too much foreign currency and
Beijing does not like to see its own rise too fast. Consequently, it is
plausible that one day soon, outside companies will be allowed to
directly wire in Renminbi. As it so happened, in one of our projects
permission to do just that was recently granted. This is not yet a
national phenomenon, but that possibility is definitely there.

As | told shareholders when we went through management
succession a year ago, the Company was undergoing a major
shift. We are moving from a two city operation to a national one
with multiple locations. \We were never an operation intensive
company, but with the construction of two million square meters
of high end commercial complexes in the coming decade or so,
the orientation of management will by necessity change. For
years we prided ourselves as being a lean company with one of
the highest per staff profits - - last year on average each employee
contributed about HK$10 million to the bottom line of over HK$23
billion. Now our staff count will increase by 10-20% per annum for
the coming few years.

The first step to prepare for the change is to find a leader who is

strong in operational management. That is the single most critical
decision and we are fortunate to have secured the service of
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Philip. After his first full year as Managing Director, | am pleased
to report that we have found the right person.

Philip has quickly picked up the real estate industry specific
knowledge which frankly is not difficult. He has worked
expeditiously to build out a stronger management team. At
the top, so far we have five Executive Directors (ED’s) including
the Chairman and the Managing Director. Two were promoted
internally in 2010 - - one before Philip joined and one after.

Of the six original Assistant Directors (AD’s), two were elevated as
mentioned and one resigned. Adding to the three remaining AD’s,
three were promoted from within and we hired four from the
outside making a total of ten. To round out the leadership team,
we need one more ED and candidates are being interviewed.
Once appointed, he or she will be the only ED, not counting our
Managing Director, who is not “home-grown.” Whatever the case,
by that time the six ED’s plus ten AD’s will together form the very
heart of the organization who should be able to continue delivering
satisfactory results to shareholders.

As reported in previous letters to shareholders, we have been
hiring many senior managers and managers to meet the varied
needs of the expanding business. Like ED’s and AD’s, they are

all stock option holders of the Company. We started with thirty-
eight when we first bought land outside of Shanghai in early 2005;
now the number stands at ninety-eight. | present a few statistics
just to give some indication of what changes have taken place.
Beyond mere numbers, much is being done to shape and coalesce
the team to make it even more effective.

Management system wise, many improvements and adjustments
are being made. Weaknesses have been identified and measures
to augment or even alter have been put in place or set in motion.
For example, we now have - - or in some cases, soon will have - -
better systems in internal auditing, budgeting and review, IT, and
corporate communications, just to name a few. In many respects,
we are now a better Company than we were a year ago.

With a new leader, we also benefit from a set of unbiased

eyes. Things that have always been may need reexamination.
Questioning long traditions and challenging existing concepts,
precepts and procedures can bring desirable changes. All in all,
Philip’s many contributions are already bearing tangible fruits.
Much more needs to be done and we wiill take advantage of the
next year or two to complete the tasks.
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| recognize that management issues are not of immediate concern
to many investors. Rather, one could not but notice that in the
past, every time we bought land on the Mainland, our share price
went up. However, we will never pander to such short term
desires of some. We are here to maximize sustainable, longer
term, risk-adjusted returns to shareholders. With that objective, all
management improvements make sense.

Some may even sell our shares upon hearing my assessment that
the likelihood of land acquisition is not high for the next year or
two. My response is of course: go right ahead. We cannot stop
such action anyway. However, we really do not mind because
when our share price reaches certain lower limits, our parent Hang
Lung Group always buys. In fact, in recent months it started to do
just that as evidenced in a public filing.

Strategic Initiatives

To know how to respond to the new competitive environment, we
need to learn from history. A good place to begin is fourteen years
ago at the onset of the Asian Financial Crisis which coincided with

Hong Kong's return to her Motherland.

If one were to use 2010 yearend share prices of all major publicly
listed local Hong Kong property companies and work backwards
for four to fourteen years inclusive, our total return (share price
performance plus dividend paid) or that of our parent Hang Lung
Group has been the best in all but one year. That time we came in
a close second. (In the past three years, we have done acceptably
though not as stellarly as a few others.) It's even more impressive
if one uses the market peak of 1997 say June 30 as a base and
moves forward until June 30 this year. In all but one year, your
Company has been the top performer in total return. More often
than not, Hang Lung Group came in second. We achieved all this
while already being among the biggest players.

The question is: how did we achieve that? The answer should
shed light on the path forward. A critical success factor is | believe
our timing the market as well as anyone. In fact we are religious
in acting only according to what the market tells us. If you will,

we respect the market more than most if not all - - we only buy
when we think the market is down and we only sell when we
think the market is high. Yes, a year ago | wrote that unlike many
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of our competitors, the Hang Lung way to grow and so being our
corporate mindset is always to rely on knowhow, experience and
hard work. We do not merely count on price movements to make
money. That is true, but it is also true that we time the market and
time it well. Our past shows that we are extraordinarily disciplined
about it. Consider the following historic fact which even the most
sophisticated of our investors may find surprising.

In the past twenty years, our ability to deliberately stay out of

the market was uncanny. (For ease of communication, all the
dates presented below are approximations.) For the three years
between 1992 and 1994, we purchased many properties in Hong
Kong and Shanghai. As our home market heated up ahead of

the City’s return to China, we for the next four years from 1995

to 1998 refrained from buying. That was one of several ways we
prepared ourselves so well ahead of the Asian Financial Crisis. (In
the past, | had written this to shareholders in some detail.) Even
after the trouble started in July 1997 we still kept ourselves away
for another twenty-one months. Once the time we deemed
appropriate arrived, we acquired land. We did it in the absence

of competition throughout 1999 and 2000. Then we stopped for
another four years from 2001 to 2004. Between 2005 and 2006,
we quietly snapped up large tracts of top located commercial land
in second tier Mainland cities when no one was looking. \When
that market heated up, we stopped for two years. That was in
2007 and 2008. As | often say, thank God for the global economic
tsunami which began in 2008. It provided us with an excellent
opportunity to acquire land in 2009. From the last purchase made
in May that year, it has now been another two plus years in which
we bought nothing.

It is highly doubtful that there is another real estate company
anywhere that is like us - - buying for three years, stopping for four
years, buying for two, stopping for four, buying for two, stopping
for two, buying for one and having stopped again now for over
two years. As | have said to some institutional investors, many
years shareholders pay me a salary for doing nothing - - in terms
of not acquiring new material for our business. But it is precisely
by knowing when not to buy that one will know when to buy. Itis
after all not the acquisition of land that brings shareholders return;
it is purchasing the right plot at the right time and at the right price
that matters.
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We do not only time our market entrance, i.e. acquisitions, we
also time our market exits, i.e. when to sell. Those familiar with
our history know that in the market peak of 1997 we parted with
certain investment properties at great profit. In more recent years,
we have also been known to hold on to our completed Hong Kong
apartments selling only at very hot market conditions to maximize
profit. So far we have repeatedly called the market correctly.

| firmly believe that it is this disciplined approach to reading the
cycles - - or respecting the market, if you will - - that is a major
factor for our past successes. Recognizing the immutable nature
of real estate cycles, there is no reason to change. We will
continue to do the only sensible thing - - buy low and sell high.

It is important to mention here that Hang Lung is in the business
for the long term. The industry demands that orientation, for real
estate cycles are relatively long. Only with such a mindset will

a practitioner allow himself or herself the time to capitalize on
market movements. Cycles can bankrupt players, usually those
with a short term outlook, and yet the same cycles are precisely
what make others successful.

Because property cycles are in general long, getting them correct
or not may not be obvious to all in the short run, but time will
surely tell. Similarly, buying land expensively does not necessarily
mean that one will lose money, for prices may continue to climb
for some time. Nevertheless, the risks that are assumed may not
make the acquisition prudent. There will be little or no cushion
when prices eventually fall.

There is of course the possibility that since China is on a systemic
up swing, even future market corrections may not see property
prices fall to one's entry cost. That is however a dangerous
assumption. Japan’s land prices for example had been basically
rising for four decades until 1989. However, there were still sizable
fluctuations within that mega growth trend. The early 1970's for
example saw property prices drop significantly.

Moreover, China today is very different from Japan of the post-
World War Il era. The geopolitical condition then was unlike that
of nowadays. The present prevailing global economic condition is
as well much more complicated and fragile than in the decades
past, as “modern finance” continues to wreak havoc on the
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system. Then somewhat unique to China, these days there are
considerable uncertainties within that society which cause serious
concerns. All that tends to make cycle amplitudes shorter than
before and magnitudes greater than before. If so, then buying
opportunities may sooner rather than later appear.

One argument against our not chasing prices is that given Hang
Lung's strategy of only buying the best located commercial land,
some such plots will practically be alienated from us forever.

My answer is as follows: the consequences of being stuck with
expensive land are far worse than missing a few good pieces.
After all, China is huge with many economically dynamic cities
in which we can play. Moreover, by keeping our powder dry,

we should be able to purchase much more when the market
falls. That was the case in Hong Kong in 1999-2000 and on the
Mainland in 2009.

As all experienced business executives know, some mistakes are
especially expensive and must be avoided at all costs. Since land
is such a major element in the real estate business, its prudent
acquisition can make or break a company. History is full of such
incidents, and we in Hong Kong should know it particularly well.
Even if a firm is not broken, its future prospects can be seriously
dampened. Let me illustrate by drawing from Hang Lung’s past.

Throughout the 1960's, we were perhaps the fastest growing real
estate company in Hong Kong. By some measures, we might
even have been the second largest by the middle of the decade.
Yet we totally misread the market in the 1970's. When buying land
aggressively was the right thing to do, we did almost nothing. By
1981-82, management tried to catch up and bought much land only
to be caught out by the precipitous fall of 1983-84. Like anyone
who has survived an ordeal with extreme difficulties - - such

as reaching the brink of bankruptcy - - we were psychologically
unprepared if not financially unable to grab opportunities that
accompanied market recovery starting in the mid 1980's. Thus we
missed the twenty golden years of Hong Kong real estate. We fell
from being one of the largest in the 1960's to an also-ran when |
took over the Company in 1991.

What has happened since makes for a meaningful case study
and it encourages us to stay the course in face of today's new
competitive landscape.
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Using yearend share prices for market capitalization calculations
and starting in 1994 with Hong Kong's nine largest listed property
counters—that year Hang Lung Group ranked number ten - - your
Company has advanced consistently. Properly timing the market
is again a key success factor. Before 1997 we were basically the
eighth in market size. Between 1997 and 1999, we were number
seven. Then for six years we occupied the sixth spot. In 2006 we
rose to number five, in 2007 to number four and since 2008 to
number three until the last week of 2010. (A company overtook us
at 2010 yearend.)

Comparing ourselves to the three largest property players of

the 1990's also yields interesting findings. The biggest distance
between us and each of them came in 1999/2000. At that point,
the investing public apparently began to recognize our series of
correct decisions in the previous decade. Since then, the gaps
between us have consistently narrowed. \Whereas they were
respectively 12 times, 10 times and 4.5 times our size then, now
they are 1.7 times, 2 times and 0.7 times our size. All three of
them have grown nicely since 2000, but we have grown much
faster. Putting it in graphic terms, our growth curve was far
steeper.

Will the gap with the two players consistently larger than us
continue to shrink? It will depend on how steep our growth
curves are. What will also make a real difference is if one makes
a serious blunder. The law of compounding dictates that to then
catch up will be doubly difficult. But even without major mistakes,
the gradient of the curve is significant. It seems innocuous
enough but if the differential between two players is wide yet the
gradient is consistently in favor of the smaller one, then over time
the gap wiill close, as illustrated by our past experience.

To have a steadily steeper climb, one must do the right thing at

all times. Buying land at high prices may flatten the curve. This is
why we unlike certain competitors do not chase prices. They may
well make money but we prefer to wait for better opportunities.
Cycles are inevitable and we keep our nerves steady. We try not
to jump the market prematurely. The patient will in the end win.
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To be sure, the mindset of your management is never to compete
with other players. We only respond to the market and not so
much to what others may or may not be doing. Strive to always do
the right thing vis-a-vis the market and it will eventually reward you.
Our history of catching up in the past two decades attests to that.

| suspect that many people conceptually agree with our modus
operandi. However, how few there are who actually practice it!
And the fewer there are who do, the tougher it is to stick to it. It
is a lonely road. Unspokenly, almost all of us like to follow the
crowd; it is uncomfortable to be different.

There will also be many controversial views from the investing
public. One who dares to practice what we do is liable of being
accused of many things, the most benign of which will be to have
missed opportunities. That we are accustomed to hearing. From
1995 to mid 1997 many international institutional investors faulted
us for being conservative. Eventually, one of the world’s biggest
investment management companies told people that | was plain
lazy. But lazy we were not, for to not act (such as not buying land)
can be --and in our case, is - - in itself a most deliberate act! Itis
not brainless inaction; it is a calculated course of action.

It turned out that back in 1995 to mid 1997 we in fact did a lot.
The only thing we did not do was to buy land. Instead we sold
matured investment properties; we traded shorter dated debt
with longer ones; and we tapped the capital market to raise
equity. All such actions went unnoticed; instead, many derided
us for not acquiring land like our competitors. Our share price
suffered and we became the laughing-stock of the market - - until
the Asian Financial Crisis struck. All contempt ceased, and your
management alone, it seemed, was smiling. By and by, we were
joined by a few shrewd investors who stealthily collected our
shares. We in turn ended up purchasing some of Hong Kong's
best pieces of land for a song. Eventually these shareholders of
ours made a lot of money and so did we. Even today we are still
benefitting from the aftermath.

With hindsight, the Asian Financial Crisis gave us our biggest
break; it was a turning point for our shares which have not looked
back. The global economic tsunami of 2008 and 2009 provided
us with a similar, albeit smaller, opportunity to buy Mainland land
on the cheap. We should have been able to win much bigger but

21



R B OR R

CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

BPAEAARSER - BIEME AR
B PEBEFORBEERESEMARE
27 - EmAE - e e BERREM
BE - Bt EESRRE  RPAFENRRZ
i/ o

B AR - BEEANERERKRRE - HAE
ARE LRREEZE - BB LREEMAT
WABERER - BOIH - RAEALELE
BEME-BEE  ERFBEFISRE -
REBFFHFEENEBRA  HAESH
B o 7B - BPIZERTATEIE LA AR
ERET  AMIERBERETEE -
HERE THEETIRERMER - &K
tif - FRRMREZEINEEBRELR
MY RLAR OB K o 3P 3E R EOR TR AA B B
RHEE - BERBEET —HHRE - INRE
o BMBREMES  BEBEFR -

FEL EEFERZIKR EELRTH
FEFANER - GRATFHEARZESH
N REZESLHE  BLERE - RDA
EETERAR BT - ARFEREFET
R - BPINRER - EFEBRNA

& MELAMREREEENER -

A - RPBIAIEER T RIEE - AREK L
THONEHANERARNE | EEEHELER
BmIETEmBE(E - HFIAEREE B
RRIMERBEBRBEAE  BISEHFESR
R - HPEIFNTEERN - BRIZR
MERETFERNLE ZELRNIFNER
o BMMBAETREAALEFBE LM
EXRMBRAASNAE

REREE  HEARMCPOINAIEE K
SRARES - MR CEO(BEBMITHAEL) « CFO
(BEREVEEE) CROEERREER
B) - CTO(EHEHINARE) CMO(BF ™
BHRE) - ERSAMEER - MBAFD
FAREEER - HPIREERER - KBD
M BB F BMEY - PR IE—E
MRS BREE - BURIERES

22

as | have explained before, a tactical decision on the part of the
Chinese government prevented us. There is no doubt in my mind
that in time, other opportunities will arise. We just have to be
patient.

Some say that Hang Lung’s strategy is countercyclical. | only
agree to some extent, for there are times that we must go with
the flow. For example, whereas we may hold back for some time
from selling Hong Kong apartments, sooner or later we will join
the crowd. Once the crescendo created by the competitors is
loud enough, we will strike. It is just that we usually catch the
apex of a trend, i.e. the end of an up cycle. As such, our courtship
with the crowd is by definition short-lived. Most of the time the
market does not even notice us. So be it, for we are happy to take
our money and once again disappear from public sight. Back at
home, preparation begins for the next assault, the timing of which
we will not know beforehand. To the outside world, we do nothing
again. We simply wait.

The fact is that it takes a lot to wait. Perhaps more courage is
required for that than for action. Having a lot of cash on hand like
we do is an easy way to make mistakes. Few can withstand the
temptation, for it is all too easy for itchy hands to buy. Imagine
what it is like to sit on your hands for four years. Our supporters
say that it takes courage and self confidence which can only come
through conviction.

The truth however is that we can never have enough conviction,
for who but God knows about tomorrow! In fact, your
management is full of self doubt rather than self confidence. We
constantly debate internally if the external environment might not
have changed so much that it calls for a different path. \We engage
our Non-Executive Directors in dialog, especially those who have
operated on Mainland China. We strive to understand the many
factors inside and outside of China which may alter the face of the
country or of our industry.

As | sometimes think, | am neither the CEO, CFO, CRO (risk), CTO
(technology) nor CMO (marketing) of the company but the CPO

or Chief Political Officer. Here there are no experts; frankly there
can be none. We can only do our best drawing upon observations,
experiences and analyses and hope that we get it right. China is
not exactly a purely market driven economy. Policy changes can
come swiftly and unannounced. In face of such an environment,
we all must be humble. There is no courage to speak of. We
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are driven as much by the fear of mistakes and failures as by the
desire to succeed.

From the outside, we look good - - we have done well in the past
two decades. Today we are sitting on a commercial land portfolio
that is perhaps second to none - - some of the best pieces at the
lowest unit cost. What is the real price of that? A tormented
management which is full of self doubt. The environment is
changing too fast for comfort. At the end, all we can rely on is our
reading of human nature. As long as that does not change - - and it
cannot change - - then whether in economics or politics, there will be
cycles. For it is human nature - - particularly greed and fear - - which
makes waves and cycles in the world. That is the ultimate conviction
that we have. We do not only deem ourselves insignificant when
confronting the market, even more so we consider ourselves
helpless in face of human nature. Never fight the market or human
nature; just try to understand them and go along with them. In the
long run, only such will win, and only such will survive. | trust that
Hang Lung will be one of them. After all, our Company name in
Chinese means "“sustained prosperity.’ May it be so!

From the perspective of catching cycles, an individual practitioner
may only encounter six or seven sizable ones in one's entire
career. Get those right and one will be highly successful. The rest
of the time is mainly a waiting game. Those who are too smart
and frequently jump in and out of the market will run the risk of
being whacked by it. History tends to prove that it is far wiser to
only try to capture the big movements. This is not unlike surfing - -
much of the time is spent paddling against the tide and waiting for
the big wave. Surfing every little one may cause you to miss the
mega one. And at Hang Lung, we are patient and go for the Kkill.
For the past twenty years, we have done it well and it is truly fun.

While waiting, there is much that we should do; necessary
activities fall into two categories. The first is to improve every
aspect of management which will enable us to capitalize on the
land that we have already purchased. The benefit will go beyond
just the projects on hand. The second is to press ahead with land
acquisition. It is useful to examine here the prevailing market
environment and how we should respond to it.

Outside of Shanghai, so far we are expending about HK$50 billion
to build seven projects (including Shenyang Palace 66). Financially
speaking we can double that investment amount and still be
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quite comfortable. However, given the latest market conditions,
an equal sum will likely buy a lot less buildable space than we
were able to between 2005 and 2009. The relocation of existing
tenants which is by far the biggest part of land price has escalated
substantially. A plot of land with less buildable square footage
than Shenyang Forum 66 can easily cost much more than the
total land price we paid for the seven projects on hand. Given

the magnitude of infrastructure works in the country, construction
costs can also only move up. Thus the trend towards much more
expensive developments now seems inevitable.

While we adjust mentally to this new reality, two issues should

be kept in mind. The first is that China is not a monolithic place
and huge differences exist from city to city. That gives us hope
that we may be able to find superb pieces of land at acceptable
prices. The second is that the Chinese economy will increasingly
rely on domestic consumption as a growth engine (along with
exports and public investments mainly in the form of infrastructure
developments.) As Premier WEN Jiabao told the nation earlier
this year, the average salary will increase by at least 13% per
annum for the coming few years. Disposable income especially of
city dwellers can only rise rapidly and citizens are encouraged to
spend. For us, this should somehow compensate for the higher
costs of new projects and hopefully still gives us a healthy return
on investments.

After much study, we have come to the conclusion that our
Mainland strategy of the past two decades should still be the
winning formula for the coming many years. What may need
adjustment in response to periodic changes to the market is our
tactic. That we will do. In fact we are already experimenting with a
few models and | am hopeful that some pleasing results will follow.

Prospects

There is no denying that in the past year we have turned even
more cautious. Besides changes in the Mainland competitive
environment as described earlier, there are other reasons to slow
down land acquisition in the near term. In recent years, there
have been social developments which have become increasingly
worrisome. Anything can happen which means that there are
considerable uncertainties in the system. So when in doubt, it is
better to wait. That may just be simple prudence. Let us hope
that nothing untoward will happen, but if it does, we will not be
stuck with expensive land. Prices will likely fall and we should be
able to pick up some good pieces on the cheap.
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Both the domestic and international economies leave much to be
desired. Continued weakness in the U.S. and Europe will sooner
or later affect China's exports. Within its own border, inflation has
been rampant; official figures do not begin to tell the true picture.
The rise in the price of food stuff is particularly alarming. Like
everywhere else, economic woes have a way of being translated
into societal troubles. The ubiquity of technology will almost
ensure contagion. All these seem to indicate that the risks today
may be greater than the potential reward.

There are also industry specific concerns. For years now the
Central Government and the developers have had very different
opinions regarding the effects of government regulations on the
real estate market. So far the latter seem to have had the upper
hand in that prices have continued to climb. However, societal
voices of discontent on high prices together with serious inflation
are forcing the powers that be to take increasingly stronger
measures. A clear proof is the social housing scheme mentioned
earlier. Unless there are drastic new developments, we do not
see how the government will lightly let up the pressure, for stable
prices are critical to maintaining the all important social harmony.
Two things then may happen to the property market.

In the fourteen months prior to this May, twenty-three Mainland
developers alone borrowed over HK$120 billion from the debt
market in Hong Kong. Two thirds are for five years or shorter and
some as high as 14% per annum interest rates. This is but one
source of debt creation and these borrowers are usually stronger
companies since they are publicly listed and are regional if not
national players. Many more local operators are struggling for
funding at costs that are not sustainable, and frankly usurious.
Sooner or later some of these will be bought while others may be
allowed to go bankrupt. The latter, especially if there is contagion,
will have ripple effects on the entire industry. If so, then | wonder
if this is the right time to acquire land.

The other scenario is less dramatic in the short run and will

take some time to play out. Namely no firm goes bankrupt or if
some do, contagion is contained. Then some of these surviving
residential developers will speed up their migration to the
commercial side thus intensifying competition in that arena. In
some cities, a period of “Warring States,” to borrow a term from
Chinese history, will ensue.
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While most of the participants will operate in the space of lower
end smaller projects, enough of them, including many subsidiaries
of state-owned enterprises, will play in our league - - higher end
large facilities in major cities. Whether big or small, there will be
severe competition in certain cities. Eventually the weaker ones
will be forced out and the sector will consolidate with a smaller
number of stronger players remaining.

The determining factors for the battle will be financial strength as
well as industry knowhow comprising knowledge and experience.
We are certainly among the strongest in all these areas.

Due to the size of the country - - almost 200 municipalities with a
population of over one million - - huge differences exist between
them in terms of the degree of development in commercial real
estate. We still find excellent metropolises which are for various
reasons overlooked by competitors. We wiill try to buy land there.
Frankly the number of cities with reasonably designed and built
complexes is very limited, and fewer yet have severe competition.

Among the hotly contested markets, Shenyang may be the worst.
To be sure, we were among the first to buy top commercial land
there but thereafter, local officials sold much more to those who
cared to follow in our footsteps. Nevertheless, this will not be
the first time that we face competition. When Grand Gateway

66 opened in Xuhui District in Shanghai a little over a decade ago,
there were already five or six shopping centers or department
stores of size in the immediate neighborhood. The fight was so
fierce that one of them which had many locations across the
nation threatened their tenants not to open in our facility. But

in a few short years, by sheer superiority in product, i.e. design
and size, and management, we beat back all competitors. Now
players can be divided into two categories - - the winners and the
losers. There are two in the former group with Grand Gateway 66
being the clear leader.

In all five cities where we have projects under construction - -
Shenyang, Jinan, Wuxi, Tianjin and Dalian - - there is little doubt
that we will be an ultimate winner. The only question is how big
our win will be. In Shanghai, the score has been settled; it is
frankly difficult to find a similar complex which yields half of our
annual unleveraged return of about 35% and rising. Similarly in
the other cities, our locations are among the very best yet our land
costs are a fraction of what they would fetch today. Admittedly
our construction is more expensive because we do not sell and
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are very conscientious about sustainability issues. All things
considered, we believe that we should have a healthy return on
investments.

By the time we complete all our Mainland rental properties of
almost 2.7 million sq.m. (with Hang Lung Group owning another
about 150,000 sq.m. in Grand Gateway 66), the portfolio can only
be described as awesome. It should be among the highest yielding
of anyone in China. We wiill be a prime beneficiary of the country’s
march towards becoming a global economic powerhouse.

While challenges will abound in the process of building out the
remaining six projects (not counting Shenyang Palace 66), we
may periodically benefit from some tailwind as the government
continues to encourage domestic consumption. An earlier event
may be the lowering of import duties for luxury goods. Right now
approximately 56% of all such purchases are made outside of the
Mainland and why should the country drive its citizens overseas to
buy? Today a dominant language spoken in stores such as Louis
Vuitton and Chanel in Hong Kong, Paris or New York City is already
Mandarin Chinese. There may come a time when such import
duties collected by China will not be worth the sales tax lost.
When that happens, we will be a key beneficiary.

There are other potentially pleasing developments of which

we are less sure. One relates to how land is sold by Mainland
municipalities. In the 1990’s, it was done in a most unregulated
fashion. As a result, corruption abounded. (That was one of two
main reasons why in 1992 we bought in Shanghai and not in
certain other cities. It was then the cleanest major market. The
other reason is our positive assessment of the city’s economic
prospect.)

Then Premier ZHU Rongji was forced to step in and regulated the
land sales procedure. In a word, price is all that matters - - the
highest bidder wins. That was a welcome development for it
leveled the playing field for honest players like ourselves. But after
practicing this for some years, a serious flaw began to surface.

A developer with a total disregard for the environment or little
experience in low-carbon projects can beat someone like us if
they are willing to pay a dollar more. All things being equal, such
a company will always win because their construction will be
cheaper, not being burdened by sustainability related expenses.
That means all our experience and extra efforts in this regard are
not worth a dollar. This is obviously not reasonable.
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Take another example which is less quantitative in nature. Each
of our new Mainland projects has received design awards by
reputable international organizations. Both the exteriors and
interiors are aesthetically pleasing while maintaining excellent
functionality. This is in stark contrast to many of our competitors
especially those from within the Mainland. What value, if any, is
attached to the superior design which usually costs more money
and time? The answer is: none.

Frankly such land policies not only do not encourage sustainable
development and excellent design; they plainly discourage
them. Disincentives for good behavior must stop. Given how
keen the Chinese government at least at senior levels is to
protect the environment (although there are many constraints in
implementation), it is possible that new directives from the top
may soon be introduced.

Indeed some city leaders are beginning to recognize the problem
and are taking steps to address it. Technically, such issues should
be able to be satisfactorily resolved while balancing the needs for
financial fairness and corruption prevention. This trend should be

welcomed by quality developers like ourselves. Our hope is that

changes will come sooner rather than later.

Two years ago | analyzed our recent twenty year history and
divided it into three phases of seven years each - - Preparatory,
Catch Up and Take Off. | further anticipated that beginning around
2012, we may well enter into a golden era. We will harvest the
good efforts since 2005 when we ventured into cities beyond
Hong Kong and Shanghai. My confidence was based on five
factors - - an experienced team, the brand equity of the Hang Lung
name especially on the Mainland, an unmatched track record in
Shanghai, an extraordinarily strong balance sheet, and the superb
pieces of land acquired between 2005 and 2009. The first four
factors will enable us to capitalize on the last thus delivering
pleasing financial results. These have also laid a solid foundation
for us to succeed beyond the land that we have already purchased.

EEBEARAT -2/ ——FF%
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Looking back over the past two decades, it is abundantly clear that
nothing goes in a straight line. Market fluctuations abound and
one must react prudently to both peaks and troughs in order to
win. So as the fourth 7-year period is about to dawn upon us, we
apparently find ourselves in yet another tough market condition - -
not in terms of fallen prices but in the abundance of uncertainties.
Such uncertainties come in three levels - - societal, economical
and industry-specific, as | have to varying degrees written above.

It is obviously not up to us what the environment will be when
we begin our next phase of seven years. But if we are at all
worthy of shareholders’ confidence, then we should know how
to act in different kinds of market conditions. | trust that our past
has prepared us well for the future. As long as China’s economy
does not enter into a prolonged period of serious difficulties, we
should thrive. But if it does, then we will assess how long it will
take for the economy to recover. Whether long or short, in time
there will be plenty of good opportunities to buy land for further
developments. Speaking selfishly, an economic downturn would
not be a bad outcome for our shareholders.

Returning to the immediate term, it is unclear whether we will

be able to sell completed apartments in Hong Kong this fiscal
year. Even if not, increases in rental income should yield a healthy
growth in profit. As the market in Shanghai gradually matures,

it is likely that things will slow down a little, but the addition of
Shenyang Palace 66 and Jinan Parc 66 will greatly help the top
line. Intime, the bottom line will follow.

Ronnie C. Chan
Chairman
Hong Kong, July 29, 2011
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In August this year, we celebrated the grand opening
of Parc 66 in Jinan, another world-class shopping mall
joining our signature malls and commercial complexes
in Shanghai and Shenyang.

Located in the heart of Jinan, this superlative seven-
story 171,000 square-meter leisure and entertainment
center has not only become the city’s largest shopping
mall, but has also set new lifestyle standards with its
trend-setting facilities and premium services.

Fully leased upon its opening with many leading
international brand names, some never seen in the city
before, Parc 66 will become a key nexus for the Jinan
community, bringing vibrancy and new levels of luxury
to the city’s increasingly affluent community.
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Choosing the Right Location

Shandong province is developing so rapidly that it
is said to hold the number two position in China’s
GDP rankings in the first half of 2011. Parc 66,
strategically positioned in the province's capital city,
Jinan, is set to benefit from this fast developing
prosperity.

Situated on Quancheng Lu, the city's “Golden
Avenue” which has been Jinan's political, cultural
and commercial hub for the past three hundred
years, Parc 66 benefits from its proximity to historic
and tourist attractions in the vicinity. Also boosting
pedestrian flows to the mall is a footbridge directly
connected to Quancheng Square, Jinan's major
leisure spot in the city center.
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Creating the Right Design

Reflecting the region’s natural beauty with its many
lakes and springs, Parc 66 takes its design from the
surrounding environment - - its undulating roofs, green
spaces and curved facades echo the water theme

and blend agreeably into the nearby parkland. The two
inverted triangularshaped shopping malls are connected
by a gracefully undulating bridge, “The Dragon’ which
provides dynamic spaces and convenient access to the
different mall areas. Enhancing this feeling of flow and
fluidity, over 2,600 different-sized glass units were used to
build “The Dragon’ More than 100 escalators link shops
and restaurants day and night, providing a pleasant and
convenient shopping experience for visitors.
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Bearing all the hallmarks of Hang
Lung’s “66" brand with its top-
quality materials, cutting edge
technology and timeless design,
Parc 66 has won a number of
international design awards,
including Le Marché International
des Professionnels de I'lmmobilier
and The Architectural Review's
“MIPIM Architectural Review
Future Project Awards 2009 - -
Retail & Leisure” Commended
Certificate as well as the International Property Awards’ “Asia Pacific
Commercial Property Awards 2009 - - The Architecture Award (Five Star)”

Doing the RightThing

Ensuring our own sustainability as well as the future of our environment,
all our new developments are built with environmentally-friendly materials
and features. Attesting to our commitment in this field, Parc 66 has already
gained its Gold Level - - Precertification under Leadership in Energy and
Environmental Design (LEED) - - Core and Shell Development, issued by
the U.S. Green Building Council in 2009.
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%5k (A #8) Back row (From Left)

2% Kwok Wing Put B|#{EE% — BB EMEEIE(FHS) Assistant Maintenance Supervisor — Leasing and Management (Hong Kong)
SR8 Cindy Zhang 2 — A N ERRITHROBSZMEREES) Manager — Human Resources and Administration (Palace 66, Shenyang)
27 Kevin Quan B)I2453E — 15 H %R (FH) Assistant Manager — Project Development (Hong Kong)

ATHE (Z2#8) Front row (From Left)

MEAT Summa Lam EF — B RMZEEIR(EA) Officer — Leasing and Management (Hong Kong)

E &% Duncan Wong #8018 — M RYWEEIE (FHA) Property Assistant — Leasing and Management (Hong Kong)

BT Vera Wu 32 — M RWEERE( LSEREE%) Manager - Leasing and Management (Plaza 66, Shanghai)

EHEIE Yuki Wong S EFFRIEEE — K EYWEETE(EFS) Senior Guest Services Assistant — Leasing and Management (Hong Kong)
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW - - DELIVER ON THE RIGHT STRATEGIES
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At Hang Lung Properties, we have a superb track record for our
farsighted business vision, disciplined business strategies, as well
as delivering on our promises. With over 50 years of established
operations, we entered a new era of expansion in 2010/11, as we
extend our footprint with the opening of new Hang Lung “66" malls
and properties across the Mainland.

In 2010/11, we continued to deliver a solid performance, achieving
satisfactory growth in our core businesses. Strong property leasing
growth has fueled good profit growth. Our property leasing business
continued to show a substantial increase. Profit generated by our
Mainland properties rose by 14% during the year while the Hong
Kong portfolio achieved a profit increase of 11%.

Net profit attributable to shareholders for the year ended June 30,
2011 dropped by 75% to HK$ 5,792 million.

EEBLEGRAR T/ ——F4R
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In November 2010, Hang Lung Properties expanded its capital base
by a top-up placement of 293.9 million shares to institutional investors
at a price of HK$37.48 per share. Net proceeds of HK$10,896 million
were generated, boosting the Group’s net cash position to HK$10,466
million as at the reporting date.

Results Announcement

2010-2011

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11
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Property Leasing

Our property leasing operations continued to deliver income and profit
growth in the improving economic climate after the financial crisis.
Total rental income and profits grew by 14% and 13% respectively.

Hong Kong

In view of the strong demand, occupancy rates for our commercial
properties and offices remained high at 97% and 93% respectively.
Together with the positive rental reversions achieved across our
portfolio in Hong Kong, the rental income in this market saw a rise of
8% to HK$2,822 million, while profits grew 11% to HK$2,332 million.

Mainland China
We saw even more substantial growth on the Mainland.

Our two iconic properties in Shanghai, Plaza 66 and The Grand
Gateway (now rebranded as Grand Gateway 66), were almost fully let
during the year.

Rental turnover at Plaza 66, which celebrated a decade of successful
and high performance operations with its 10th birthday during the
year, grew by 14%, while Grand Gateway 66 saw a rise of 13%. The
office towers at Plaza 66 also maintained their occupancy rate at 99%,
which is 4% higher than that of last year.

Palace 66, our new shopping mall in Shenyang which opened in June
2010, was also fully let, generating a rental turnover of HK$149 million
in the first year of its operation. This is in line with our expectation as
the mall had commenced business for just a year. While it is normal
for a shopping mall to go through a natural and continuing process of
tenant mix refinement, with our increased marketing and promotional
campaigns we expect the performance of Palace 66 to climb yet
further towards the high end of the market.

The overall rental turnover for our operations on the Mainland thus
grew by 21% while profits rose by 14%.

EEBERRAT -2/ ——FFK
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Ground-breaking ceremony for Olympia 66 in Dalian

NIEHED & EFIBE LR

High and stable turnover at Hang Lung’s malls on the Mainland
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As at the end of June 2011, our portfolio in mainland China accounted
for 45% of the Group's total rental turnover.

Property Development

The opening of Palace 66 in Shenyang last year heralded a new
phase of expansion in our operations as we extended our horizons
to more up-and-coming Mainland cities. The dawning of this new
growth era will be further cemented with the opening of Parc 66 in
Jinan in August 2011. Similar to Palace 66, it is fully leased before
its official opening. Parc 66 houses an array of global leading brands
including UNIQLO, Muji, Zara and Coach among many others and
some of them are being seen in Jinan for the first time. Bearing all
the hallmarks of Hang Lung’s prestigious “66" brand, this seven-
story world-class facility is bringing new dimensions in leisure and
entertainment to the city's increasingly affluent population.

The development of our other projects on the Mainland - - Forum 66
in Shenyang, Center 66 in Wuxi, Riverside 66 in Tianjin and Olympia
66 in Dalian - - is progressing well. A ground-breaking ceremony was
held in September 2010 for Olympia 66. This landmark project also
won the “Asia Pacific Commercial Property Awards 2011 - - Best Retail
Architecture in Asia-Pacific” for its innovative and unique design.

ERBEERAR —F-T/ ——FEH
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Finance
The Group continued to maintain a strong financial position.

Together with committed undrawn banking facilities of HK$6,694
million and a US$2 billion Medium Term Note Program, the Group has
ample capacity to finance various potential and developing projects.

Outlook

With our strong financial position, abundant reserves as well as a
highly skilled and experienced reservoir of human capital, we are
well-positioned to deliver on our current development projects and to
continue building up our land bank on the Mainland for future growth.

\We are also leveraging the new social media and online platforms

to involve and engage our stakeholders, especially the younger
segment, even more. A total of 12 websites have been developed
or enhanced to cater to the needs of customers at our malls in Hong
Kong and on the Mainland. Other social media platforms such as
Facebook and Sina Weibo are also being actively used.

In Hong Kong, we will continue to refine the tenant mix of our malls,
uniguely positioning them for their different target groups and carrying
out more marketing and promotional activities to further increase the
pedestrian traffic as well as rental turnover. We also keep monitoring
the residential market closely, preparing to release further residential
units for sale when appropriate.

The strong rental track record of our two landmark projects in
Shanghai models the rental trends we expect from our new projects.
With the opening of Palace 66 in Shenyang in 2010 and Parc 66

in Jinan in 2011, plus five more projects coming on stream in the
next few years, we expect to see enhanced rental income growth in
mainland China into the future. The Mainland will become our main
impetus for sustainable growth in the years to come.
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The Peak Galleria and Café Deco celebrate 17 years of partnership, ever since the mall’'s opening in 1994.
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RBENBIESHRE
Food Street at Fashion Walk, Causeway Bay

Building the Right Partnerships

The fiscal year 2010/11 was a record year for our property leasing
activities in Hong Kong, thanks to the strong economy both in

Hong Kong and on the Mainland. With Hang Lung Centre, Fashion
Walk, Kornhill Apartments and Amoy Plaza all reporting record-high
rentals, Hang Lung Properties saw total rental income in Hong Kong
growing by 8% over 2009/10 to reach a new high of HK$2,822 million
for the year. Profits also grew by 11% to HK$2,332 million.

The robust economies in Hong Kong and mainland China drove strong
demand for both office space and residential rental facilities, as more
overseas companies are looking for space as they set up new businesses
or branch offices in the region. A steady stream of expatriates from

the financial and professional services sector also heightened market
requirements for residential and serviced apartments.

The booming retail market coupled with high levels of inbound

travel also fueled high local consumption. Prime retail locations
were thus rapidly snapped up by international fashion brands. Local
consumption and occupancy rates in serviced apartments were also
driven by travelers remaining in Hong Kong as their travel plans were
affected by the Japan earthquake and tsunami.
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Commercial and Retail Activities - - Win-Win
Partnerships

In our prime locations in the heart of Causeway Bay and Mongkok,
Hong Kong's two busiest shopping districts, innovative marketing
strategies as well as the booming retail market fueled rental growth in
our commercial and retail property sector, to bring satisfactory rental
growth of 7% to HK$1,467 million, with occupancy levels of 97%.

The influx of tourists from mainland China has been particularly visible
in sectors catering to their requirements such as cosmetics retailers,
jewelry and goldsmith shops, luxury watch brands and tenants selling
skin care products in our premises in Mongkok and Causeway Bay,
which have all reported strong business and sales growth.

Refining the mix of food and beverage tenants at Food Street,

Hang Lung Centre and Amoy Plaza, coupled with the increasing number
of restaurants, has also resulted in significant growth in the total turnover
of the food and beverage business and in rental turnover.

Despite this sunny climate, there have been a few clouds on the
horizon. In the wake of the earthquake and tsunami in Japan as well
as the resulting nuclear crisis, the Japanese restaurant business fell
by almost a third and has only started to pick up recently. Accelerating
inflation, growing food costs, coupled with the introduction of the
new minimum wage policy, have also eroded profit margins, affecting
tenants’ rental affordability.

To help tenants overcome these challenges, we organized a number
of promotional initiatives to bring additional traffic to our malls. An
online marketing campaign was launched in conjunction with Groupon
Hong Kong: six of our shopping malls - - The Peak Galleria, Fashion
Walk, Hang Lung Centre, Gala Place, One Grand Tower and Amoy
Plaza - - and 30 restaurants in these malls offered dining vouchers
worth a million dollars for end-customers. A total of 15,000 coupons
were sold in just 10 hours at the beginning of the three sale days,
while tenants reported a boost in their business.
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Themed Leasing Strategies
We continue to refine our tenant mix to enhance the shopping
experience of customers. A key strategy is themed leasing.

Love Hong Kong Style at The Peak Galleria - - Tourists and customers
can see Hong Kong style at this major tourist destination, as almost
half of our tenants here carry Hong Kong brands. They can also learn
more about Hong Kong's culture from the cultural exhibitions and
special events that The Peak Galleria stages. These activities have
increased the number of leasing enquiries, raised customer traffic and
brought positive feedback from tenants.

Kornhill Learnscape at Kornhill Plaza - - The Learning Zone at Kornhill
Plaza has been rebranded as Kornhill Learnscape. With around
120,000 square feet of space at the heart of Hong Kong East’s
middle-class residential area, Kornhill Learnscape provides one of the
largest learning hubs in Hong Kong together with a full suite of extra-
curricular activities and learning programs for the younger generation.
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In building partnerships both with our tenants and the general

public, we place a strong focus on using the appropriate tools. VWe
recently leveraged the popular and cost-effective social media, using
interactive online campaigns to engage more customers and attract
traffic to our malls.

In addition to websites, Facebook and Sina \Weibo for The Peak
Galleria, Fashion Walk, Amoy Plaza and Gala Place, a range of online
promotions have proven to be highly popular. These included a joint-
mall Mother’s Day Facebook campaign, Amoy Plaza Facebook games,
as well as our highly successful, sixmall discount dining campaign
launched in conjunction with Groupon’s uBuyiBuy platform.
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Japanese Food Avenue in Gala Place - - Riding on the growing craze
for Japanese food, a Japanese Food Avenue was established in this
development in the heart of Mongkok. The Avenue, consisting of six
restaurants, offers diverse choices in Japanese food ranging from
wagyu beef, ramen noodles and dumplings to specialist Japanese
coffee and frozen yogurt.

We also continue to refine our tenant mix in both the retail and the
food and beverage sector. This led to the opening for the first time in
Hong Kong of Burberry Blue & Black Label and No Signboard Seafood
Restaurant at Fashion Walk.

There will be further freshening-up and renovation for Amoy Plaza and
The Peak Galleria to add value to tenants and end-consumers visiting
the malls.

Looking forward, we expect to see more moderate growth in the
next year as the commercial and retail business enters a period of
consolidation, following the average 7% growth experienced over the
past five years. Riding on the benefits of the strong local economy as
well as the robust inflow of tourists, however, we remain optimistic
for the positive performance of this business.

Office and Industrial/Office

The strong economy also benefited our office and industrial/office
activities on a number of fronts. Firstly, the high demand for office
space and low vacancy rates in Hong Kong's Central business

district boosted demand for our properties in the area, resulting in an
occupancy level of 93%. High rental and space shortage in Central
also drove many businesses to the secondary business area, bringing
opportunities to our office portfolio in Wanchai and Island East. Our
Kowloon West industrial office portfolio also improved in terms of
occupancy rate and unit rents during the financial year, as the previous
abundant supply of new office space in Kowloon East was absorbed
by the market. Overall, this sector achieved a rental income of
HK$940 million for the year, translating into a growth rate of 7%.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11 49



I =2 iii 1 597 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THYEMR

HONG KONG PROPERTY LEASING

BMEPROYE  BRTERKERE
W2 4 EE AR BR RO P ZE 3D - B B8R 8
MR BT IRITRES - ERIEE
ZNE=M% — HEHE%K H
RITTAMZERRTT - BEMEBRH 2B - T
EEREMLERTRLOME - BES
CPEEEESMBFNRENGESE
REmEEKE Be SERMEE
B EMEXTERPRIMNERBES

In addition to the iconic Standard Chartered Bank Building on Des
Voeux Road Central, where the headquarters of Hang Lung Group
and Hang Lung Properties are located, our properties in Central
consist of the “"Duddell Street Trio” - - 1 Duddell Street, Printing
House and Baskerville House. These properties are unique - - not
only are they situated in the heart of Central, they are also located in
a relatively quiet and leafy area, providing the ideal place and setting
for high-end professional firms, commercial chambers, audio-visual
and other specialist retailers, as well as foreign companies. Meeting

B RENRITTE A P IR E MBS R RS

Value-added IT support services are provided for tenants at Printing House
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Kornhill Apartments

the needs of this clientele, extensive renovation was carried out and
special tenant facilities, such as free IT support, were also provided.
These measures won very positive feedback from tenants.

Going forward, we will continue to diversify the tenants and trade mix
at our office properties to cement our leadership in semi-retail and
service business trades.
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Residential and Serviced Apartments

The serviced apartments sector was the star performer in our

Hong Kong rental portfolio recording yearto-date rental growth of
20% over 2009/10, thanks to effective marketing strategies and a
return in corporate demand. Kornhill Apartments and The \Wesley
registered strong income growth of 35%, with Kornhill Apartments
enjoying a spectacular 31% increase. Increased room rates during
the period also contributed to a satisfactory performance. While
growth momentum will continue in the coming year, we do expect to
see some market consolidation with a more balanced rate of growth.

On the residential front, the rental income from our residential
properties, consisting of The Summit, with its panoramic views of
the racecourse in Happy Valley, and Burnside Villa, with its 45 family-
style garden homes, grew 8% to HK$164 million. The outlook for
this sector of our portfolio is positive as the local economy continues
to strengthen and as more financial and professional service firms
continue to establish offices in Hong Kong. We are however cautious
for the future as we are finding that as more multinational financial
institutions move their offices to Kowloon to avoid high rents, their
staff choose to live in Kowloon as well.

EEBLEARAR -/ ——F4R



BEERBREMEZREE DT
Geographical Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties
RZZT——F ;XA =-+H At June 30, 2011

BEEE (FEHXK)
Gross Floor Area™ (‘000 sg. m.)
2011 2010
BB Hong Kong Island
hIEN S Central and Admiralty 58 58
) $7 v NG T Causeway Bay and Wanchai 12 112
BRI K 8 &0 Kornhill and Quarry Bay 164 164
ITE R L= The Peak and Mid-Levels 47 47
HEFE Hong Kong South 12 12
NEE Kowloon
=] Mongkok 140 140
EQLEYSTiEpN: Tsimshatsui and West Kowloon 89 89
IR A RBE Ngau Tau Kok and Kwun Tong 96 96
R R Cheung Sha Wan and Kwai Chung 52 52
st Total 770 770
* BIEEEIS ZIEEEME Including gross floor area of car parks
EBREMEZREDIN
Segmental Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties
BEEE(FERKR) HeWAEBEET) HAHE(EHL)
Gross Floor Area Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m.) (HK$ million) (%)
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
&% R Commercial and Retail 271 271 1,467 1,375 97 97
BEERT¥ =¥ Office and Industrial/Office 237 237 940 881 93 94
FEREAT Residential and Apartments 79 79 306 257 78 73
(FE8% Car Parks 183 183 109 102 N/A N/A
st Total 770 770 2,822 2,615 92 92
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FRYERRELHE
HONG KONG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND SALES

EESMEIEE BB ATHMEE HHE  Our business strategy in the development of residential properties
EREEAE  BRMEEFELREE=EY inHong Kong is to build top quality residential complexes in prime
AR EGER - EHTTEEEIE  locations with strong upside potential. Hand-in-hand with this prudent
R LR PRI ERIEES  business strategy, we take a highly disciplined sales approach,

B - ok BELRERMSRERSIR - &  seeking to optimize value for shareholders and end-users by obtaining
RERAMEBFEATREZEAEE - the best-possible return on these investments.

REE The Long Beach

EESEEEEBEMNENAEE - 83  This high-end residential complex in West Kowloon consists of 1,829
NEXKESHARBH-TNABE -+ A unitsin eight towers, with sweeping harbor views and a best-of-class
B ZEFEMEAEBSLRBHRESHAMME clubhouse with leading-edge recreational facilities.

4355 o

REEZETAMEAMREERN - R—FA N RELES -

The Long Beach, equipped with best-of-class club house and recreational facilities, provides comfortable family homes.

o4 ERMEERAR —T—T,/ ——545%
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Magnificent Victoria Harbor view from The HarbourSide
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The HarbourSide

Towering majestically above West Kowloon and overlooking Victoria
Harbor, this top-of-the-line residential complex provides 1,122 luxury
units in three towers. Residents enjoy magnificent harbor views
coupled with contemporary lifestyle facilities.

New Project

Our new luxury residential project on Blue Pool Road in Happy
Valley, which will consist of around 8,000 square meters of total floor
area, is progressing well and is expected to be completed in the
fourth quarter of 2012. It became the first project in the world to be
registered under the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design
(LEED) for Homes' International Pilot program launched by the U.S.
Green Building Council in the fourth quarter of 2010.
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UGG opens another shop on the Mainland with Hang Lung - - this time at Grand Gateway 66, Shanghai.
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With China’s prosperous economy, we continue to reap the benefits
of our strategies and the right decisions made when we entered the
market more than 18 years ago. Coupled with the opening of our
new development in 2010, Palace 66 in Shenyang, rental income in
this sector of our market grew a positive 21% to HK$2,339 million.
Echoing this trend, operating profit rose 14% to HK$1,862 million.
These activities now account for 45% of the Company's total rental
turnover.

In 2011, we consolidated the new growth chapter in our Mainland
operations as we continued our expansion nationwide. Following

the launch of Palace 66 in Shenyang last June, Parc 66 will open its
doors in Jinan this August, adding a further 171,000 square meters

of world-class shopping space to our retail portfolio. We see Parc 66,
Jinan’s largest shopping mall, making a solid contribution to our overall
rental income as this new facility commmences operations fully leased.

This evolution into a multi-city operation across the country is
building increasing value for Hang Lung’s unique “66" brand, which
commenced so successfully with Plaza 66 in Shanghai ten years
ago. Capitalizing on its strong brand power, we are unifying all

the marketing and promotion as well as sales and operation of our
shopping malls and commercial developments on the Mainland
under this premium brand. As a result, in March this year, The Grand
Gateway saw its rebranding to Grand Gateway 66 to better reflect its
position in this unique and successful Hang Lung model.
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Plaza 66

One of Shanghai’s most luxurious developments, this iconic shopping
mall celebrated its 10th anniversary in 2011. The first premium mall

to open in Shanghai, Plaza 66 not only boasts some of the most
well-known names in the world - - from Chanel, Prada, Dior and Louis
Vuitton to Tiffany, Cartier, Boucheron and Girard Perregaux - - but it
has also carved a niche for itself in the high-end market and emerged
as the benchmark luxury mall market leader. Over the decade, it

has benefited from the growing demand for luxury brands both in
Shanghai and the surrounding Jiangsu and Zhejiang provinces.

Plaza 66 is probably the highest productivity shopping mall on

the Mainland in terms of total sales on a per square meter basis.
Enjoying an occupancy rate of over 97% in 2010/11, rental turnover for
the shopping mall grew to HK$657 million, an increase of 28% over
2009/10.

Plaza 66 is renowned for its successful tenant configuration, world-
class mall management and sophisticated shopping environment.
This top-of-class complex also makes continuous efforts to refine its
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hardware, floor configuration, property management and tenant mix
in order to enhance the shopping experience, meet tenants’ needs
and maintain its leadership in the market.

Leading tenants such as Louis Vuitton and Hermeés not only
commenced refurbishment of their stores in Plaza 66 during the vear,
but they are also expanding their shop space. When refurbishment is
completed in the first quarter of 2012, Plaza 66 will house one of the
largest number of top luxury brand flagship stores, as well as their
biggest “maison” stores, on the Mainland. Heightening this lifestyle
experience with quality dining facilities, Plaza 66 also saw the opening

\We make every effort to establish long-term partnerships with our
tenants - - a policy which results in win-win relationships for our clients
and ourselves. Accustomed to our high service standards and world-
class mall quality, many of our tenants - - from Louis Vuitton to Tod's to
the high-fashion Richemont Group - - have shown a strong interest in
our other developments on the Mainland.

Pleased with the ongoing improvements in Plaza 66, Louis Vuitton is
expanding its store in the mall, making it both its flagship as well as

its largest store in mainland China. The brand also held a “Century
Retrospective Expo” at Plaza 66 in 2010 - - showcasing antique
handbags shipped from France and exhibited outside that country, for
the first time. The brand's regional offices are also located in Plaza 66's
Office Tower.
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of highly rated restaurants. They included Tim'’s Kitchen, which
is so well-known in Hong Kong where it has been awarded two
Michelin stars.

Office rentals in Shanghai experienced greater challenges with
abundant supplies of office premises entering the market during the
year. We do not see this situation easing in the near term as supplies
continue to come on stream in the next 12 months or so. Despite
these challenges, with our prime location, close partnerships with
tenants as well as our excellent client services, we were able to
maintain occupancy rates at 99% during the year. In fact, more
than half of Plaza 66's office tenants have stayed throughout the
past 10 years, moving in when it opened in 2001.

Grand Gateway 66

Grand Gateway 66 saw rental income of HK$822 million for its
shopping mall, an increase of 13% from the year before, with almost
full occupancy in 2010/11.
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The highlight for this centrally-located development in Shanghai

during the year was its renaming under our premium “66" brand to
become Grand Gateway 66. This repositioning defines Grand Gateway
66's strengthening image together with its enhanced tenant mix.
Leveraging the Hang Lung “66" brand, Grand Gateway 66 has actively
enhanced its tenant mix with more luxury names during the year.

International top brands newly opened at Grand Gateway 66 during
the year include Dior, UGG, Spige, Dunhill, Escada, EMPORIO
ARMAN!I, Chloé, Loewe and Vivienne Westwood. There were also
new international and mainland food and beverage chain outlets such
as VERSACE CAFE, Gloria Jean's Coffees, South Beauty Restaurant,
[tacho Sushi, DinTai Fung Restaurant, and King Mang Shanghai'’s
Restaurant.
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E AR A PN
Mainland China Rental Revenue
BEAA=1THLFE

For the years ended June 30

With continued efforts to upgrade the mall’s software and hardware,
Grand Gateway 66 catered to the demand for a high quality shopping
and leisure experience in the Shanghai market, and generated
increased sales turnover. Sales of luxury products continued to rise
during the year, and food and beverage outlets also performed well.

In particular, Olé Supermarket, the cosmopolitan lifestyle supermarket
opened in 2010, attracting large crowds seeking luxury goods. The
World Expo held in Shanghai in 2010 also created greater consumer
demand for Grand Gateway 66 in the first half of the financial year.

Meanwhile, there were also renovations to further improve facilities
for shoppers and to add new extensions in the mall, creating larger
shop areas, enhanced customer spaces and additional sources of
rental income.

Grand Gateway 66's prime location above Shanghai’s largest and
busiest metro station in the Xujiahui commercial district also stands
it in good stead. Not only is Grand Gateway 66 located at the
intersection of Lines 1 and 9, the soon-to-open Line 11 will also bring
even larger customer flows and pedestrian traffic to the shopping
mall.

TERBESBRAZERSE
Mainland China Rental Revenue by
Business Segment
HE-T——FA=THLFE

For the year ended June 30, 2011

BEEET
HK$ million
2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

07 08 09 10 M

62

$2,339 million

1%

29% 70%
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Despite more intense market competition, as seen in increasing
numbers of residential developers turning to the commercial
property market and more luxury shopping facilities coming on line
in Shanghai'’s city center, Grand Gateway 66's effective business
strategies, well-rounded and sustainable property management
approach, and prime location advantage have enabled this popular
commercial complex overcome different challenges and created
sustainable long-term growth prospects.

For the foreseeable future, we expect to maintain double-digit turnover
growth for this thriving retail and commercial complex in Shanghai.
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Palace 66

The opening of Palace 66 in Shenyang in 2010 heralded a new stage
of growth in Hang Lung'’s operations on the Mainland as we expanded
our horizons to more up-and-coming Mainland cities. Fully leased, this
new lifestyle and upscale leisure mall for the Shenyang community
achieved a rental income of HK$149 million.

Parc 66

Situated in the heart of Jinan on Quancheng Lu, the city’s “Golden
Avenue’ this seven-story world-class shopping mall will open in
August 2011 to become the city’s largest shopping center and the
latest iconic landmark. Fully leased prior to its opening, Parc 66 will
bring a new dimension of leisure and entertainment to the city.
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FREAMRENE ZEED N

Segmental Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties

wEEmE*(FTERR) Bl (B¥agEr) AHE (Both)
Total Gross Floor Area* Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m.) (HK$ million) (%)

201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010
% Rt Commercial and Retail 283 283 1,628 1,240 97 100
=2¥E Office 160 160 676 660 99 95
(ZE5 Car Parks 133 176 35 31 N/A N/A
#ag Total 576 619 2,339 1,931 98 98

* REME MR Z EEEE

Including gross floor area above and below ground

FRENMRENERERTRENE 2R D

Geographical Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties and Investment Properties Under Development

RZZT——F;XxA=-+H At June 30, 2011

MEEERE (FEHXK)
Total Gross Floor Area™ (‘000 sg. m.)

wREYE Investment Properties

L& Shanghai

RER Xuhui District 165
i ed Jing'an District 273
b Shenyang

& [ (P AT ) Shenhe District (Zhongjie Lu) 138
BREPREYE Investment Properties Under Development

g Jinan 171
b Shenyang

B R (FFEAE) Shenhe District (Qingnian Da Jie) 855
F:3 7 Wuxi

SLE(ARPE) Chong'an District (Renmin Zhong Lu) 264
Sz (R ERE) Chong'an District (Jiankang Lu) 113
xZE Tianjin 153
A& Dalian 222
Ry Total 2,354

* BIEME MK 2 EEE R

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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MAINLAND CHINA PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
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@ Forum 66, Shenyang

Following the opening of Palace 66 in Shenyang last year and Parc
66 in Jinan this year, Forum 66, also in Shenyang, will be coming on
stream sometime next year to cement the growth momentum of
our Mainland operations. The largest of our current projects under
construction by phases, this prime 855,100 square-meter landmark
complex will consist of premium shopping facilities, offices, hotels
and serviced apartments, with two office towers rising 350 meters,
making them the tallest office complexes in northeastern China.

Located on Qingnian Da Jie, the “Golden Corridor” that runs

through the city center, Forum 66 is situated in the very midst of
some of Shenyang'’s most well-known landmarks - - the Liaoning
Grand Theater, the Museum of Liaoning Province, the Municipal
Government Building, as well as City Plaza. A new metro line, which
is being built along the “Golden Corridor’ will provide direct internal
access from the station to our development. Completion is expected
in phases from 2012 onwards with premium shopping facilities
completed first.

Forum 66 received its "“Precertification under Leadership in Energy
and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development
Gold Level” issued by the U.S. Green Building Council in 2008.
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BBENIERES (— ) ® Center 66 - - Phase 1, Wuxi

;51 (El ﬁ%fl\mlﬁiﬁzlﬁ H B EERE  Inline with all of Hang Lung’s Mainland projects, the site for Center
Eis(hEHF - Eﬁf% ML 66 was chosen for its prime location in the very heart of the central

=L@ ARPE EEZK B8 —5R 42 &2 business district in Wuxi. In addition to being situated right on Renmin

TEHGEREEBMN AR BB —H#  Zhong Lu in Chong'an District with its heavy pedestrian flows, Center

HEE-TRE=FTNABEAK B 66 will also benefit from the busy traffic that the future Number 1

— RS RBRPEAEE  FEHR and 2 metro lines will bring. Center 66 Phase 1 consists of 263,800

ZE-ZFEK - square meters of premium shopping space and Grade A office towers
and is expected to be completed in 2013.

EHERESNEDRS LR —HEEE  Center 66's shopping mall and Phase 1 office facilities obtained
R-ZETHF+ AEZESLEREENE  "Precertification under Leadership in Energy and Environmental

MBI [ R RIBIE e L1848 — #4  Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development Gold Level” from the
RAONRA R | & RATERE © U.S. Green Building Council in July 2009.

mEGHNIERES (—H) © Center 66 - - Phase 2, Wuxi

ZIEBERS - AR BEENMBBR  This commercial, office, hotel and serviced apartment development

%Fﬁﬁ" 5 LENERERLETZR  atthe intersection of Jiankang Lu and Houxi Xi is immediately to the
TR AERRERES(—H)®E  south of Renmin Zhong Lu where Center 66, Phase 1, is located.
EREE B AR - LEEEMEE  When completed, the total gross floor area of Center 66 Phases 1 &

E+’t1§/_\$)\§$7\77k AT 2 will reach 376,800 square meters, creating the largest landmark in

BB EREARGHHIHAR Wauxi's central business district.
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MAINLAND CHINA PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
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O Riverside 66, Tianjin

As with all our new properties under development, Riverside 66 in
Tianjin is located on a prime site - - Heping Lu, one of the “10 Most
Famous Commercial Streets in China”. In addition to its 152,800
square meters of prime commercial and retail space, Riverside 66's
design is unique - - not only will it be one of the longest shopping
malls in China, its glass shell design will also provide a unique
external view of the shops and activities within the mall. With this
outstanding design, Riverside 66 won the prestigious “2010 AIA New
York Chapter’s Design Awards, Unbuilt Category’ from the American
Institute of Architects (AIA) New York Chapter, making us probably
the first Hong Kong developer operating on the Mainland to receive
this well-known award. It also received the “MIPIM Architectural
Review Future Project Awards 2007 - - Retail and Leisure”. Project
completion is due in 2014.

The project has also been awarded the “Precertification under
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and
Shell Development Gold Level” issued by the U.S. Green Building
Council in September 2009.
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© Olympia 66, Dalian

Centrally located at Wusi Lu, one of the most prominent commercial
avenues in Dalian and adjacent to Olympic Plaza, Olympia 66 will
offer 221,900 square meters of shopping, dining and entertainment
space. An indoor plaza will connect the complex’s vibrant atrium
spaces, bringing them all together under a crystalline skylight. This
innovative and sophisticated design won Olympia 66 the “Best
Retail Architecture in the Asia-Pacific” and the “Five-star Best Retail
Architecture in China” titles in the renowned International Property
Awards 2011. A ground-breaking ceremony for the project took place
in September last year, with completion expected by end 2014.

Olympia 66 will employ sustainability design features aiming

to achieve the “Certification under Leadership in Energy and
Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development Gold
Level” issued by the U.S. Green Building Council.
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Major Properties Under Development

RZZT——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

I =2 cii 597 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEHEEE TERTERK
HARETE (FFAK) HH
(FHXK) Total Gross HE LR Expected
Site Area FERBE Floor Area Stage of Completion
I 2h Location (sg. m.) Main Usage (sg. m.) Completion Date
&HE HONG KONG
BEIEE Blue Pool Road, 7,850 R 8,005 HETE 2012
AHER 5747 5% IL 5747 Foundation
R JINAN
1ERES Parc 66, 52,569 C 171,000 R b= 2011
R Quancheng Lu, Superstructure
& Lixia District
) SHENYANG
THRTIERES - Forum 66, 92,065 C/H/O/S 855,100 g e 2012
SEKE Qingnian Da Jie, Superstructure #8
= = Shenhe District onwards
i3 WuUXI
18 E% (—Hf) - Centre 66 (Phase 1), 37324 C/O 263,800 HE T2 2013
AERHRE - Renmin Zhong Lu, Foundation pic)
ey Chong'an District onwards
18RS (ZH)) - Centre 66 (Phase 2), 16,767 C/H/O/S 113,000 stEl TEH
fERRER - Jiankang Lu, Planning N/A
SLE Chong'an District
X TIANJIN
B8R E% - Riverside 66, 42,697 C 152,800 HE T2 2014
FFEE Heping Lu, Foundation
FF @ Heping District
KiE DALIAN
B ES - Olympia 66, 63,400 C 221,900 HWETE 2014
hPOE Wausi Lu, Foundation
Lifle= Xigang District
C: mE Commercial
H: JB/E Hotel
0: EBFE Office
R: &= Residential
S R#INERT Serviced Apartments

N EMEEREERERSR -

All the above properties are wholly owned by the Group.
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CERGENRE

Properties Completed for Sale
RZT——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

BIEHEEE REH REH
(FFFK) T8 E BAIEE
Total Gross No. of Unsold  No. of Unsold
FTERE Floor Area Residential Carparking
I 25 Location Main Usage (sg. m.) Units Spaces
&E HONG KONG
EERRT - The HarbourSide, R 37,487 284 270
L mEErm15E - 1 Austin Road West,
BEAHER 1108057 KIL 11080
SR The Long Beach, R 100,224 1,234 —
YGFBIESSR 8 Hoi Fai Road,
FLEEAMIER 1115255 KIL 11152
LFEX - AquaMarine, R 1,939 21 =
TRE% R BER 8 Sham Shing Road,
T LRE N ER 633855 NKIL 6338
Bkl - Carmel-on-the-Hill, R 286 2 17
PN - 9 Carmel Village Street,
BEIHLER 1112258 KIL 11122
R: =% Residential

N EMEEREERERR -

All the above properties are wholly owned by the Group.
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

TEREUE
Major Investment Properties
RZT——F/XA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

I =0 cii 1 597 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERE (FAK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
RTER
I /2718 FEREH BEUEA
s NEiE Office and Residential No. of
WEEmFE  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
b 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
&HE HONG KONG
FIRESE CENTRAL AND ADMIRALTY
ENfRITT » Printing House, 2848 1,709 5,980 - -
HWEFIF 65 - 6 Duddell Street,
A ER 339 5% IL 339
HZFET15R - 1 Duddell Street, 2848 2,340 6,616 - -
AHLER 7310 5% IL 7310
LERRTT Baskerville House, 2880 1,473 3,379 - -
ERRA 2255 22 Ice House Street,
A3 ER 644 5% IL 644
EITHRITAE - Standard Chartered 2854 48147 23,7307 = 16
EEET 4-4A5 - Bank Building,
TEEHER 103 5% 4 - 4A Des Voeux Road Central,
AERKBE Sections A&B of ML 103
SEER Queensway Plaza, 2012 7303 - - -
B 935 93 Queensway
YR CAUSEWAY BAY AND WANCHAI
B - Hang Lung Centre, 2864 8,777 22,131 - 126
BIEME2-205% - 2-20 Paterson Street,
N EL 524 5% 2 7495k  IL 524 & IL 749
ZIED Fashion Walk, 2842, 2864 31,072 - 7935 -
BIENE - EHE - Paterson Street, Houston Street, & 2868
SRMEYAHET - INZEAT - Great George Street,
mAUEAT - 5447 - Cleveland Street, Kingston
Y ER 231 5% Street, Gloucester Road,
K 5257 ML 231 & ML 52,
RIER 469 5% f2 4705%  IL 469 & IL 470
BRE - Park Towers, 2060 * 1,101 = = 250
EEE 1 1 King's Road,
A ER 8560 57 IL 8560
2, Shui On Centre, 2060 * - 16,313 - 42
15 =28 48 15/F-28/F,
BEIE6-85F 6-8 Harbour Road,
AHEL 8633 517 IL 8633
72 ERMEARAT —T -/ ——FF®H
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)
MZZE——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

BEERE (FHK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
BFRR
I¥/B57E FEREFR BE
s NEiE Office and Residential No. of
WEEmFE  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
b 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
E#E) HONG KONG (Continued)
B R S5 KORNHILL AND QUARRY BAY
FI8ES Kornhill Plaza, 2059 * 53,080 10,577 - 1,069
BB 1298 1-2 Kornhill Road,
A ER 8566 5% IL 8566
BEE - Kornhill Apartments, 2059 * - = 35,275 -
FRILZE 255 2 Kornhill Road,
A ER 8566 5% IL 8566
BRI Stanhope House, 2082 1,424 26,411 - 70
HEIET73458 - 734 King's Road,
A ER 3507 5% IL 3507
WER¥ILE THE PEAK AND MID-LEVELS
IITERES - The Peak Galleria, 2047 12,446 = = 493
IITEZE 11858 - 118 Peak Road, RBL 3
T XBHEER 3 5%
EEE Nos. 2&3, Garden Terrace, 2078 & 2886 = = 558 25
2-35REE—FE - Block 2, 8A Old Peak Road,
E1LTEE8A S - IL 896 & IL 2850
A ER 896 55 & 2850 517
e The Summit, 2047 - - 15,225 54
AIERCE41CHE - 41C Stubbs Road,
A EL 8870 5% IL 8870
BEME HONG KONG SOUTH
BRE - EEE%E - Burnside Villa, 2072 - - 9,212 89
T RPHLER 994 5% 9 South Bay Road, RBL 994
A MONGKOK
FEAROE—H - Argyle Centre, Phase |, 2060 64 - _ _
R IE 688 5% 688 Nathan Road,
TUEERHBER 1262 5% KIL 1262
RO —H One Grand Towver, 2060 19,276 22,637 - 40
PGB 627-641A% -+ 627-641A Nathan Road,
FBEEMHIER 1024657  KIL 10246
i Saal N Two Grand Tower, 2060 1,629 8,614 = =
FHGE 62557 625 Nathan Road,
FBEERHIER 1023457  KIL 10234
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

IERENF @A)

Major Investment Properties (Continued)
MZZE——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

BmmE (FrK)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)

BEER

T¥ /551 FERBEAM B EHE
Bis N EE Office and Residential No. of
0 22 i i A HA Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
b 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
&HiE®) HONG KONG (Continued)
iD= ) MONGKOK (Continued)
BEAE Hang Tung Building, 2045 * = = = 1,000
R 1112-1120%E ©  1112-1120 Canton Road,
TLBERHER 970855 KIL 9708
TEREESRLD Park-In Commercial Centre/ 2044 * 7,454 30,205 - 478
R - Gala Place,
BEAT 475657 56 Dundas Street,
TLBEAIHE EX 959055 KIL 9590
OENCTSE LV Hollywood Plaza, 2047 9,139 17,941 - -
TRZEG105% 610 Nathan Road,
BEAHBEZ 1102457  KIL 11024
Bl Carmel-on-the-Hill, 2050 2,131 - - 1
MEAS TN - 9 Carmel Village Street,
FEERHEER111225%  KIL 11122
KWBERANE TSIMSHATSUI AND WEST KOWLOON
BRI Grand Centre, 2038 3,688 7,198 - =
HE R TEess 8 Humphreys Avenue,
JEEAHER 77255 K KIL 7725 &
802655 KIL 8026
B EE Hanford Fashion, 2037 1,444 4,891 - =
FHHE221B-E5R 221B-E Nathan Road,
FEAHIER106195% & KIL 10619 &
813255 KIL 8132
DBEX AquaMearine, 2050 22,350 - - 516
IRBREEBSE 8 Sham Shing Road,
HFTNEEANMER63385%F NKIL 6338
IR The Long Beach, 2050 20,174 - _ 390
YSIBIES 8 Hoi Fai Road,
NBEAER111525%  KIL 11152
SEARBE NGAUTAU KOK AND KWUNTONG
AR Amoy Plaza, 2047 49,006 - - 620
SEAETTH 77 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
NBEAMERS35E - NKIL 53, NKIL 1482,
14825k ~ 266055 &% NKIL 2660 &
394757 NKIL 3947
VAR TERL Amoycan Industrial Centre, 2047 - 6,547 - _
SHAETIR 7 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
BN 174457  NKIL 1744
BB - Laguna Plaza, 2047 15,162 = = 165
KREE - Cha Kwo Ling Road,
N REAMEE60555% NKIL 6055
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)
MZZ——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

BmmE (FrK)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)

BEER
T¥ /55718 FERBEAM B EHE
5N EE Office and Residential No. of
0 22 i e 4 HA Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
b 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
&HiE®) HONG KONG (Continued)
RAOBKRER CHEUNG SHAWAN AND KWAI CHUNG
BEFERLD Park Building, 2047 397 13,109 - -
SLE4765E - 476 Castle Peak Road,
FABEAMHER 176157  NKIL 1761
ZEtR - Laichikok Bay Garden, 2047 3,109 = - 172
#1138 1A1 - 1A2 -+ Shops 1A1, 1A2,
5A - 6AK6BSR R4 © BA, 6A & 6B,
B A D455 Lai King Hill Road,
b E% 33365 Lot 3336 of SD 4
ATARRLD - Star Centre, 2047 - 28,512 = 27

E11178443-4515% -
SE LD 44557 10 ER
BO05RAEL

Section A of Lot 690
in DD 445

443-451 Castle Peak Road,

* AESETRF
With an option to renew for a further term of 75 years

T EERAAEE_B_T AT FHRRFEZHESEA AR WHESHR -2 ——FROEH -

The Group is now entitled to rental on 22,101 square meters of office area. The rights to rental entittement in the remaining area will revert to the Group in 2012.

wEmEE (FAK)

Gross Floor Area® (sg. m.)

BFER
I /258 FERZE E=live 4=
Bis N e Office and Residential No. of
It 3 i o o B Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
I 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
L5 SHANGHAI
BIEEEES Grand Gateway 66, 2043 120,000 = = 835
TSR 1 5% 1 Hong Qiao Lu,
RIER Xuhui District
BRES - Plaza 66, 2044 53,600 159,700 - 804
B MPAE 1266%5F © 1266 Nan Jing Xi Lu,
ed Jing'an District
] SHENYANG
SWERES Palace 66 2057 109,300 - - 871
FRATRE 128 5% 128 Zhongjie Lu,
= Shenhe District

# BIEHE R 2 SR EE IR

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

EXE RIAARENEZAFESHNEX DR
Turnover Operating Profit Before Change in Fair Value
BEAA=TRALEE of Investment Properties

For the years ended June 30 HEANA=t+HILEE

For the years ended June 30

BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HKS$ million
14,000 9,000
8,000
12,000
7,000
10,000
6,000
8,000 5,000
$3,915
million
6,000 $5,164 4,000
million
3,000
4,000
o EEMEHE 2,000 ® ERMERE
Hong Kong leasing Hong Kong leasing
2,000 o RENMMERE o ° mElpYEES
Mainland China leasing ' Mainland China leasing
o MEHE o o
Property sales 0 Property sales

—E-—FHKEENRE Review of 2011 Financial Results

REBZZOLER  NESBRTEAM  Property leasing in Hong Kong and mainland China, our core business,
CNETREER  WAFEEBKERE®  delivered robust results again this year. Underlying profit, being profit
SHELE - xHp 2 EAEF - BITEHE  after taxation without taking into account the net revaluation gain,
HEFE BB %N - FFFES 2+ derived from this segment rose 18% to HK$2,739 million.

NEBFE —++HE=TFThEET

TE  HEREHE  NEEWEM  Fueled by strong leasing activities, rental turnover and operating profit
E7HERARRKEEHNARIERES for property leasing increased by 14% and 13% in the year to HK$5,161
Z2THAERBE 2z = Z2FEA+—1E  milion and HK$4,194 million, respectively.
ATF—BE8TkREBEON+—EBATHEE

e —

H/IT °

EBREMEFREE Z2HASWAREE  Rental income and operating profit generated from Hong Kong
HWRDRIEEES>ZARBDZ+— "  investment properties grew 8% and 11% to HK$2,822 million and
EFB_+N\E-F-aELKEEZ  HKS$2,332 milion, respectively.

+=E=F=—BEL-

6 ERHBEERAT —F—F/ —— 5454



REMFZ A FEZM FEWARXH

Change in Fair Value of Investment Properties Interest Income and Expenses
HEANA=THLESFE HEANA=TBHILFE
For the years ended June 30 For the years ended June 30
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
25,000 350
300
20,000
250 $220
million
15,000
200
150
10,000
$93
100 million
5,000 $3,349
million
50 o FSWA
Interest income
I ® FS i
0 Interest expenses

07 08 09 10 M

PRI EFESRSE ALK - & Mainland China properties continued to record pleasing growth as
IWARREHFFHAINERB D Z -+— rental income and operating profit increased by 21% and 14% to
FEpztH EF% -_+=E=FN HK$2,339 milion and HK$1,862 million, respectively.
BETMEE T \ERTZBET -

TFEEVEHEHEAR  AALE Property sale was insignificant this year since we decided to retain
BRI T EEZMIBRET  JREMR  the completed flats under the current uncertain market conditions.

BORIZAE - Bt #AENYWE  Asaresult, while direct costs and operating expenses decreased

HEBRBFEERARKCLER AR  substantially due to insignificant property sales, total turnover and

T BEMEZ@LEBNEAEF  underlying profit of Hang Lung Properties fell by 57% and 59% to

MAPNTRED2HETENRESZHE  HK$5,164 million and HK$2,741 million, respectively.

+h Z2EFERA+—EBEATHEELRL

BBt ENT—B8T -
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The increase in fair value of investment properties recorded for this
year amounted to HK$3,349 million which was lower than HK$21,234
million last year. The reduction was primarily due to recognition of a
one-off cumulative revaluation gain of HK$7365 million from properties
under development pursuant to a new accounting standard in 2009/10.
In addition, an extraordinary revaluation rebound in 2009/10 was
observed following the financial turmoil experienced in 2008.

With the issue of 293.9 million new shares in November 2010 pursuant
to placing and top-up arrangement, the Group held significant cash
balances including Renminbi deposits to meet construction expenditure
in mainland China. A net interest income of HK$127 million was
recorded for the year against a net interest expense of HK$12 million
last year.

Taxation charges decreased by 79% this year to HK$1,028 million due
to the decrease in profit.

Consequently, the net profit attributable to shareholders of Hang Lung
Properties fell 75% to HK$5,792 million. The underlying earnings per
share decreased from HK$1.61 to HK$0.63 this year. The Board has
proposed a final dividend of HK54 cents per share, the same as 2010.
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Profit for the Year Net Assets per Share
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—E-—FHKEENE Review of 2011 Financial Position

RNEBARIEIRIE - HERER  The Group continued to manage its financial affairs tactically by
W HBEERMEEEINEASHIRSE  maintaining sufficient financial resources and liquidity with appropriate
MEUR I HREITSER currency mix to meet all obligations as they fall due.

RZE—ZTF+—H AEFEBBEZE  InNovember 2010, the Group expanded its capital base by a top-up
BB =+t Aa /L2 BRXA#E placement of 293.9 million shares to institutional investors at a price
KREENLEGTNLTHEE _ENT of HK$3748 per share. Net proceeds of HK$10,896 million were
“BANTERD - LAEKEARER - collected. Hence, our financial position was further strengthened with
HREE L ESBE—FZ/\[ENLT/N netassets increased by 18% to HK$114,924 million.

A& Bt AEEZHBMREA

E—FmE  FEEEMEDZTNE

B —-F—amt+hAE_FTEEET -
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Investment properties rose by 6% to HK$85,918 million partly due to
the revaluation gains on existing portfolio.

In line with scheduled construction progress together with a revaluation
gain of HK$41 million, properties under development increased from
HK$15,326 million to HK$21,524 million.

At June 30, 2011, the Group had capital commitments amounted to
HK$35,477 million which are predominantly related to the property
development projects in mainland China. Out of these commitments,
approximately HK$20,000 million are for projects to be completed

in the next four years while the rest is for projects to be completed
thereafter.

The Group continued to position itself with a prudent level of liquid
funds and banking facilities to meet future commitments. As at June
30, 2011, the Group had cash and bank deposits of HK$27202 million
in order to meet the stipulated equity injection requirements of various
projects on the Mainland and their construction payment schedules in
addition to other working capital requirements. After netting off total
borrowings, all unsecured, of HK$16,736 million, the Group had net
cash of HK$10,466 million as at June 30, 2011.

To diversify our sources of funding, we established a Medium Term
Note (“MTN") Program to the extent of US$2 billion during the year

as an alternate source of debt financing. With the establishment

of this Program, the amount of un-drawn banking facilities was
correspondingly reduced to HK$6,694 million from HK$13,201 million in
the previous year.
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Investment Properties, Investment Properties Financing Resources and
Under Development and Properties for sale Capital Commitment
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BEASERGZREGELENNLEE  With our strong cash generation capability and ample financial
ZEHBER  BRIBsNEEEMES  resources, we are well-positioned to deal with unexpected market
2 IS FILBTABRIILRERE  dislocation or capture attractive investment opportunities that fit our
BRI N2 IREKS - growth strategy.
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Land Bank Acquisition and Property Development
Right Choice, Right Place, Right Pace

The Group’s long-term expansion plans underpin our strategy to

build up our land bank. Each development project or land acquisition
requires Board approval after thorough evaluation of its various aspects
including the related risk and return. Other factors for consideration
and assessment include relevant government policies, level of local
government support, various economic data and the adequacy of the
infrastructure development in the surrounding area. Our investment
projects in mainland China are for long-term commercial usage. Thus
short-term market fluctuations and government policies will have
minimal impact on our long term development plans.

Each project is managed by a designated professional team with the
relevant skills and experience. Projects are actively supervised by
senior management with regular progressive reviews so that decisions
can be made promptly. A steering committee is also set up to monitor
the progress of each project and to consider and approve any major
changes to the design and construction status. The construction team
is required to report regularly to the steering committee and the Board.

Internal Control Environment

RightTone

A good control environment sets the tone for good internal controls.
Our simple but effective control mechanisms incorporate fundamental
elements such as close and regular management reviews, the
segregation of duties, budgetary controls, clear, well defined and
specific limits for the various authority levels, whistle blowing
mechanisms, codes of conduct for all staff and trading partners, as well
as the provision of appropriate training for staff development.

Treasury Risk

Right Controls

The Group's activities expose us to a variety of treasury risks. The risks
as stated below are managed in accordance with the Group's treasury
policy approved by management.

(a) Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange

The Group is exposed to interest rate movements as most of the
borrowings are issued at floating rates. Interest rate risks are closely
monitored and the Group may adopt relevant measures in managing
the risks including but not limited to the issuance of fixed interest
bonds, if appropriate. Maturities of monetary assets and liabilities are
carefully planned and managed to minimize mismatch and repricing
risks. Exchange rate risks arising from the Group’s investments on
the Mainland are managed to the highest possible extent to protect
ourselves under the existing currency regime on the Mainland. Given
that Hong Kong dollars are pegged to United States dollars, exchange
rate risks relating to United States dollar deposits are not considered
significant.
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(b) Cash Management, Funding and Liquidity

The Group's cash is pooled and centrally managed to achieve
economies of scale. All funding requirements are controlled and
arranged at the corporate level in order to optimize borrowing terms
and facilitate financial risk management. The objective is to ensure
that sufficient funds and banking facilities are always in place to meet
obligations ahead of time. Bank facility maturity dates are properly
distributed to minimize repayment or refinancing risks.

(c) Credit/Counter-party

The Group's exposure to credit risk arises from rents receivable,
installments receivable relating to property sales and deposits placed
with banks. Credit risk on rents receivable is managed through credit
assessment of prospective tenants, payment of rental deposits and
close monitoring of outstanding rentals. Receivables arising from
property sales are protected with collateral on the relevant properties.
Surplus funds will only be deposited with reputable banks that

have sound credit ratings with assigned exposure limits to mitigate
concentration risk.

(d) Use of Derivatives
Derivative instruments may only be used for financial risk hedging
purposes. Speculative derivative transactions are not allowed.

Business and Operational Risk

Right Moves

Market trends and business environments are closely monitored

to ensure that our properties continue to maintain their competitive
edge. Regular maintenance, renovation and upgrading of facilities

are carried out to uphold the safety and quality of our properties.
Adequate insurance covers are in place to protect our properties against
accidental losses and other perils. \We have established internal control
systems to safeguard our assets and protect the Group from possible
malpractices, if any. We also continue to upgrade our environmental
conservation measures to stay ahead of market expectations. An
independent internal audit team carries out frequent reviews and tests
to ensure that internal control systems and policies are adequate, cost
effective and complied with. Proper back-up procedures have been
established to safeguard against potential loss of computer data. A
separate back-up site for our computer system is in place as part of the
Group's business continuity plan.

People Risk

Right Talents

The Group’s remuneration packages are constantly monitored against
market salary trends. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee
also ensures that the level of remuneration for directors and senior
management will be competitive. We also encourage staff to take
up training programs to improve their knowledge and skills with the
provision of appropriate financial support for recognized programs.
\We also maintain channels for grievance reporting for staff of all
levels. Additionally, exit interviews are conducted to gather relevant
information for future improvement.
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BEMEREREERFEERAERESRREANMEEBAFERREFEREK IR — -
Hang Lung Properties is selected as one of the constituent companies of the Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Index and the Hang Seng (Mainland and HK) Corporate Sustainability Index.

G B 2B IR BH K R R B RS [AER IR IRRR AT R 88 5 — 0 RANRAE R | £ BERBEVE BB ES ©

Palace 66 in Shenyang attains the Gold Level - - Certification under Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design (LEED in Core and Shell Development), the first completed shopping mall receiving this recognition
on the Mainland.

[P E T 78 i [ ) 1B 2 35 B 1T A T BT AR ©
Ground-breaking for Olympia 66 in Dalian.

MEEXERETERBESERBREMEZNITES -

Mr Hau Cheong Ho is appointed as Executive Director for Hang Lung Group and Hang Lung Properties.

BREE—TT)N\ TNEEFRIES =+ [EEFE GALAXY Awards 487 [ F3RIR4E (BhERE ARI4ER]) ]
Hang Lung Properties’ Annual Report 2008/09 is named the Silver Winner - - Annual Reports (Real Estate
Investment Category) at the 21st GALAXY Awards international competition.

BEEE-TT)\ ThEFEFREETECEEENGRE T —TF [REFRE| 2 It RA5R5E -
Hang Lung Group wins the Bronze Prize in HKMAs 2010 Best Annual Reports Awards.

e B R EEMEN MR B EMBEE -

Hang Lung Group Ltd and Hang Lung Properties Ltd announce Share Placement and Subscription Plans.

EIREA =T —TFE [ EEBSE] £ AT -

Hang Lung Properties announces winners of The 2010 Hang Lung Mathematics Awards.

BEMERST (RERFECHEAR) -

Hang Lung Properties signs the Cancun Communigué.
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Awarded by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
SAMERIFHERAN

®
2011
1A26H 1B 5 B R 18 R it 2 #E 1 2 3 AT o
Jan 26 Hang Lung Group and Hang Lung Properties launch new corporate websites.
2 A BEBE-_ZTTN,/ —TFEFHRES -+ UEEE MERCURY Awards 487 [ FRER RIS 18 (WERE
Feb 4R |
Hang Lung Properties’ Annual Report 2009/10 is named the
Gold Winner - - Annual Report Overall Presentation (Real Estate Developer Category) at the 24th MERCURY
Awards international competition.
3A15H RERSTEREETERBEME ZIFNITES -
Mar 15 Mr Nelson Wai Leung Yuen is appointed as a Non-Executive Director of Hang Lung Properties.
3A238 BERS SRR [BEEERES]
Mar 23 The Grand Gateway is renamed Grand Gateway 66.
3 A BEMERSESHSREHE TR RARBEIAR
Mar Hang Lung Properties is named a Caring Company by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service.
3A BEMER T +=EUNEBTNAME Y ES B2 IAIRRES) [HIR— ] o
Mar Thirteen of Hang Lung's properties in Hong Kong and on the Mainland participate in Earth Hour.
5H20H EREMILTR SR SRR | S e R R a = F A0 -
May 20 The Peak Galleria wins Class of Excellence Energywi$e Label.
6H2H BREAEWZER [BRES | EEEEMEAETA-Z——FEN [ DABRETERELEE | R [PEHE
June 2 hERAFETEREEAE ] -

Olympia 66 is named Asia Pacific Commercial Property Awards 2011 - - Best Retail Architecture in Asia-Pacific
and the Five-star Best Retail Architecture in China.
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We are committed to promoting sustainability in our environment,
our people and our community.
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Hang Lung’s Environmental Project Team set

up small farms at The Peak Galleria and Burnside Villa to grow fruits and
vegetables, with a mission to create a greener environment and provide
healthy food for staff and guests.
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The viability and success of any organization depends on the
sustainability of its operations - - economically, environmentally and
socially. Our sustainability program thus not only seeks to care for
our environment, but also encompasses building and managing
properties in eco-friendly ways, encouraging community investment
and staff volunteer service, and working to build trust and value for
our various stakeholders.

Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index Series

With our continuous commitment to promoting sustainability in terms
of corporate governance, environmental, social and work contexts,
we were selected to be in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability
Index and the Hang Seng (Mainland and Hong Kong) Corporate
Sustainability Index, when they were launched in July 2010. These
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Indexes provide key benchmarks for the investment community to
assess the corporate sustainability and social responsibility of an
organization or business that it is thinking of investing in.

Caring Company Scheme

We are named a “Caring Company” by the Hong Kong Council

of Social Service, a reaffirmation of our commmitment to corporate
social responsibility and related achievements in this area. The
recognition scheme raises public awareness of good corporate
citizenship as demonstrated by the business sector. Awarded
companies have demonstrated inspiring corporate social responsibility
initiatives through caring for the community, their employees and

the environment.

Business Sustainability

Hang Lung is committed to delivering long-term value and growth
potential to our stakeholders with the highest level of business
management and assurance. The concept of sustainability is
deeply ingrained in our business operations. We therefore adhere
to the highest standards of corporate governance, ensuring

total accountability and transparency throughout our operations.
This commitment is demonstrated at the Board level with our
Chairman, Directors and senior management actively involved in the
development and implementation of our sustainability policies and
practices. More details on our corporate governance measures can
be found in the Corporate Governance section.

Risk Vigilance and Business Continuity
Another important parameter in our business sustainability strategy is
our emphasis on ensuring business continuity and risk vigilance.

In the financial year, we enhanced our crisis management plan with
updated measures that aim at protecting staff, tenants and customers
while maintaining business continuity and minimizing any damage or
loss to our business in the event of any crisis or emergency.

Special drills and emergency exercises, both in Hong Kong and on
the Mainland, are carried out to raise general awareness and staff
preparedness.
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Corporate Values and Code of Conduct

\We place strong emphasis on reinforcing our core values - - Simplicity,
Authority, Integrity and Loyalty (SAIL) - - within the Hang Lung family.
Through various communications platforms, we have been promoting
our culture while driving both integrity and a sense of belonging to the
Hang Lung group.

BB ETR - BEAMTEA
WETEREMNERBERET  RHAE
MiEVtE S| AR E - UL EE S BB
B RMER_T——FWMAITVET
IGEBR - JIBRE THRAERRQF TR
77 TR R ERMAZFF

These values are in turn supported by our enhanced Code of Conduct,
which provides clear guidelines and regulations on the professional
and ethical behavior expected of our people both in Hong Kong and
mainland China. A Secondment Policy was launched in April 2011 to
clearly establish policies and procedures for staff to be seconded to
different locations within the Company.

O RZMEE - MBS
Our SAIL Values - Doing the Right Thing

" EE Simpligity Jk 5 A 1 FEHR Authority
o FLTIERRERF > BETHEEER . BETET o T{EEEBELMN

_I_:T’E%ntuﬁ\ﬁ‘ o EMNBRERTE
o EEERE > EZIMNERER e Staff empowerment = work

REEEENE THERER
Simple work procedures = lean
corporate structure and efficient
work practices

Simple and clear communication
- enhanced transparency and
two-way communication between
management and staff

B H Loyalty

90

HER > BB REREE
RARFR&EENR

Sense of belonging = teamwork
and shared goals to work in the
best interests of the Group

ownership together with
necessary and effective
decisions

e BIXL > BaEENGEER
NEXBERE

e Staff culture = highest standards
in corporate governance and
professional ethics
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Company-wideTraining

We adopt appropriate staff training and engagement activities to
reinforce these corporate values within the Company. For example,

in an attempt to promote the integrity value, we share integrity-related
news and good practices via our e-learning platform “Learning Zone"
and internal newsletter “ Connections”

In collaboration with the Independent Commission Against Corruption,
a series of seminars was conducted in Hong Kong that aims to
educate our staff about the highest standards of professional ethics
and enhance their understanding of the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance.

Likewise, we have developed yearround anti-corruption training
sessions for our Mainland offices with standardized training materials.

Sustainability in the Workplace

The success of our business relies on our people. We have therefore
built a professional, committed and talented team who will ensure
our sustainable development and future success. Looking for the
best people, we offer a competitive package of benefits. Employee
remuneration is offered along “pay for performance” principles with
outstanding employees receiving additional bonuses on top of their
regular package while directors and executives also receive share
options as incentives and rewards. At the end of June 2011, there
were a total of 2,702 employees, of which 1,068 are in Hong Kong
and 1,634 are on the Mainland. Total remuneration for the year
amounted to HK$736 million.

Developing our Human Capital

Making sure we retain our people, we seek to provide careers rather
than jobs. To this end, we provide extensive and continuous learning
opportunities for staff that cover both personal development and
professional training.
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In 2010/11,
e each Hang Lung staff member received an average of

3 training days

e total company training hours reached an impressive

66,000 hours

\We encourage continuous learning through:
« Structured learning programs
- Talks and seminars on specific topics
« Corporate sponsorship for
external training

« Hang Lung’s unique electronic learning
platform “Learning Zone”
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A Case of Continuous Learning
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Ricky Lee, currently a Property Officer in the Leasing
and Management Division, has been with the Company
for 10 years. Motivated by our external sponsorship program, he began a part-time study program

on property management. With the completion of the course and his commitment to the job, Ricky was
promoted to an administrative staff position, which saw his responsibilities and job exposure expand from
operations to administration. But Ricky is not complacent. He is studying for his Bachelor of Science in Facilities
Management with the continuous support of his team manager and under the Company’s sponsorship.
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Promoting Sharing of Best Practices

As a top-tier property developer that
manages a diverse portfolio of properties

in Hong Kong and on the Mainland, Hang
Lung sees the importance of sharing

best practices and knowledge across its
network, and engaging staff through regular
communication platforms and exchange

=

-
<

BTHER programs.
EEIEINESTE Management Trainee Program

ZAEN —ETHEHE - §AFEL  Launched in 2005 and with an objective to nurture bright youngsters
BIRENFEFT AERERBARESEM - to be Hang Lung's future leaders, this program recruits outstanding
RPBEESHABRELS - AR  university graduates and provides them with development, leadership
MR BELETEHFEHE - WIE  and management training together with job rotation opportunities to
Himmke  EFMMREATHEARATN  give them a thorough understanding of the Company and our culture.
BIERUE ©

—EZ2/——FEFRN BME—FE In2010/11, the program was further enhanced with the addition of
{bstEl - Ml ANBREEAZ] B8 our Human Resources Pilot program, under which an “HR Pilot” acts
[ADERERD | B EMEE - &  as a trainer and mentor, providing career development and coaching
HUEERMEEAAREERIEE - guidance to individual trainees.
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) E B Property Assistant Program

RIEEBZYEESEES  HMFAHE  Seeking to develop a pool of talented property management
HEEE BEEEBNEYWEEIE professionals, this program was launched during the year to recruit
RABEEL . WLHMPIEEREET  university graduates interested in developing a career in property
RSB FTEBETRIGIIE - UESE  management, especially in becoming a frontline management

B ASERRIHAEEEAS - member in our commercial, retail, office and car parking complexes.
F—ERELZARREZIR First Security Training Award

In recognition of our ongoing commitment to
professionalism and continuous learning, we won
the gold award in the First Security Training Award
(Type | Security License, for 500 and under security
personnel) presented by the Vocational Training
Council’'s Security Training Board and the Hong Kong
Police Force.

HAIRFF B R RS S AT
FENES - EBEIR
BRhERBERRA M
[ —EREZ AR &ERE
IR ERD  BFE—
BRIRZ AR (R IR
ABB500 AKIAT) #)

I ——

BB T LB Rk TEEE 45 Driving Employee Care and a Healthy Work-Life Balance
RFBHAERAREEZE—XBEMEAEE Inourefforts to build a healthy and energetic team for the Company,
DEER - R A— X5 FEE TH  we seek to foster the well-being of our people with a range of quality
TYEEAREREERTE] - B8 T%FE - and balanced work-life programs.
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Social gatherings such as the Christmas party, staff birthday party and
sports events are organized regularly to build team spirit, encourage
the sharing of joyful moments and foster a harmonious working
environment. During the year, activities such as movie appreciation,
local tours, art jamming, yoga and cake-making classes were held to
strengthen the bonding among staff and with their family.

The highlight of the year was our Annual Dinner 2011. As well as
bringing staff together for an enjoyable and entertaining social
evening, this year’'s event provided further cause for celebration. Held
under the theme "“Our Precious 50 Years'’ the event marked both the
successes of our first 50 years as well as our transition into a new
“golden era” in our operations.

To foster quality family life and recognize the important role that
fathers play when there is a new birth in the family, we introduced
paid paternity leave for male employees.

Commitment to the Environment
Hang Lung Properties has been a pioneer in the planning and building
of sustainable properties.

In addition to preserving the environment and conserving world
resources, sustainable building development makes eminent
business sense as it helps to maintain the value of our properties
while also reducing energy and other operational costs.

Hence we support worthwhile causes by relevant organizations on
multiple fronts:
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Building for Sustainability

BPIARSREER/RERRBELER - B
NEGARXBEZERERSBREN R
NIRRT 5E88 88 (LEED) #2.0 R Shak 4B
Al e RE - RZE—ZFHEGHE
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BE:ERE - Rt
EMEEFE HUARSE
LEED & HREAETERIZ -

HPE AP ¥R B 8IR
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ERHEBRYEEERNERR (B) MEEE
B A 22 K 75 1B P& B WAL R4S LEED Green
Associate BXERFRIIFMEERRIFAE ©
Leasing and Management'’s Bonnie Yip (right)
and Management Trainee Christine Choy

have recently been qualified as LEED Green
Associates, named by the U.S. Green Building
Council. Bonnie and Christine are the first

\We benchmark our environmental performance with the highest
standard, namely the gold level of the Leadership in Energy and
Environment Design (LEED) Core and Shell certification issued by the
U.S. Green Building Council. Palace 66 in Shenyang which opened

in 2010 was the first shopping mall receiving such a gold standing on
the Mainland.

All our upcoming projects on the Mainland
have all been, or are being, planned, designed,
constructed and operated with this LEED
gold rating as a major target.

Exceeding these international building
requirements in many instances, all our new
developments on the Mainland include high
performance building envelopes which save
cooling and heating load, and hence the
amount of energy used; renewable energy
facilities such as solar panels and geothermal
heat pumps; as well as extensive recycling
and reuse of waste materials.

Non-Project Development staff in Hang Lung to
attain such a credential.

BENERES

7 RO 1B 2 [R5 2 B APIE A3 R ¥ SR A
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BRFENRE - ZRAR_FTTNF
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Parc 66

Parc 66, our latest world-class shopping complex in Jinan, showcases
the benefits of an active sustainability program. It gained its
“Precertification under the Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development Gold Level” in
January 2009 and expects to receive its official gold level certification
at the end of 2011.
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Sustainability building features at Parc 66 include:

¢ Saving Energy

Renewable Energy - - Photovoltaic (PV) panels, total

area equivalent to 11 standard basketball courts,
generate 363,000 kWh of electricity a year, enough to
light an over 4,150-square-meter car park with
650 spaces.

Energy-efficient Lighting - - Lighting control systems are
installed with preset time-management devices, in addition
to energy efficient LED lighting and T8/T5 fluorescent tubes.

High Performance Building Envelopes - - Double deck and
low emissivity glazing facades, efficient solar reflecting roofs
and 4,000 square meters of “greening” roofs
create shielding from extreme heat and cold, thus reducing
demand for airconditioning and heating.

Variable-frequency Coolers and Chiller Systems - - Three
watercooled systems work towards saving a significant
amount of electricity (saving around 400,000 kWh of
electricity per year).

Heat Recovery Systems - - Heat recovered from airside
systems is used to pre-cool or pre-heat fresh air entering
through the mall’s airconditioning systems.

Automatic Fresh Air Systems - - Carbon dioxide monitors
adjust fresh air flow based on the actual volume of people
in the mall, maintaining a pleasant environment while also
saving energy.

¢ Saving Water

Water Saving Features - - Include dual-flushing toilet
cisterns, low discharge faucets and showers, automatic
faucet sensors, etc.

Centralized WaterTreatment Systems - - Collect and treat
36 cubic meters of recycled water every day
for irrigation and non-drinking purposes, sufficient to flush
6,000 pedestal toilets.
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For other commercial projects on the Mainland, we have also set high environmental saving targets:

&S

i)

RE

B RE
2P EEES B ES B Ei5 EEES Bk E5 1Bk B
Palace 66 Parc 66 Forum 66 Center 66 Riverside 66 Olympia 66
Shenyang Jinan Shenyang Wouxi Tianjin Dalian
BB WA o |BEE o |[EBRetl):  |EHRetwi):  |WEE . [HEE
A (o] . @ || son s N . (o] R (<]
Energy Saving over Saving over Ve R=Fil 21% eyl 149, | Saving over Saving over
Saving over Saving over
BT (Office): | BT (Office):
BB gopg, [BER g4
Saving over Saving over
K dﬁké@ 40% /}EXé 48% \Pé.‘jf;?-i‘(Retail): fpﬁ\f%(Retail): /ﬁé@ 20% ﬂé@ 20%
Water Saving over Saving DeE-y il 30% VER=yll 409 | Saving over Saving over
Saving over Saving over
BT (Office): | BT (Office):
I Y e
Saving over Saving over
FEEEEEYIBIIL il o il 0 il o il o il 0 il o
Construction Waste Over 80% Over 80% Over /5% Over 5% Over 75% Over 75%
Recycling
LEED B1R T o Ea i3 i i
Target Gold Gold Gold Gold Gold Gold
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Blue Pool Road, Hong Kong

In Hong Kong, our new residential development on Blue Pool Road
broke new ground, becoming the first project in the world to be
registered under LEED’s Homes International Pilot scheme, which
was launched by the U.S. Green Building Council at the end of
2010. Further enhancing the sustainability of our developments

in Hong Kong, we are also working to gain BEAM Plus (Building
Environmental Assessment Method) certification, which seeks to
improve the life cycle performance of buildings through building
assessment, performance improvement, certification and labeling.

Managing for Sustainability

Environmental ProjectTeam

In addition to sustainable design initiatives, we have set up an
Environmental Project Team (EPT) consisting of representatives from
36 cross-departments in Hong Kong and on the Mainland with the

aim of promoting green messages at all levels across the Company.
Furthermore, 17 Environmental Ambassadors, who have completed
an environmental training course conducted by the Environmental
Protection Department of the Hong Kong SAR Government, have the
task of maximizing participation in these efforts at the operational level.

Eco Galleria atThe Peak

The Peak Galleria in Hong Kong, with its impressive array of
sustainable features, actively plays a public education role to promote
earth-friendly messages to sightseers and students with its
Eco-Discovery Tour.

In the past six years, The Peak Galleria has saved approximately four
million kWh of electricity, which translates into a reduction of around
3,000 metric tons of carbon dioxide emissions, or equivalent to the
amount offset by 125,000 trees.

In recognition of its efforts to conserve energy over the years, The
Peak Galleria won the Energywi$e Label “Class of Excellence” award
presented by the Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence in
2011.
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Eco-Discovery Tour at The Peak Galleria

1. BEEBRS Automatic irrigation system

2. MKEERR Rainwater collection system

3 KEBaER R BEHE  Solar panel and wind-turbine system

4. FrRERs Wish tree

5. BYtRREFENM Sunlight sensor canvas

6. BEEEREI Battery charging station for electric vehicles
100
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Promoting Food Recycling

One Grand Tower joined Yan QiTong's “Qil for
Charity” green initiative. Under this social
enterprise program, Yan Qi Tong arranged to
collect waste oil from participating tenants at
a specified time each week. The collected ol
is converted into biodiesel through a filtration,
processing, heating and quality control
process.

Pioneering Sustainability on the Mainland

Our two Hang Lung signature properties in Shanghai, Grand Gateway
66 and Plaza 66, enhanced their leading reputations for committed
sustainability management during the year. Well-known for its
energy-saving successes, Grand Gateway 66 completed 16 energy-
saving initiatives, which aim to save five million kWh of electricity
every year. Recently the development switched its secondary water
cooled airconditioning system to become its primary system, saving
an impressive 1.3 million kWh of electricity annually in the process.
Improved lighting and the better use of LED lighting systems

saved 1.11 million kWh of electricity during the year. Named as a
“Model Enterprise in Energy Saving” by the Xuhui District People’s
Government for the fourth year running, the development received an
incentive award of RMB1.62 million from the authorities to further its
environmental initiatives.

Plaza 66 has implemented a series of energy-saving measures to

its lighting and airconditioning systems since it signed the Shanghai
Energy Saving Improvement Measures Management Agreement with
the Shanghai Energy Saving Services Center in 2008. In 2010, Plaza
66 received an RMB2.12 million incentive award from the municipal
and district governments and was recognized as a “green model”

for Jing'an District and the “Model Project in Shanghai on Energy
Savings” in 2010 by the Shanghai government.
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Hang Lung’s Continued Effort in Energy and Water Savings in Shanghai

‘ 3 RIRADFE B 1R
%EE@E% Future Target Reduction
Grand Gateway 66 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 2011/12
p
SRS (FRE) Adaenal
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Consumption e-.... 46,010,500
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..... ...
)
Carbon Emission 36,300
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........ ‘o-ooa..o--oo-. 32'400 29300
000 ‘ ................
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Plaza 66
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As a responsible and caring organization, we seek to make a
contribution to the communities that we serve.

During the year, we donated HK$18 million to non-profit organizations
and helped raise a total of HK$1.24 million through venue
sponsorships for charitable causes.

Hang Lung Center for Real Estate, Tsinghua University, Beijing
Committed to supporting real estate research, we made a donation
for setting up the Hang Lung Center for Real Estate at Tsinghua
University in Beijing.

A Caring Company

We are named a “Caring Company” by the Hong
Kong Council of Social Service, a reaffirmation of
our commitment to corporate social responsibility
and the caring efforts we have made for the
community, our employees and the environment.

NA] > ERBMERIRE
B BIMREFE=T7HEHN
RIDMPR ©

EREAE

BPZBET2REETREEELS -
R EHIHEEEREENTET -
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Reaching Out to Our Community

\We encourage staff to take part in giving back to the society through
volunteer work. Many of these activities are coordinated and
organized by the Staff Volunteer Team, under the auspices of the
Hang Lung Social Club.
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Staff support for these events has always
been generous and the year 2010/11 proved
to be no exception. For example, 30 staff
volunteers took part in the Pink \Walk Against
Breast Cancer 2010 event, helping to raise
funds for the Hong Kong Breast Cancer
Foundation and generating awareness on
how to avert the risks of developing breast
cancer.
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In 2010/11, staff contributed a total of 1,300 hours of volunteer
service to the community, earning us a “Gold Award for Volunteer
Service” from the Social Welfare Department of Hong Kong SAR
Government. During the year, two of our staff received the “Gold
Award for Volunteer Service” in appreciation of their contribution of
200 service hours each to the community.

Nurturing Young People

As the future of our world rests in the hands of our young people, we
place a particularly strong focus on education and education-related
programs.

2010 Hang Lung Mathematics Awards

Started in 2004 by our Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, and the well-
known mathematician and 1982 Fields Medalist, Professor Shing-tung
Yau of Harvard University, this event seeks to nurture world-class
mathematicians in Hong Kong with critical and creative thinking
abilities.

A special ceremony was

held in conjunction with The
Institute of Mathematical
Sciences and the Department
of Mathematics of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in
December 2010 to announce
the winners of the 2010 Hang
Lung Mathematics Awards.

104

EEBERRAT —T -/ ——FF%



BEAEXE=E HEBAZESHE/EE  Atended by Guest of Honor Mr Michael MY Suen, GBS JP Secretary

I8 - AT RMOMBEERMAM [E4i1Z  for Education in Hong Kong, a total of eight awards were presented.

B BEEHSBRMKRARIESR - The winning teams and projects were selected by the Scientific
Committee, which consists of top international mathematicians from
around the world.

EEEERX T [BEEE# K A% Discussing the rationale behind this unigue event, our Chairman

BEEEHEFZLIN - B IR said that in addition to discovering Hong Kong's top mathematical

BEHBRY - AEBNEMBERIFE  talent, he hopes that it will help individual contestants discover the

EXBTEA o joys of scientific research, propelling them into possibly pursuing an
academic career in applied research.

[MEZEEEABAIAX ] Knowledge Builds a Better Tomorrow

SEETIBER _ZZNFaIPEHET  Starting in 2009 to assist underprivileged children with their studies,
2 AP FRERENRHENMEBEZ  members of our volunteer team run tutorials, helping the children with
B oORETERIEREHEE  REMR|  their homework and sharing useful knowledge on subjects such as
EEE - FREHL [BBEEIESHZ  health care, environmental care and climate change. A “360-degree
=R UONERE A HES)TE) - E=88E,  Outdoor Learning Series” was introduced during the year, adding
BRI SIF360BE T AU A8  outdoor activities to the program. A highlight in this new series is an
EIR o ecological field trip to the Ngong Ping 360 experience on Lantau.

B

]
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Engaging with Stakeholders

\We seek to build trust and win-win partnerships with our stakeholders
through regular, comprehensive and interactive engagement

programs.
FnEBBTE
Our Stakeholder Engagement Program
HE BREE HEEEE
Stakeholder General Communication Face-to-face Communication
W& E R BRI - By PEHRFEEERM - o HITBMME  REESHREINGE -

Investors and
Shareholders

WEEBERBAE RE -

BEMETE -

FHRRAPEARE ©

Information releases, notices, interim and
annual results announcements.

Investor Relations mailbox and news.
Up-to-date electronic information.

Annual and interim reports.

DHTE RIEEIRE EGHNRIE o
RERBERE ©

Analyst briefings, investor meetings,
overseas roadshows.

Analyst and institutional conferences and
forums.

Annual general meeting.

BT o  MEBFEAEEEIER - o HIMT - B RAPRBUTEBRISHEMGEE o
Government o FRAEEHMERLPMETNTE  MullWERERN | ¢ Regular communication and meetings with
WER - local, provincial and national government
¢ Information notices to relevant government bodies.
bodies.
e Presenting property developers’
perspectives as a Real Estate Developers’
Association of Hong Kong (REDA) member.
[HES25 o ERIRREEHAWRE] NEPA  HFRER

Business Partners

NEEAREMENE -
ERBAMERINENGE @ HERMMESR
REANER -

As a CCBF patron, working closely with the
business community to share information
on environmental issues.

As a REDA member, helping to represent
the interests of property developers.

BRI EH
Management meeting
with shareholders
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BT R SEIE B 125 R
Government officials visit construction site of our
projects

ERBEERAR T,/ ——FEH



RERIREREL RS
Well-trained staff and high customer
service standard

B RS EBRRITEERD -
W E% o

Festive activities draw customer
to Hang Lung's malls.

B0 E EREE EHEER
Stakeholder General Communication Face-to-face Communication
BEE kP o [MHPBLARLEHFE - o TERIEVEZRBETPRBES -
Customers and s WRMEXEFRNYEETBARHLEER - o ERABHEFPTEHFE -
Tenants e Online “Tenants Log-on” platform. o RIPHEITRTERELEE -
e Ensuring effective communication between | ¢ Customer desks at individual
property buyers and property management developments.
company. o Regular meetings between management
and tenants.
e Special recreational events for residents.
At [ A FEBT 48 4% o RUIERMRET - MITHMATZ - B SFt@EAM | o AREIGE -
The Community BB o e Corporate Volunteer Program.
and NGOs e Close communication with community and

community organizations about the design,
execution and evaluation of projects.

AERE - ER K

s BMEBEXBMEBREEFR  BHEBNMASERE

o HEEMNMABHERRITEEEH

HrEr B &R E - o HMHERRIFEEHE o
Contractors, o ZERBEEMRE G BRBBELFE - o HEMBEMFNERITEES -
Consultants and | o 2SR EFMNFABRE BAERE - o Regular progress meetings with
Suppliers e Proactive supplier and contractor program consultants and contractors.
on our operational and environmental e Close contact with vendors.
practices. o Relevant seminars and industry events.
e Preparing contracts clearly to avoid
possible confusion or dispute.
e Forging partnerships with competent
vendors and providers.
&8 o FBIEMEREEH M HIEE TREHE - o NEfAETADIAMA B TH R EEBBEEK
Employees o (EBEE)RNHAT - ERENEEAS -
o WEBTHIFIIRENER - e All employees are entitled to direct access
o Staff well-being programs formulated to their supervisor or higher levels of
by the Social Club Committee through a management, under our internal Code of
“bottom-up” approach. Conduct.
e Internal monthly newsletter
“Connections”.
e Feedback on training from staff.
H5 o FEBEENR - BE AHLEMSTER - FEE | o REBENMETLHMBEMEREHME o
Media EIERIEEE o o THEHREELTHERSMARE -

e Proactive media program with provision of
press releases, notices, announcements
and other relevant information.

e Briefings and media interviews, e.g. on
results announcements, etc.

e Regular meetings, briefings and interviews
with media.
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

1 HJAN
N EIEE

Interim Results announced

—E——F—-A=+XH
January 26, 2011

2 HFeB

REE P HA IR R
Interim Dividend paid

—E-—fFZA=+MWmAH
February 24, 2011

7HuuL

NRFEE —E——+A=t+NH
Annual Results announced July 29, 2011
10Hoct

BHLHERGBF —E——%+A+=H

(REFERRBFAERNELREMS)
Latest time to lodge transfers (for attending and
voting at Annual General Meeting)

EERERMBFER
(BHEERRBFAERAELREMS)
Share Register closed (for attending and
voting at Annual General Meeting)

REBFERE
(B FESHARFRM E2RRBFASES)
Annual General Meeting

(Details are set out in the Notice of Annual General

Meeting accompanying this Annual Report)
BLHEROBE (MABREMS)

Latest time to lodge transfers (for final dividend)

EEnERMBFER (RRPKREMS)
Share Register closed (for final dividend)

THFOEE=1+2
4:30 p.m. on October 13, 2011

—E——5+A+HmHEZE+N\H
(BEEREMABEEA)

October 14 to 18, 2011

(both days inclusive)

—E-—%+AtN\H
EFTEFE

1R BB X R Y 5 R

10:00 a.m. on October 18, 2011
at Registered Office

—F——F+A=+-8
THEOE=+2
4:30 p.m. on October 21, 2011

—E-——F+A=+mWmA
October 24, 2011
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11 A Nov
IR EZ 2 AR E

Proposed Final Dividend payable

—E——F+—H=H
November 3, 2011
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

BMATRER

ERRHNEEAR  BMxE2ETER
BEXSZMBRAR (B DESF LM
MANT EMARR D8+ KR RERR
BT RD(TREERTRI DB ZMET
AR WHERFZBR TERB—F -

BEEARER

BEEE  wmBINEREARMEE
A ERMADGEKEERR - B0
FERHBRANRYAOR - seHWRHE
EZRIEFER))  RERAMELRBENX
Lo P ANERRSNERERRE
B2 RS - ARERNARE
2 WERRESERAE REE  2EH
FABHE - BN mERME MR & 1
(S

RERRE

Corporate Governance Structure

Exceeding Compliance Requirements
As good corporate citizens, we comply fully with, and in many

cases exceed, the Code Provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as stated in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"“Stock Exchange”).

Our Strong Belief in Governance

Hang Lung firmly believes that strong governance is the foundation
to delivering the corporate objective of maximizing return on a
sustainable basis to its stakeholders over the long term. The core
of the governance structure is an effective and qualified Board of
Directors (the “Board"”) which is committed to maintain the highest
standard of corporate governance, sound internal control and
effective risk management to enhance transparency, accountability,
integrity and honesty, in order to earn the confidence from our
shareholders and other stakeholders.

R EE M F R
Shareholders and Other Stakeholders

¢

ERE
BEM
YNEPI]
HWE

Transparency
Accountability
Integrity

Honesty

Board of
Directors

T

¢ ¢

NS A2 SR NEMWE

External Auditors

¢ ¢

WITZESg
Company Secretary Executive Committee

&

P EBE T AN

RELREMEES BEZEZEY
Nomination and Audit Committee Internal Auditor

Remuneration
Committee
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WA ERINBE LI ZIT MK
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HEEXEEE X
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FHEEE @R

AEEAFE N ESESSERRREE
WABETAELEIE - RAIBRILA RN
WEPEZ IS - DB HERARREE » £19
EARFHNIER T EERERER o
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A Sound Corporate Culture
As good governance is essential to corporate success, we

instill the core principle of good corporate governance into our
corporate culture through leadership by example, training and
effective internal controls. A sound governance culture starts
from the root. Hang Lung maintains an unparalleled Code of
Conduct which every staff and supplier would be made aware
of and required to adhere to.

Professional and Responsible Management

The Board comprises professionals from different facets of
society who brought in a wide range of business and financial
experience and expertise to the Board. The Board includes

a balanced composition of Executive and Non-Executive
Directors so that there is a strong independent element on the
Board which can effectively exercise independent judgment.
To improve on the function of the Board, three committees,
namely the Executive Committee, Audit Committee and
Nomination and Remuneration Committee had been set up to
take up different responsibilities.

Prudent Risk Management
The Group recognizes the various risk factors it will face in

the operation, and properly deals with them in a manageable
manner by setting a good internal control environment.

EEBLEARAR —T—T / ——F4R



UTARMANTEE RS RBE ML The following are the major aspects in which our corporate

Mg+ & AT BIFTE, 2 STRMES K. governance practice exceeds the Code Provisions and

EEsETRNEEEHE - Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code under Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules.

iy Exceeds

/O EBERN-ZE—T ——FERITT/N  Sixregular Board Meetings were held in 2010/11.
N o A O A
REHEE -

v BREHESHABIEHTES - E A strong independent element is maintained on the Board as half of
EREABRARNNBIIRE - the Board is represented by Independent Non-Executive Directors.

/O HEEEBLTESREEASSWEE Senior management is invited to join the Board Meetings, where
REEReE  PEBLENEEIESEE  appropriate, to provide appropriate information to enable the
BEIES MELIRE - WHEETTEIE  Directors to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties
RBARNREENRE BT - and responsibilities.

v RENMFWNEZEeNAEKEY A The Nomination and Remuneration Committee comprises only
EITESE RS EFE[E7TEZE  Independent Non-Executive Directors to ensure no Executive
NENEIEABLEBIHRESEME  Director or senior management is involved in deciding his/her own
B4 o remuneration package.

v/ BREEENMAKEHABNIESHNTT  The Audit Committee comprises only Independent Non-Executive
B URBEBIURRAEN - Directors, thereby guaranteeing its independence and credibility.

7 %ﬁ%éﬁ@ﬁ(\\_ =% /——&E/%8  The Audit Committee met the external auditors three times in 2010/11
BRTESIE /RT ERSNEEAZEIAT  without the presence of the Executive Board members.
BITT=REH

v BZZEZT)\FH 0 AnlRIBESERE Since 2008, the Company announced its interim and annual results

—(BRRAMHRETEEERE - within one month from the end of the accounting period.

VAN ﬁWﬁB%ﬁEB ZEPPBLAA  Our internal audit department is independent of our operation and

ﬂZ A EEER SR - accounting functions.

v I ETEEERESEEGER - The Internal Auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee.

v ONEERZEREDH EARERE S ARE ([ A External auditors attend annual general meetings (the "AGM") to
g ]) BEREMNRM - answer questions from shareholders.

v RAEBA-NAMER - B4 —E@AR  The Company has adopted a corporate Code of Conduct since 1994,
FAES RESHMERSTER] - & which is applicable to all staff and Directors. The Code of Conduct
BIE A AT R ERER - contains our whistle blowing policy.

v RARIEFREIAL 0 hioR T EF (D The Company revamped its corporate website as a means of
BIBRRE %ﬁﬂilﬁﬂ'%ﬁﬁixﬁ’]m% communication with stakeholders. Principal corporate governance
EREBRARTY - RAREE structures and newsletters are publicly available.

v RRIERT —rlEFERERS - TE  The Company has published a separate Sustainability Report

R-ZTTh, — ﬁﬁiiﬁm C WEHFF  contained in Annual Report 2009/10 and is publicly available on its
RNEIME - RAREIE corporate website.
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() The Board
1. Composition and Functions
The Board currently comprises twelve persons:

five Executive Directors, namely, Mr Ronnie C. Chan,
Mr Philip N.L. Chen, Mr William PY. Ko, Mr Henry T.Y. Yiu
and Mr H.C. Ho;

. one Non-Executive Director, Mr Nelson VW.L. Yuen; and

. six Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr S.S.
Yin, Mr Ronald J. Arculli, Dr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y.
Chen, Prof PW. Liu and Mr Dominic C.F. Ho. They possess
appropriate academic and professional qualifications or
related financial management expertise and have brought
a wide range of business and financial experience to the
Board.

During the year 2010/11, Mr Philip N.L. Chen and Mr H.C. Ho
were appointed Executive Directors of the Company on July
15, 2010 and September 29, 2010 respectively, and retired and
were re-elected at the 2010 AGM of the Company. Mr Nelson
W.L. Yuen retired as Executive Director of the Company on
July 14, 2010 and was appointed as Non-Executive Director of
the Company on March 15, 2011. MrTerry S. Ng resigned as
Executive Director of the Company with effect from July 21,
2010.

An updated list of Board members together with their
biographical details is maintained on our website.

The Board is responsible for:

. ensuring continuity of leadership;

. development of sound business strategies;

availability of adequate capital and managerial resources to
implement the business strategies adopted; and

adequacy of systems of financial and internal controls and
conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws and
regulations.

EEBEARAR —T—T/ —— 54K
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To ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company, and full awareness of his/her responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, other
regulatory requirements, and especially the governance policies
of the Company, every newly appointed Director will meet with
other fellow Directors and members of senior management,
and will receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment. All Directors are
required to disclose to the Company their offices held in public
companies or organizations and other significant commitments.

During the year 2010/11, six regular Board Meetings were held,
including two Board Meetings held outside Hong Kong during
two offsite Board trips. The Board visited Abu Dhabi and Dubai
for studying quality properties, and mainland China for evaluating
the Company'’s investment there.

Details of Directors’ attendance records in 2010/11 are set out

E%-

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

EMEEGTEAT ¢ below:
HE/BTER
Meetings Attended/Held
BER
FMZES
BE#%ZEE  Nomination & —E-2&
E=pR Audit  Remuneration BERE
EE Directors Board Committee Committee 2010 AGM
BYEHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
B E S.S.Yin 6/6 THERAN/A TEAN/A il
EfE Ronald J. Arculli 3/6 REAN/A 1/1 1/1
&% H.K. Cheng 6/6 3/3 1/1 1/1
e Laura L.Y. Chen 6/6 2/3 11 11
BEmE PW. Liu 6/6 2/3 il il
8= Dominic C.F Ho 6/6 3/3 11 11
FHTES Non-Executive Director
REER* Nelson W.L. Yuen* 2/2 TERAN/A TEAN/A TEAN/A
HTEE Executive Directors’
R Ronnie C. Chan 6/6 T FAN/A T AN/A n
BRE % Philip N.L. Chen 6/6 THERAN/A TEAN/A il
®iaE William PY. Ko 6/6 T FAN/A T AN/A n
% E Henry TY. Yiu 6/6 A HERN/A TEAN/A 11
EE3=N H.C. Ho* 4/4 THERAN/A TERAN/A 11
BaE Remarks
* REREEN-_ZT—TFLATHARTANITE * Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen retired as Executive Director on July 14, 2010 and was
= PRZE——F=-A+HHEZTAIFRTE appointed as Non-Executive Director on March 15, 2011.
=
# REITEERZZT-ZEFLAZT—HBEERTE + MrTerry S. Ng resigned as Executive Director on July 21, 2010. No Board Meetings
L AT TFLAHEEZRHFI AL  TWER were held from July 1, 2010 up to his resignation.
TESREE -
* AZEXER_T—TFNATINBEZERHT Mr H.C. Ho was appointed as Executive Director on September 29, 2010.
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All Directors can give notice to the Chairman or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for
Board Meetings. Full Board or Committee papers will be sent
to all Directors or Committee members at least three days
before the intended date of a Board Meeting or Committee
Meeting respectively. Management also supplies the Board and
its Committees with adequate information and explanations
so as to enable them to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before the Board and its
Committees for approval. Management is also invited to join
Board Meetings where appropriate.

All the Directors are entitled to have access to timely
information in relation to our business and make further
enquiries where necessary, and they can have separate and
independent access to senior management. In addition,

all Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary who is responsible to the Board for
ensuring that procedures are followed and that all applicable
laws and regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary
is also a source of advice to the Chairman and to the Board

on corporate governance and the implementation of the CG
Code. Procedures have also been agreed by the Board to
enable Directors to seek independent professional advice at the
Company's expense.

Under the Company's Articles of Association, a Director shall
not vote or be counted in the quorum in respect of any contract
or arrangement in which he/she or any of his/her associates
is/fare materially interested.

We have also arranged appropriate insurance cover on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against our Directors and senior management arising from
corporate activities.

2. Chairman and Managing Director

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Managing Director to ensure a balance of power
and authority.

Chairman

The Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, provides leadership for the
Board. He is responsible for ensuring that all Directors receive
adequate information, which must be complete and reliable, in
a timely manner and that Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board Meetings. He also ensures that:

. the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities;

EEBEARAR — -/ —— 54K
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. all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner;

. good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established; and

. appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that views of
shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

He, at least annually, holds meetings with the Independent
Non-Executive Directors without the Executive Directors
being present. He is primarily responsible for drawing up and
approving the agenda for each Board Meeting, taking into
account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by the
other Directors for inclusion in the agenda, or delegates such
responsibility to the Company Secretary.

He encourages all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure
that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. He
facilitates the effective contributions of Non-Executive Directors
and ensures constructive relations between Executive Directors
and Non-Executive Directors.

Managing Director
The Managing Director, Mr Philip N.L. Chen, is a member of the
Executive Committee of the Company and is responsible for:

. operating the business of the Company and implementing
policies and strategies adopted by the Board,

. the Company'’s day-to-day management in accordance with
the instructions issued by the Board;

. developing strategic operating plans that reflect the
objectives and priorities established by the Board and
maintaining operational performance; and

. ensuring the adequacy of financial and internal control
systems and the conduct of business in conformity with
applicable laws and regulations.

The Managing Director chairs the monthly meetings of the
Company's various operational divisions. He formulates, for the
Board's approval, the management organization and internal
rules of the Company and recommends the appointment and
dismissal of senior executives.
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3. Independence of Non-Executive Directors

We have received from each of our Independent Non-Executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and therefore we
consider the Independent Non-Executive Directors are still
independent.

To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an
Independent Non-Executive Director who has served the Board
for more than 9 years will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by shareholders. We will state in the notice

of the AGM the reason why we consider the Independent
Non-Executive Director continues to be independent and our
recommendation to shareholders to vote in favor of the re-
election of such Independent Non-Executive Director.

4. Appointment, Re-election and Removal

In accordance with our Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office by rotation for re-
election by shareholders at an AGM. In addition, every Director is
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years,
and new appointments to the Board are subject to re-election
by shareholders at the upcoming general meeting. Names of
such Directors eligible for re-election being accompanied by
detailed biographies will be stated in the notice of the general
meeting.

Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive
Directors are appointed for specific terms, which coincide with
their expected dates of retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

(I1) Delegation by the Board

The Executive Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
and Remuneration Committee were formed in 1989, 1999 and
2003 respectively.

1.  Executive Committee

The Executive Committee of the Board of the Company was
formed in 1989. Its members are all the Executive Directors
of the Company, who meet regularly to establish the strategic
direction of the Company, and to monitor the performance of
management. Clear terms of reference have been adopted by
the Board, and guidelines were also set up for certain issues
requiring Board approval. Each of the Committee members
has full understanding on determining which issues require a
decision of the full Board and which are delegated by the Board
to the Committee or management.

EELERRAE -/ ——FFK
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2. Audit Committee

An Audit Committee was established by the Board in 1999,
which now comprises four Independent Non-Executive Directors
with appropriate academic and professional qualifications or
related financial management expertise, namely, Dr H.K. Cheng
(Chairman of the Committee), Ms Laura L.Y. Chen, Prof PW. Liu
and Mr Dominic C.F. Ho. Meetings are held at least two times

a year for the purpose of discussing the nature and scope of
internal audit work and assessing the Group's internal controls.
Separate meetings will also be held with the external auditors (in
the absence of management) as and when required. The Audit
Committee held three meetings in 2010/11.

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our
website, have included the duties stipulated in the Listing
Rules.

The Committee is authorized by the Board to investigate any
activity within its terms of reference; to seek any information it
requires from any employee and all employees are directed to
co-operate with any requests made by the Committee; to obtain
outside legal or other independent professional advice; and to
secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience
and expertise to their meetings if necessary. Sufficient resources
are provided to the Committee to discharge its duty.

During the year, the Audit Committee has performed, inter alia,
the following:

o reviewed and obtained explanation from management and
the external auditors on the interim (unaudited) and annual
results, including causes of changes from the previous
period, effects on the application of new accounting
policies, compliance with the Listing Rules and relevant
legislation, and any audit issues, before recommending
their adoption by the Board;

e  considered and proposed to the Board the re-appointment
of KPMG as the Company's external auditors;

e  considered and approved the procedures and guidelines
in employing the external auditors to perform non-audit
assignments for the Company;

° received and reviewed the internal audit reports from the
Internal Auditor;

° held meetings with the external auditors in the absence of
management to discuss any audit issues;

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11 17
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3.

held meetings with the Internal Auditor in private to
discuss internal audit issues;

approved the internal audit program for 2010/11; and

carried out an annual review of the internal control system
of the Company including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company's
accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programs and budget.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

A Nomination and Remuneration Committee, set up in 2003,
now constitutes five Independent Non-Executive Directors,
namely Prof PW. Liu (Chairman of the Committee), Mr Ronald
J. Arculli, Dr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen and Mr Dominic
C.F Ho. Regular meetings were held to review human resources
issues, including significant changes in the salary structure of
the Group and terms and conditions affecting Directors and
senior management. The Committee met once in 2010/11

to review, inter alia, the composition of Board members and
Directors’ remuneration.

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our
website, have included, as a minimum, the specific duties as
stipulated in the Listing Rules.

The major work performed by the Committee during the year
included the following:

reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

made recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management;

determined the specific remuneration packages of all
Executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments; and

made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration

of Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive
Directors.
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The remuneration package of Directors and senior management,
including discretionary bonus and share options, is based on
the following criteria:

. individual performance;

. skill and knowledge;

. involvement in the Group's affairs;

. achievement of business targets; and

. performance and profitability of the Group.

The Committee also considers factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Committee obtains benchmark reports from internal

and external sources for evaluation of market trends and the
competitive levels of remuneration being offered to Directors
and senior management. Sufficient resources are provided

to the Committee to discharge its duty. The Committee may
consult the Chairman and the Managing Director about their
proposals relating to the remuneration of other Executive
Directors and have access to professional advice if considered
necessary.

4.  Senior Management

Senior management, comprising assistant directors and senior
managers, is responsible for the day-to-day operations and
administration function of the Group under the leadership of
the Executive Directors. The Board has given clear directions to
management as to the matters that must be approved by the
Board before decisions are made on behalf of the Company. The
types of decisions to be delegated by the Board to management
include implementation of the strategy and direction determined
by the Board, operation of the Group’s businesses, preparation
of financial statements and operating budgets, and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. These arrangements will be
reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to
our needs.
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(lll) Directors’ Securities Transactions and Share

Interests
1. Compliance with Model Code

We have set out guidelines regarding securities transactions
by Directors under “transactions in the Company’s shares”

in our Code of Conduct, which are on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"”). The
Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors and
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the Code of Conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions.

2. Share Interests of Directors

Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company and our
listed parent company, Hang Lung Group Limited (“HLG"), as at
June 30, 2011 are as follows:

KAH =l
The Company HLG
RIEHRE RIEBHRE
AR 2R EIE dE
B2 E No. of Shares 42 E No. of Shares
EBEHE Name of Directors No. of Shares under Option No. of Shares under Option
BRBCR Ronnie C. Chan - 36,570,000 - 11,790,000
BRI B S.S.Yin - - - -
PREg#% Philip N.L. Chen - 14,500,000 - -
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen - 24,320,000 - -
ERESE Ronald J. Arculli 724,346 - 1,089,975 -
Bl%E H.K. Cheng - - _ _
FREE1G Laura L.Y. Chen - = — =
EBiaE PW. Liu 100,000 - - -
Bz Dominic C.F Ho - - - _
={RE William PY. Ko - 25,730,000 30,000 994,000
ol S Henry T.Y. Yiu = 7,600,000 170,000 50,000
fAZg H.C. Ho - 5,600,000 - -
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(IV) Accountability and Audit
1. Financial Reporting

Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumptions or qualifications as necessary. The Company’s
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance and also the accounting principles
and practices generally accepted in Hong Kong. Appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable. A
statement by the external auditors, KPMG, about their reporting
responsibilities is included in the Independent Auditor's Report
on the Company's financial statements.

The Directors endeavor to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospects in annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

2. Internal Control

We maintain a good internal control environment to enable the
internal control systems and procedures to perform effectively.
The Code of Conduct details the Group'’s philosophy in running
its business and acts as a benchmark for all staff to follow.

Internal control systems have been designed to allow us to
monitor the Group's overall financial position, safeguard its
assets against loss and misappropriation, to provide reasonable
assurance against fraud and errors, and to manage the risk in
failing to achieve the Group's objectives.

We have a well defined specific limit of authority governing
activities of the Executive Committee, Directors, executives
and senior staff. Annual and mid-year budgets on all capital
and revenue items are prepared and approved by senior
management before being adopted. We monitor the business
activities closely and review monthly financial results of
operations against budgets. We also review and update the
internal controls to meet upcoming challenges.

We take extreme precautionary measures in handling price-
sensitive information. Such information is restricted to a need-
to-know basis.
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We maintain an internal audit department which is independent
of our daily operations and accounting functions. The Internal
Auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee. An internal audit
program based on risk assessment methodology was designed
which has been reviewed by the Audit Committee on an annual
basis. On a monthly basis, the Internal Auditor discusses his
internal audit reviews and findings with the management and
obtains management’s responses on various issues. Internal
audit reports are prepared for the Audit Committee every
quarter.

Formal meetings are held every six months between the
Internal Auditor and the Audit Committee to discuss internal
audit issues. During Audit Committee Meetings, the Audit
Committee also enquires on financial and internal control
matters with the external auditors. The Audit Committee has the
authority to have direct discussion with external auditors in the
absence of management if deemed necessary, and they meet
at least once annually for this purpose. One Executive Director is
present at the Audit Committee Meetings to answer enquiries
from the Audit Committee and to report to the Board on matters
arising.

The Directors acknowledged that it is their responsibility

to maintain effective risk management and internal control
systems and to review them twice a year. The Directors manage
risks by strategic planning, appointing appropriately qualified
and experienced personnel at senior management positions,
monitoring the Group's performance regularly, maintaining
effective control over capital expenditure and investments, and
setting a high level of Code of Conduct for all Directors and
employees to follow.

The Directors had conducted a review covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the financial year ended June 30, 2011, and
were satisfied that an effective and adequate internal control
system had been in operation. Considerations are also given
to the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
the staff of the Company's accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programs and budget. The Directors
came to such a conclusion based on the Company’s clearly set
company policies and procedures, specific limits of authority,
budgetary controls, regular monitoring of performance and the
reports from both the external auditors and the Internal Auditor.
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We identify the risk in land acquisition for future expansion,
the development into world-class outstanding properties that
will let us stay ahead of competitors, maintaining adequate
financial resources for the projects, constantly upgrading the
functions and appearance of our properties to capture the
changes in market and trend, using a centralized treasury
function and limiting the exposure to currency and credit risk,
safeguarding our assets, maintaining adequate insurance
coverage, formulating an appropriate disaster plan including a
separate computer back-up site, providing appropriate training
and competitive remuneration packages to retain quality staff.

The Directors confirm that there have been no major changes
in the nature and extent of significant risks faced by us from
the previous financial year, and the Company has the ability to
respond to any such changes in our business and the external
environment. Furthermore, there were no significant internal
control problems encountered during the year. We closely
monitor our system of internal control, and received further
assurance from the Audit Committee that the internal audit
function has been functioning effectively. We have complied
with the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code in respect of
maintaining an effective internal control system.

3. Code of Conduct
We have adopted a corporate Code of Conduct since 1994
which is updated from time to time.

The Code of Conduct clearly spells out the Company’s
stance, the legal requirements, conflicts of interest, handling
of confidential information and company property, use of
information and communication systems, avenue for whistle
blowing, fair trading with suppliers and contractors, payment
procedures, responsibilities to shareholders and the financial
community, relationship with customers and consumers,
employment practices, and responsibilities to the community.
In essence, it details the Group's philosophy in running its
business and acts as a benchmark for all staff and suppliers to
follow.

In order to monitor and enforce compliance to the Code of
Conduct, functional managers are responsible for ensuring their
subordinates fully understand and comply with the standards
and requirements as stipulated. Any violation thereof will result
in the employee being disciplined, including termination of
employment. Suspected corruption or other forms of criminality
will be reported to the Independent Commission Against
Corruption or appropriate authorities. The Executive Directors
will also answer directly to any Board member for impartial and
efficient handling of complaints received from all shareholders
and potential shareholders; customers and consumers;
suppliers and contractors and our employees.
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Also, all employees who are above a designated level are
required to complete and sign a declaration form annually
declaring their interests, directly or indirectly, with the Company
and our subsidiaries and associated companies, so as to make
sure that all operations are managed in accordance with the
highest standards of practice and corporate governance.

4. Auditors’ Remuneration

KPMG was re-appointed as our external auditors by
shareholders at the 2010 AGM until the conclusion of the 2011
AGM. They are primarily responsible for providing audit services
in connection with the annual consolidated financial statements.

FRN A FINERREEIRAE 2 484 a0 During the year, the total remuneration in respect of services
N provided by the external auditors is as follows:

—E2——F e
Year 2011 Year 2010
BYEET EEEETT
HK$M HK$M
JETEAZEPRTS Statutory audit services 6 5
7% K H A BR % Tax and other services 3 1
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(V) Communication with Stakeholders
1.  Shareholders

Our AGM provides a good opportunity for communication
between the Board and shareholders. The Chairmen of the
Board and of the Committees are normally present to answer
queries raised by shareholders. External auditors also attend
the AGM every year. Notice of the AGM and related papers
are sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days before
the meeting. Each separate issue is proposed by a separate
resolution by the Chairman. The meeting enjoys strong
participation from shareholders.

On the requisition of our shareholders holding not less than

5% of our paid-up capital as at the date of the deposit of the
requisition carrying the right of voting at our general meetings,
our Directors shall forthwith proceed to convene an extraordinary
general meeting.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by shareholders can be

sent in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our
registered address or by e-mail to our Company.
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Our last AGM was held on October 20, 2010 at our registered
office. The meeting was attended by 171 shareholders present
in person or by proxy. At the meeting, the Chairman had
demanded a poll on each of the resolutions submitted for
voting, and the shareholders were provided with detailed
procedures for conducting a poll. All resolutions tabled at the
2010 AGM, inter alia, adoption of the financial statements, re-
election of Directors, re-appointment of auditors and renewal of
general mandates were voted on by poll, and the results of poll
voting were posted on the websites of our Company and of the
Stock Exchange in the evening on the same day.
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Number of participating shareholders

The Board proposed to make changes to the Articles of
Association of the Company at the forthcoming AGM to be
held on October 18, 2011. Details are set out in the circular to
shareholders to be sent together with this annual report. The
important shareholders’ dates for the coming financial year,
which include the Board Meetings for the declaration of interim
and final dividends for the year ending June 30, 2012 and the
AGM, are expected to be held at around late January 2012, late
July 2012 and in October 2012 respectively.
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2. Investors

As at June 30, 2011, the number of shares of the Company

which were in the hands of the public (i.e. other than those held
by our parent company, HLG) was 2,274,503,600 (50.9% of total
issued share capital), with market capitalization of HK$72,556.7

million.

Details of holders of shares by domicile as at June 30, 2011 are

=P CNE as follows:
B= FRE
Shareholders Shareholdings

A B REE Btk
B ith Domicile No. % No. of Shares %
B Hong Kong 2,965 9422  4,433,171,091 99.14
R B A i, Mainland China 59 1.87 4,731,220 0.11
ST Macau 6 0.19 376,923 0.01
=y Taiwan 2 0.06 593 0.00
D\ NE ol Australia & New Zealand 1 0.35 16,369 0.00
mexkER Canada & USA 45 1.43 2,460,010 0.05
e South East Asia 45 1.43 2,705,917 0.06
HE United Kingdom 9 0.29 15,585 0.00
Hib Others 5 0.16 28,336,462 0.63
gt TOTAL 3,147 100.00 4,471,814,1770 100.00

R-Z——F X NA=THZREHFRE4E Details of holders of shares by holding range as at June 30,

AIFFIBAT - 2011 are as follows:
BRER* HRE"
Shareholders* Shareholdings*

AE B RHHE Bkt
BREAR Holding Range No. % No. of Shares %
1—1,000/% 1-1,000 shares 1,420 45.12 677940 0.02
1,001 —5,0004% 1,001 — 5,000 shares 799 25.39 2,204,421 0.05
5,001 —10,0004% 5,001 — 10,000 shares 337 10.71 2,786,839 0.06
10,001 —100,0004% 10,001 — 100,000 shares 485 15.41 16,972,316 0.38
100,0000% A = Over 100,000 shares 106 3.37 4,449,172,654 99.49
st TOTAL 3,147 100.00 4,471,814,1770 100.00

* BENBET-A2RTREHRINE
B2 AL REEFEZFEEEFA
UEBHREERBARRANEEBRE
HEAK- T LELTAE—TEE—T
TR+ BEH
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* incorporating, in their respective shareholdings range, 451
participants of Central Clearing and Settlement System holding a
total of 2,776,141,051 shares registered in the name of HKSCC

Nominees Limited
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We are committed to disclose relevant information on our
activities to our shareholders and investors through regular
analysts' briefings, press conferences and press releases,
e-mails and our website, apart from our annual and interim
reports. All enquiries and proposals received from shareholders,
investors, media or the public are responded to by Executive
Directors, Company Secretary or appropriate members of senior
management.

The Company'’s information, including the terms of reference

of Audit Committee and Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, is also accessible to all via our website. Hard copies
of the terms of reference of the above-mentioned Committees
are also available on request. Besides providing traditional
financial data, our website also contains the most current
information including properties available for sale and leasing,
latest issued capital, updated substantial shareholders’ interests
in shares, newsletters, major corporate events and frequently
asked questions.
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Mr Ronnie Chichung Chan

Chairman

Aged 61, Mr Chan joined the Group in 1972 and was appointed
to the Board of Hang Lung Properties Limited in 1986 before
becoming Chairman in 1991. He also serves as Chairman of
Hang Lung Group Limited. Mr Chan is Vice-President of The Real
Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong, Co-Chair of the
Asia Society and Chairman of its Hong Kong Center. He also acts
as an advisor to the China Development Research Foundation of
the State Council of the People's Republic of China. Mr Chan sits
on the governing or advisory bodies of several think-tanks and
universities, including the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology, the University of Southern California, USA, where he
received his MBA, and Tsinghua University in Beijing.

Mr Shang Shing Yin

Vice Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Aged 80, MrYin joined Hang Lung in 1970 and was appointed
to the Board of Hang Lung Properties Limited in 1980. A past
Managing Director, he has been Vice Chairman since 1992.

He has over 20 years of experience in the fields of property
investment and development, and is a qualified banker with

a Banking Diploma from The Chartered Institute of Bankers in
London, UK. MrYin also serves as Vice Chairman of Hang Lung
Group Limited.

Mr Philip Nan Lok Chen

Managing Director

Aged 55, Mr Chen joined the Company and its listed holding
company, Hang Lung Group Limited, as Managing Director in
July 2010. Mr Chen has more than 30 years of management
experience, mostly in the aviation industry, acquiring a wealth

of experience in Hong Kong, mainland China and beyond. Mr
Chen graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1977 with a
Bachelor of Arts degree and holds a Master's degree in Business
Administration from the same university.
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Mr Nelson Wai Leung Yuen
Non-Executive Director

Aged 60, MrYuen was appointed as a Non-Executive Director
in March 2011. He joined Hang Lung in 1978, became an
Executive Director of the Company in 1986, and was appointed
as Managing Director of the Company and its holding company,
Hang Lung Group Limited, in 1992. He held this position until
his retirement in July 2010. He is a graduate of the University
of Manchester, UK and a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr Ronald Joseph Arculli GBM, CVO, GBS, OBE, JP
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 72, Mr Arculli joined the Board in 1980. Mr Arculli is a
practicing solicitor and was a Member of the Legislative Council
of Hong Kong from 1988 to 2000, representing the Real Estate
and Construction functional constituency between 1991 and
2000. He was first appointed as a non-official member of the
Executive Council of the HKSAR in November 2005. He has

a distinguished record of public service and has served on
numerous government committees and advisory bodies. Mr
Arculli is the Independent Non-Executive Chairman of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of SCMP Group Limited and a Non-Executive Director
of HKR International Limited, Power Assets Holdings Limited
(previously “Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited”), Hutchison
Harbour Ring Limited, Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited, Sino Land
Company Limited and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited.
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Dr Hon Kwan Cheng GBS, OBE, JP
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 84, Dr Cheng joined the Group in 1993. Dr Cheng obtained
an engineering degree from Tianjin University and a post-
graduate diploma from Imperial College, London, UK, of which
he is a Fellow. He is a past President, Honorary Fellow and Gold
Medallist of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, Fellow of
the Hong Kong Academy of Engineering Sciences, and past

Vice President, Fellow and Gold Medallist of The Institution of
Structural Engineers, Fellow of The Institution of Civil Engineers,
UK, Honorary Fellow of The Institution of Engineers, Australia,
and an Authorized Person and Registered Structural Engineer in
Hong Kong, with a State Class 1 Registered Structural Engineer
qualification. Dr Cheng was a Member of both the Executive and
Legislative Councils and Chairman of the Hong Kong Housing
Authority. Dr Cheng is an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Wing Hang Bank, Limited, Agile Property Holdings Limited and
Tianjin Development Holdings Limited. He is also an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Hang Lung Group Limited.

Ms Laura Lok Yee Chen

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 63, Ms Chen joined Hang Lung in 1997 She has been
involved in the banking, real estate, and financial service
industries for over twenty years, both in Hong Kong and in

the USA. Since 1993, she has been a director of the Sterling
Group — a private investment entity managing investment
portfolios in global capital markets, with a special interest in
emerging markets and high-yield products. In recent years, her
professional career has made the transition into the development
and management of philanthropic programs and activities, and
she is currently the Executive Chair of the Hong Kong based
ZeShan Foundation. On a personal level, she serves on the
advisory councils of the Hopkins-Nanjing Center — a joint
program between the Johns Hopkins and Nanjing Universities,
the Asia Society Hong Kong Center, and numerous non-

profit organizations. Ms Chen holds an MBA from the George
Washington University in Washington, DC, USA, and a post-
graduate certificate in International Banking from the University
of Virginia, USA. Ms Chen is also an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Hang Lung Group Limited.
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Professor Pak Wai Liu sBs, JP
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 63, Professor Liu joined the Board as an Independent Non-
Executive Director in 1998. Educated at Princeton University

and Stanford University in the US, Professor Liu is Professor of
Economics and Director of the Institute of Global Economics and
Finance, and was formerly Pro-Vice-Chancellor of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He holds a number of positions related
to his field of study, including Director of the Economic Research
Centre of the Hong Kong Institute of Asia-Pacific Studies and was
a Distinguished Fulbright Scholar in 2000-01. Professor Liu serves
on many government advisory bodies. He is a member of the
Aviation Development Advisory Committee, the Commission on
Strategic Development, the Advisory Committee on Post-Office
Employment for former Chief Executives and Politically Appointed
Officials. He was a past member of the Independent Commission
on Remuneration for Members of the Executive Council and the
Legislature, and Officials under the Political Appointment System
of the HKSAR, the Provisional Minimum Wage Commission and
the Independent Commission on Remuneration for the Members
of the District Councils of the HKSAR. He is also a Director of
the Hong Kong Institute for Monetary Research, and was a Non-
Executive Director of the Securities and Futures Commission

and Chairman of its Remuneration Committee. He was awarded
the Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) in 1999, and appointed Justice of
Peace (JP) in 2006.

Mr Dominic Chiu Fai Ho

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 60, Mr Ho joined the Board as an Independent Non-
Executive Director in April 2008. Mr Ho retired as co-chairman of
KPMG, China and HKSAR on March 31, 2007 He obtained his
degrees at the University of Houston in the United States and is a
member of the American Institute of Accountants and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

He was a past member of the Corruption Prevention Advisory
Committee of the Independent Commission Against Corruption
and of the Insurance Advisory Committee, both in Hong Kong.
Mr Ho is also a Non-Executive and Independent Director of
Singapore Telecommunications Limited.
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Mr William Pak Yau Ko

Executive Director

Aged 52, Mr Ko joined the Group in 1994 as Senior Project
Manager and was promoted to Assistant Director in 2002.

He was appointed as an Executive Director in 2005 and is
responsible for property development and project management
both in Hong Kong and mainland China. He was also appointed
as an Executive Director of its holding company, Hang Lung
Group Limited, in February 2010. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree and a Bachelor of Architecture degree from the University
of Liverpool, UK. He also has an Executive MBA degree jointly
awarded by The Kellogg School of Management of Northwestern
University, USA and The School of Business and Management of
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. A Member
of the Royal Institute of British Architects and The Hong Kong
Institute of Architects, he is a Registered Architect both in the
United Kingdom and Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Mr
Ko practiced architecture in the United Kingdom, United States
and Hong Kong.

Mr Henry TzeYinYiu

Executive Director

Aged 57 MrYiu was appointed as an Executive Director in
February 2010. He joined the Group in 1986 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Project Development (China) in 2006. Mr
Yiu was appointed as General Manager — Jinan in 2007 and was
promoted to Assistant Director — Project Development in 2009,
responsible for property development and project management
in mainland China. He possesses over 20 years of experience in
project management.

Mr Hau Cheong Ho

Executive Director

Aged 51, Mr Ho joined the Group in 2008 as Assistant Director
— Finance & Administration. He was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and of its holding company, Hang Lung
Group Limited, in September 2010. He possesses over 20 years
of financial management experience, having previously held a
range of senior positions with major corporations in the United
Kingdom, Australia and Hong Kong. He holds an MBA from The
University of Melbourne, Australia and a Bachelor of Commerce
degree in Accounting from The University of Birmingham, United
Kingdom. Mr Ho qualified as a chartered accountant in England in
1986 and Australia in 1987
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Ms Bella Peck Lim Chhoa

Company Secretary, General Counsel and
Assistant Director — Corporate Affairs

Aged 41, Ms Chhoa joined the Group as Company Secretary,
General Counsel and Assistant Director — Corporate Affairs on
August 24, 2011. She is a solicitor qualified to practice in Hong
Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Chhoa was head of the legal
department and company secretary of two other companies
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for a number
of years. She graduated from The University of Hong Kong with

a degree in law in 1993. She also has a Master of Business
Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong.

Mr Henry Kam Ling Cheung

Assistant Director — Leasing & Management

Aged 55, Mr Cheung joined the Group as an Executive Assistant
in 1983. He has worked in the Leasing and Management Division
since 1984 and was promoted to Senior Property Manager in
1994. Mr Cheung was appointed Assistant Director in 2006.

He has a Bachelor's degree in Economics from the University

of Victoria, Canada, and an MBA degree from Southern lllinois
University, USA.

Mr Roy Poon Kwong Ho

Assistant Director — Leasing & Management (China)

Aged 60, Mr Ho joined the Group in 1992 as Property Manager,
and has been responsible for projects, leasing and property
management in mainland China since 1993. He was appointed
Assistant Director in 2005. Mr Ho holds a Doctorate from the
University of the Pacific, USA.

Mr Chuk Fai Kwan

Assistant Director — Corporate Communications

Aged 52, Mr Kwan joined the Group as Assistant Director —
Corporate Communications in April 2011. Mr Kwan possesses
over 20 years of public relations and corporate affairs experience.
He holds an Executive MBA degree from The University of
Western Ontario and a Bachelor of Arts degree from The
University of Hong Kong.
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Mr Moses Woon Tim Leung
Assistant Director — Project Development

Aged 44, Mr Leung joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Project Development in 2007 and was appointed Assistant
Director in February 2011. He possesses over 20 years of
experience in project design with various consultant firms and
exposure in Mainland projects. Mr Leung holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Architectural Studies and a Bachelor of Architecture
degree from The University of Hong Kong. He is a Registered
Architect in Hong Kong, a Member of The Hong Kong Institute

of Architects and an Authorized Person under the Buildings
Ordinance.

Mr Gavin Yee Liang Lu

Assistant Director — Project Development

Aged 50, Mr Lu joined the Group as Assistant Director —
Project Development in 2010. Mr Lu possesses over 25 years
of experience in architectural design and project management
with major property developers and leading consultants. He
has extensive exposure in property development and property
management in the Asia Pacific region. Mr Lu has a Bachelor of
Science degree in Architecture and a Bachelor of Architecture
degree from The University of Newcastle, Australia. He is a
Registered Architect in Singapore, a Member of The Royal
Institute of British Architects and a Member of Singapore
Institute of Architects.

Mr Raymond Wai Man Mak

Assistant Director and Group Financial Controller

Aged 47 Mr Mak joined the Group as Assistant Director and
Group Financial Controller in July 2011. Mr Mak possesses over
20 years of finance, auditing and company secretary experience.
He holds a Master of Business Administration degree from The
University of Warwick, UK. He is a Certified Public Accountant of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow
Member of Chartered Association of Certified Accountants, UK.
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Mr Oliver Chun Tien

Assistant Director — Project Development

Aged 46, MrTien joined the Group as General Manager — \Wuxi
in 2007 and was appointed Assistant Director in February 2011.
He possesses over 20 years of experience in project design

and management with various consultant firms and developers,
including exposure in management of Mainland projects. Mr
Tien holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Architectural Studies and
a Bachelor of Architecture degree from The University of Hong
Kong. He is a Registered Architect in Hong Kong, a Member

of the Royal Institute of British Architects and The Hong Kong
Institute of Architects. MrTien is also an Authorized Person under
the Buildings Ordinance.

Mr William Yu Qiang Wang

Assistant Director

Aged 56, Mr Wang joined The Grand Gateway, Shanghai, in

1993 as Deputy General Manager. He was appointed Director of
Shanghai Kong Kui Property Development Co., Ltd. in 2003, and
was nominated Board Chairman and General Manager in 2005.
Mr Wang was promoted to Assistant Director in 2009. He is a
graduate of the Economics Faculty in Zhong Gong Zhong Yang
Dang Xiao and a qualified accountant accredited by the Ministry
of Finance People’'s Republic of China. Mr Wang has been
appointed as a Committee Member of the Shanghai Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and Committee
Member of two designated districts of the Shanghai Municipal
People’'s Congress (Standing Committee) for several years, and is
now a Committee Member of the Shanghai Xuhui District of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr William Wing Chung Yiu

Assistant Director — Corporate Audit

Aged 41, MrYiu joined the Group as Assistant Director —
Corporate Audit in April 2011. MrYiu possesses over 15 years of
Finance, Internal Audit and PRC taxation experience. He holds
a Master of Business Administration degree from the California
State University, Hayward, USA, and a Bachelor of Economics
degree from Monash University, Australia. He is a Certified
Practising Accountant of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants, an Associate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and Member of The Institute of
Internal Auditors.
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Ms Joanne Yuen Man Chan
Deputy General Manager — Grand Gateway 66

Aged 42, Ms Chan joined the Group in 2010 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Leasing & Management in January

2011. In February 2011, she was appointed as Deputy General
Manager — Grand Gateway 66. Ms Chan has a Bachelor of
Social Sciences degree from The University of Hong Kong and a
Diploma in Surveying from The University of Reading, UK. She is
a Registered Professional Surveyor in Hong Kong, a Professional
Member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a
Member of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

Mr Paul Wan Po Chan

Senior Manager — Finance

Aged 39, Mr Chan joined the Group as Senior Manager in May
2011. Mr Chan possesses 17 years of auditing and financial
management experience. He holds a Master of Accounting
degree from Curtin University of Technology in Australia and

a Bachelor of Business Administration degree (Professional
Accountancy) from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is
a Member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, and also a Fellow Member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr Peter Ka Wai Ho

Senior Manager — Project Development

Aged 50, Mr Ho joined the Group in 1996 and was promoted to
Senior Manager — Project Development in February 2011. Mr Ho
possesses over 25 years of experience in project management
for both Hong Kong and Mainland projects. He holds a Master
of Science degree in Building Services Engineering from

Brunel University, UK, and a Bachelor of Engineering degree in
Mechanical Engineering from The Polytechnic of Central London,
UK.

Mr Desmond Chun Cheong Lai

Senior Manager — Internal Audit

Aged 54, Mr Lai joined the Group in 1988 as Chief Accountant.
He assumed a senior executive position of Grand Hotel Group
Limited in 1992. In 2003, Mr Lai was transferred to Hang Lung
Properties Limited as Senior Manager — Internal Audit. He has a
Bachelor’s degree in Commerce from the University of Western
Australia, and is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a CPA of CPA Australia.
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Ms Mina Pou Lam Lai
Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 57 Ms Lai joined the Group in 1995 as Corporate Services
Manager. She was appointed as Central Purchasing Manager

in 2003 and was promoted to Senior Manager in January

2007 Ms Lai was appointed as Senior Manager — Leasing

& Management in September 2007. She holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Leicester,
UK.

Mr Shiu Wo Lam

Senior Manager — Project Development

Aged 51, Mr Lam joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Project Development in 2007 Mr Lam possesses over 30 years
of experience in mechanical and electrical design and project
management with consultant firm. He also gained exposure

in development projects in PRC. He holds a Bachelor of
Engineering degree in Building Services Engineering from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a Chartered Engineer
and Registered Professional Engineer. He is a Member of

The Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers, UK,
American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air Conditioning
Engineers, Inc, USA, and The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.
He is also a LEED Accredited Professional in Building Design and
Construction.

Mr John Lap Yan Lau

Senior Manager — Project Development

Aged 50, Mr Lau joined the Group as Senior Manager in May
2011. Mr Lau possesses 20 years of project management
experience in Mainland and Hong Kong. He holds a Master of
Architecture degree and a Bachelor of Environmental Studies
degree from The University of Manitoba, Canada. He is a
Registered Architect in Hong Kong; a Member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Architects and an Authorized Person under the
Buildings Ordinance.

Ms Betty Shuk Man Law

Senior Manager — Corporate Communications

Aged 39, Ms Law joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Corporate Communications in April 2011. Ms Law possesses
17 years of corporate communications and media relations
experience. She holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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Ms Sabrina Wei Man Law

Senior Manager — Project Development

Aged 45, Ms Law joined the Group as Senior Manager — Project
Development in March 2011. Ms Law possesses over 20 years
of experience in project design and management with various
consultant firms and developer. She holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, a Bachelor of Arts degree in Architecture and

a Postgraduate Diploma in Architecture from The University

of Manchester and University College London, UK. She is a
Registered Architect in Hong Kong and a Member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Architects. She also holds a PRC Class 1
Registered Architect Qualification.

Mr Andrew Chee Man Lee

Senior Manager — Finance

Aged 52, Mr Lee joined the Group in 2008 as Senior Manager —
Finance. He possesses over 26 years of experience in finance
and has exposure in the commercial sector. Mr Lee holds a
Master of Arts degree from The University of Lancaster, UK, a
Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London, UK,
and a Bachelor of Law degree from Tsinghua University, PRC.
He is also a Member of Canadian Certified General Accountants
Association of Hong Kong, a Fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, an Associate of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an Associate of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and an Associate of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants.

Ms Christina Yiu Chee Leung

Head of Human Resources and Training

Aged 42, Ms Leung joined the Group in 2010 as Head of
Human Resources and Training. She possesses over 19 years
of experience in human resources. Ms Leung holds a Master of
Management degree in Human Resources Management from
Macquarie University, Australia, and a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Hotel & Restaurant Administration from Washington State
University, USA.
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Mr Gilbert Tak Wai Li

Deputy Financial Controller — Plaza 66

Aged 47 Mr Li joined the Group as Deputy Financial Controller
— Plaza 66 in March 2011. Mr Li possesses over 20 years of
auditing and financial management experience. He holds a
Master of Business Administration degree from the University of
Wiales, UK, and a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in
Accounting from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is a Member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and \Wales,
a Fellow of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,

UK, and a Member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr Charles Tong Liong Lui

Senior Manager — Project Development

Aged 57 Mr Lui joined the Group in 1994 and was promoted to
Senior Manager — Project Development in February 2011. Mr Lui
possesses over 32 years of experience in project management
for both Hong Kong and Mainland projects. He holds a Bachelor
of Engineering degree from McMaster University, Canada, and is
a Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr Alden Wing Yuen Poon

Head of Information Technology

Aged 49, Mr Poon joined the Group in August 2011 as Head

of Information Technology. He possesses over 25 years

of information technology management and development
experience. He holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from Henley Business School, UK. He is a Chartered IT
Professional Member of The British Computer Society.

Mr Eric Wing Hong Szeto

Senior Manager — Project Development

Aged 42, Mr Szeto joined the Group in 1992 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Marketing in 2004. He was appointed

as Senior Manager — Project Development in 2010. Mr Szeto
possesses over 19 years of experience in project development
and property sales and marketing. He holds a Bachelor's degree
in Economics from the University of Western Ontario, Canada, a
Master's degree in Information Systems from the City University
of Hong Kong and a Postgraduate Diploma in Surveying (Real
Estate Development) from The University of Hong Kong. Mr
Szeto serves as a Member of the Legal Sub-Committee of The
Real Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong.
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Ms Iris Siu Wai Tsui

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management (China)

Aged 39, Ms Tsui joined the Group in 2001 and was promoted
to Manager — Leasing & Management (China) in 2006. In 2008,
she was appointed Senior Manager — Leasing & Management
(China). Ms Tsui possesses over 18 years of experience in
property development and leasing & management in Hong Kong
and mainland China.

Ms Ella Hoi Yan Wong

Senior Manager — Project Development

Aged 38, Ms Wong joined the Group in 2006 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Project Development in March 2011. Ms
Wong holds a Master of Science degree in Project Management
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, a Master of
Architecture degree and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Architectural
Studies from The University of Hong Kong. She is a Registered
Architect in Hong Kong, a Member of The Hong Kong Institute

of Architects and an Authorized Person under the Buildings
Ordinance. She is also a LEED Accredited Professional in Building
Design and Construction.

Ms Passy Wai Chung Wong

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 37 Ms Wong joined the Group in 2003 and was promoted
to Manager in 2005. In 2010, she was appointed Senior Manager
— Leasing & Management. Ms Wong has a Bachelor of Social
Science degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a
Master of Science degree in Real Estate and a Postgraduate
Diploma in Surveying (Real Estate Development) from The
University of Hong Kong. She is a Professional Member of The
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a Member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

Mr Ronald Kam Fai Yan
Deputy General Manager — Plaza 66

Aged 49, MrYan joined the Group as Assistant Property
Manager in 1994 and was promoted to Property Manager in
2002. In 2006, he was appointed Senior Manager — Leasing &
Management and in February 2011, he was appointed as Deputy
General Manager — Plaza 66. Mr Yan has a Master of Social
Science degree in Housing Policy & Practice from the University
of Birmingham, UK.
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Ms Cora Yuet Ngor Yiu

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 48, Ms Yiu joined the Group in 1990 and was promoted to
Property Manager in 2001. In 2008, she was appointed Senior
Manager — Leasing & Management. Ms Yiu has a Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Leicester,
UK and a Bachelor of Science degree in Estate Management
from The University of Reading, UK.

Ms Yun Zhang

Senior Manager — Legal & Secretarial

Aged 36, Ms Zhang joined the Group in 2008 as Senior Manager
— Legal & Secretarial. Ms Zhang possesses over 12 years of
experience in the PRC legal field. She holds a Master’s degree
in Law and a Bachelor of Law degree from the Fudan University,
Shanghai. Ms Zhang is qualified as a Lawyer by the Ministry of
Justice of PRC since 1998.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with
the audited Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2011.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding, and
through its subsidiaries, property investment for rental income,
property development for sales and leasing, car park management
and property management.

An analysis of the turnover and trading results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) by operating
segments during the financial year is set out in Note 3 on the
Financial Statements.

Principal Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities
A list of principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, together
with their places of operations and incorporation and particulars of
their issued share capital/registered capital, is set out in Notes 36
and 37 on the Financial Statements.

Financial Results

The profit of the Group for the year ended June 30, 2011, and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set
out in the Financial Statements on pages 156 to 222.

Ten-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last ten financial years is set out on page 223 of the
annual report.

Dividends

The directors now recommend a final dividend of HK54 cents per
share which, together with the interim dividend of HK17 cents per
share paid on February 24, 2011, makes a total of HK71 cents per
share in respect of the year ended June 30, 2011. The proposed final
dividend, if approved by the shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting on October 18, 2011, will be paid on November 3, 2011 to
shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members on
October 24, 2011.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, both the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's b largest suppliers combined and the percentage of turnover
or sales attributable to the Group's b largest customers combined
were less than 30% of the total purchases and turnover or sales of
the Group respectively.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 23 on the Financial Statements.

Donations
Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$18
million (2010: HK$42 million).

Fixed Assets
Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out in
Note 11 on the Financial Statements.

Bank Loans
Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at June 30, 2011 are set
out in Note 18 on the Financial Statements.

Borrowing Costs Capitalization
Borrowing costs capitalized by the Group during the year amounted
to HK$152 million (2010: HK$187 million).

Major Group Properties
Details of major properties of the Group as at June 30, 2011 are set
out on pages 70 to 75 of the annual report.

Share Capital

During the year, 18,782,500 (2010: 13,519,000) fully paid shares of
HK$1.00 each were issued for total consideration of HK$335,112,060
(2010: HK$137,355,880) as a result of the exercise of share options
under the Company’s share option scheme. As at the date of this
report, the total number of shares available for issue under the share
option scheme is 99,003,390 shares, representing 2.21% of the
issued share capital of the Company. The total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of options (including both
exercised and outstanding) granted to each participant shall not
exceed in any 12-month period 1% of shares of the Company in
issue.
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On November 5, 2010, Hang Lung Group Limited (“"HLGL"), the
controlling shareholder of the Company, and the Company entered
into a placing and top-up arrangement whereas HLGL placed
293,864,000 the then existing shares of the Company at a price of
HK$37.48 per share (the “Placing Price”) to independent professional,
institutional and/or individual investors and subsequently subscribed
for 293,864,000 new shares of the Company at the Placing Price.
The Placing Price represented a discount of about 7% to the closing
price of HK$40.30 per share on November 4, 2010. Net proceeds

of HK$10.90 billion were raised for future expansions in mainland
China.

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 22 on the Financial Statements.

Directors

The directors of the Company as at the date of this report are listed

on page 224 and their brief biographical details are set out on pages
130 to 134 of the annual report. Details of their remuneration are set
out in Note 6 on the Financial Statements.

MrTerry S. Ng resigned as executive director of the Company and
HLGL (its publicly listed holding company) with effect from July 21,
2010.

Mr Philip N.L. Chen and Mr H.C. Ho were appointed executive
directors of the Company and HLGL on July 15, 2010 and
September 29, 2010 respectively, and retired and were re-elected at
the 2010 Annual General Meetings of the Company and HLGL.

Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen retired as executive director of the Company
and HLGL on July 14, 2010 and was appointed as non-executive
director of the Company on March 15, 2011. Being director of the
Company appointed after the 2010 Annual General Meeting, Mr Yuen
retires from the Board at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting in
accordance with Article 94 of the Company's Articles of Association
and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

In accordance with Articles 103 and 104 of the Company'’s Articles
of Association, Mr S.S.Yin, Dr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura Chen and Prof
PW. Liu retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

The appointments of non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors are for specific terms (not exceeding 3 years)
which coincide with their expected dates of retirement by rotation
in accordance with the provisions of the Company's Articles of
Association.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company,

its holding company or any of their subsidiaries which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company, its holding company or any of their subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a director of the Company was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time
during the year or at the end of the year.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at June 30, 2011, the interests or short positions of each of

the directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO")) which were
required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers or which were recorded in the register required to be kept

SORBIAT by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO are as follows:
AN7F (HER) EESEERAR (#8)
The Company (Long Position) Hang Lung Group Limited (Long Position)
BE(T IRIEEE BE(T IRIEEE
BAZ  FIREZRE BAZ  FIREZRE
Bt (KizE1) Bt (KizF2)
ROEE % of No.of Shares  RIHER % of  No. of Shares
Name of No. of Issued  under Option No. of Issued  under Option
EEHZ 0 Directors Capacity Shares Capital (Note 1) Shares Capital (Note 2)
BRENR fAA Ronnie C. Chan  Personal - - 36,570,000 - - 11,790,000
BmE - S.S.Yin - - - = - - =
PRRE AA Philip N.L. Chen  Personal - - 14,500,000 - - -
RIEER AA Nelson W.L. Yuen  Personal - - 24,320,000 = = =
B AR Ronald J. Arculli  Personal & 724,346 0.02 - 1,089,975 0.08 -
UNE] Corporate
eSS - H.K. Cheng = - - _ _ _ _
PRE44 - LauraLY.Chen - - = - - = -
BiE EAR PW. Liu Personal & 100,000 - - - - -
B Family
e - Dominic CEHo - - - - - - _
=R A William PY. Ko Personal - - 25,730,000 30,000 - 994,000
HhTE BA Henry TY. Yiu Personal - - 7,600,000 170,000 0.01 50,000
BE2= fAA H.C. Ho Personal - - 5,600,000 - - -
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1. REXRARAZROBESBNDESS

Movements of Options under the Share Option Scheme of the Company

IRARERE AT R0 2 AR EX
No. of Shares under Option SRTEE
A R20105  FREH FRTE W20114F (B%) HERS Bl
(R/B /%) 7R18 Granted  Exercised 6H308 Exercise Pice (B /B /%) (R/B/%)
Date Granted As at during during As at per Share  Vested Dates Expiry Date
(mm/dd/yyyy) HE Name July 1, 2010 the Year the Year  June 30, 2011 (HKS)  (mm/ddfyyyy) (mm/dd/yyyy)
05/20/2004 BT Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 - - 5,090,000 $9.20  05/20/2005 : 26%  05/19/2014
={RE William PY. Ko 1,330,000 - - 1,330,000 05/20/2006 : 25%
PFE Henry TY. Yiu 200,000 - - 200,000 05/20/2007 : 25%
05/20/2008 : 25%
09/01/2005 Pt (s William PY. Ko 500,000 = = 500,000 $12.35  09/01/2006 : 25%  08/31/2015
09/01/2007 : 25%
09/01/2008 : 25%
09/01/2009 : 25%
11/14/2006 BFE Henry T.Y. Yiu 500,000 - - 500,000 $16.75  11/14/2007 : 10%  11/13/2016
11/14/2008 : 20%
11/14/2009 : 30%
11/14/2010 : 40%
11/20/2006 FRER Ronnie C. Chan 2,000,000 = = 2,000,000 $1714  11/20/2007 : 10%  11/19/2016
=Rl William PY. Ko 3,700,000 - - 3,700,000 11/20/2008 : 20%
11/20/2009 : 30%
11/20/2010 : 40%
08/21/2007 6 Ronnie C. Chan 3,640,000 - - 3,640,000 $25.00 08/21/2008 : 10%  08/20/2017
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 3,510,000* = = 3,510,000 08/21/2009 : 20%
=i{RE William PY. Ko 2,600,000 - - 2,600,000 08/21/2010 : 30%
08/21/2011 : 40%
08/21/2007 BRER Ronnie C. Chan 5,600,000 - = 5,600,000 $25.00 08/21/2009: 10%  08/20/2017
RiER Nelson W.L. Yuen 5,400,000% - - 5,400,000 08/21/2010 ; 20%
={RE William PY. Ko 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 08/21/2011 : 30%
08/21/2012 : 40%
08/18/2008 o S Henry TY. Yiu 150,000 - - 150,000 $23.72 08/18/2010: 10%  08/17/2018
08/18/2011 : 20%
08/18/2012 : 30%
08/18/2013 : 40%
09/01/2008 BEa=1 H.C. Ho 300,000¢ - = 300,000 $24.20 09/01/2010: 10%  08/31/2018
09/01/2011 : 20%
09/01/2012 : 30%
09/01/2013 : 40%
12/31/2008 R Ronnie C. Chan 9,240,000 - - 9,240,000 $1736  12/31/2010: 10%  12/30/2018
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 8,910,000* = = 8,910,000 12/31/2011 : 20%
={RE William PY. Ko 6,600,000 = = 6,600,000 12/31/2012 : 30%
HTE Henry TY. Yiu 300,000 - - 300,000 12/31/2013 : 40%
EE==] H.C. Ho 300,000¢ - - 300,000
02/08/2010 BT Ronnie C. Chan 6,500,000 - - 6,500,000 $26.46  02/08/2012: 10%  02/07/2020
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 6,500,000% = = 6,500,000 02/08/2013 : 20%
={RE William PY. Ko 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 02/08/2014 : 30%
HFE Henry T. Yiu 3,450,000 - - 3,450,000 02/08/2015 : 40%
07/29/2010 B Philip N.L. Chen - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 $33.06 07/29/2012: 10%  07/28/2020
07/29/2013 : 20%
07/29/2014 : 30%
07/29/2015 : 40%
09/29/2010 BE=S] H.C. Ho - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 $36.90 09/29/2012: 10%  09/28/2020
09/29/2013 : 20%
09/29/2014 : 30%
09/29/2015 : 40%
06/13/2011 BRER Ronnie C. Chan — 4,500,000 = 4,500,000 $30.79  06/13/2013:10%  06/12/2021
PRRE4% Philip N.L. Chen - 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 06/13/2014 : 20%
={RE William PY. Ko - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06/13/2015 : 30%
hTFE Henry TY. Yiu - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06/13/2016 : 40%
[EE2= H.C. Ho - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
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2. REBESEFRIRAZROMETBOHESS
Movement of Options under the Share Option Scheme of Hang Lung Group Limited

AR R 208 2 AR

) No. of Shares under Option ERTEE
Rt A 120105 FRITHE 120114 (&%) SEBEH FE8A
(B/B/%) 7A18 Exercised 68308  Exercise Pice (A /8 /%) (A/B/%)
Date Granted As at during As at Per Share  Vested Dates Expiry Date
(mm/dd/yyyy) 4 Name July 1, 2010 the Year June 30, 2011 (HKS)  (mm/ddfyyyy) (mmy/dd/yyyy)
05/20/2004 BRECR Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 - 5,090,000 $9.45 05/20/2005:25% 05/19/2014

={BE William RY. Ko 494,000 - 494,000 05/20/2006 : 25%

hrE Henry TY. Yiu 50,000 - 50,000 05/20/2007 : 25%

05/20/2008 : 25%

11/20/2006 FRAR Ronnie C. Chan 6,700,000 - 6,700,000 $20.52  11/20/2007 : 10%  11/19/2016

SiRE William PY. Ko 500,000 - 500,000 11/20/2008 : 20%

11/20/2009 : 30%
11/20/2010 : 40%

Mt
Remarks

*ORDRERAER-ZE-—F=ZATER (KRREABZEIR/EADRIZIFNTES) FrisH 2 B -
representing the outstanding share options held by Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen on March 15, 2011 as he was appointed as non-executive director of the
Company on that date.

# WHMEELER-_ZT—TFAATIA (BREBBZEARRARIZHITES) FIsE 2 H% -
representing the outstanding share options held by Mr H.C. Ho on September 29, 2010 as he was appointed as executive director of the Company on that
date.

RERFAEN-_ZE-ZELATHARERAARINEREE HITES - R ZF LA - AREZRIREES - BISERNEPE  ARE=FTZ—1
—ERARRRTARTBRIEEEE KRG

Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen retired as executive director of the Company and HLGL on July 14, 2010. As at July 1, 2010 and up to his date of retirement, he had share
options to subscribe for 30,120,000 shares in the Company and 5,500,000 shares in HLGL.

RITEEN_E—ZFL A+ —HREARAREREE HITES - R_E—SFLA-AREERIEMIAE  REARGOEE  TRE_T=8N
TERARRR=ZAZNENTREEER ZRKRH

MrTerry S. Ng resigned as executive director of the Company and HLGL on July 21, 2010. As at July 1, 2010 and up to his date of resignation, he had share
options to subscribe for 23,800,000 shares in the Company and 3,088,000 shares in HLGL.

ZEARNR ARG B R B B AN IS AR IR =\ (0) A ©

Such interests in share options of the Company have been included in Note 28(b) on the Financial Statements.

BRUAEFTIREESN  WEAANBESSHM  Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of the Company or
L7 AMBMEAN_ZE——F,XA=1 any of their associates had, as at June 30, 2011, any interests or

BB ARRQ A S E A BHE®E 2 &{) - short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
FERARR DS ERE R 2R BOA R - Company or any associated corporations.

B A EFTai sl - AEAREMER - &K  Other than as stated above, at no time during the year was the

A EERARSEEAHEATE  Company, its holding company or any of their subsidiaries a party to
EHEMZHEARRNRIESE (B1EKSE  any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company (including
ZERERARTN\R2ZTr) Al#E A their spouses and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits
AN FISE A E A 18 2 IR sl E4EZE by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the

iz o Company or any other body corporate.
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TERFRREMALTARD KM Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
BAROZEERKE Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares
BEEFEHE=ZE=TNIEHREEAT AsatJune 30, 2011, details of substantial shareholders’ and other
WEZERMATRE - TERERGKE  persons’ (who are required to disclose their interests pursuant to
BHIGOIEXVERBFEEER 2 Hitb A Part XV of the SFO) interests and short positions in the shares
TR -E——FNA=1tHEABAARRQAE andunderlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
2 RABBERR D 2 RS LA KK B 25 required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:
BT

AR SRR #E

No. of Shares or BEITRAZBDL
Underlying Shares Held % of Issued Capital
lioEz3 (#78) (%E) (17%) (%E)
ZiE Name Note  (Long Position)  (Short Position)  (Long Position) ~ (Short Position)
FREES Chan Tan Ching Fen 1 2,225,643,670 - 49.77 =
Cole Enterprises Cole Enterprises 1 2,225,643,670 - 49.77 -
Holdings Limited Holdings Limited
Merssion Limited Merssion Limited 1 2,225,643,670 - 49.77 -
BEREERAR Hang Lung Group Limited ~ 2 2,197,310,570 - 49.13 -
BREERAF Prosperland Housing 3 1,267,608,690 = 30.60 =
Limited
Purotat Limited Purotat Limited 3 354,227,500 - 8.55 -
JPMorgan Chase & Co. JPMorgan Chase & Co. 4 223,578,933 4,437,504 5.00 0.10
MEE
Notes

1. WERME—ETESMIBAZRN BR—HRY - REES LT AZETEES ZKIUA © Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited 855t 8 & 2 X5
A © Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited&Merssion LimitedfFABESEBE S 2=+ 2 i#Em - BREEEREMBARMEEZROBEBEE it
B TREATRE=TAELtTREOZHER -

These shares were the same parcel of shares held by a trust of which Ms Chan Tan Ching Fen was the founder. Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited
was the trustee of the trust. Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited and Merssion Limited held 37% interests in HLGL. The shares held by HLGL and its
subsidiaries were included in the above-mentioned number of 2,225,643,670.

2. EEEEEEARENBAREREARARMFEEZ T ZEBATEEATENTAENATRR®D « Purotat LimitedFiHBEZ=EATHA=-T=-8
tFRERRG  AREMMBARMBEZREELtTREN+EENT =8 \+RBRGHFHEG#ES -
HLGL was deemed to be interested in the shareholdings held by its subsidiaries, namely 1,267608,690 shares held by Prosperland Housing Limited,
354,227500 shares held by Purotat Limited, and 575,474,380 shares held by other subsidiaries.

3. EBEBRARMFEZ T ZEATEERTENTFNEATREM KPurotat LimitediFAEZ=EATRNE -+ Bt THEBRRGHEREE Lt
HEREEMPBEZ T —EBATLtE=T—ETHEE Lt TRROZHEER -
The 1,267,608,690 shares held by Prosperland Housing Limited and the 354,227500 shares held by Purotat Limited were included in the above-mentioned
number of 2,197310,570 shares held by HLGL.

4. BENAT_BE=1tBZATLEN+ZRAIHELNOKRN - WEROTIAREEESHIFE -
It included 92,305,742 shares in the lending pool. These shares were held in the capacity of investment manager.

BRUAERTIREBREI  WZZT——F/XH Save as disclosed above, as at June 30, 2011, no other interest
=+H ARAWEEMSEMEME required to be recorded in the register kept under Section 336 of the
o MABARLHERBEESGOIE =B=  SFO has been notified to the Company.
THRIGHREATEEFZELMA -
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in
the usual course of business are set out in Note 29 on the Financial
Statements. None of these related party transactions constitutes

a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Management Contracts

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered
into or existed during the year.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at
the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance

The Company's corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 109 to 127 of the annual
report.

Auditors

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the
Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting is
to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board
Velencia Lee

Company Secretary
Hong Kong, July 29, 2011
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Hang Lung Properties Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Lung Properties Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together “the Group”) set out on pages 156 to 222, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
30 June 2011, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation

of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation

of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11 1563
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group

as at 30 June 2011 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the

year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince's Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

29 July 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

HZE—-ZT——F,XA=1HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2011

2011 2010
MI=E (&E7))
B HETtE in HK$ million Note (Restated)
=X Turnover 3(a) 5,164 12,057
E MU A Other income 4 231 35
BEAAREEER Direct costs and operating expenses (968) (3,075)
TBER Administrative expenses (512) (456)
Rt AEMHEZ A FE Operating profit before change in fair value of
BER L ERF investment properties 3,915 8,561
$OE e > N (ERE Increase in fair value of investment properties 11 3,349 21,234
BEtAREME 2 A TE Operating profit after change in fair value of
EEHEFERT investment properties 7264 29,795
B 1% & A Finance costs 5 (93) (47)
FE(EE & AR & A Share of profits of jointly controlled entities 13 98 192
BREE AT & A Profit before taxation 3(a@) & 5 7.269 29,940
18 Taxation 7(a) (1,028) (4,983)
RE R T Profit for the year 6,241 24,957
JEAGAEF - Attributable to:
A% ER Shareholders 23 5,792 23,561
el Non-controlling interests 24 449 1,396
6,241 24,957
R ZF Earnings per share 10(a)
EZIN Basic $1.33 $5.68
e Diluted $1.31 $5.61

MG RM DA BI®EX 2 —25 ©  The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
FRRREEREFFSIRMIFES © Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 9.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE-ZT——F,XH=1HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2011

2011 2010

b (E5)

B EEITTE in HK$ million Note (Restated)

AEERA Profit for the year 6,241 24,957

Hib2mEka Other comprehensive income 7(d)

BME NGB A RREEA Exchange difference arising from translation of

ZIERER overseas subsidiaries 2,726 237

REEEEMKSHALE Total comprehensive income for the year 8,967 25,194
EEEmEaSAE Total comprehensive income attributable to:

A% Shareholders 8,283 23,768

IR A Non-controlling interests 684 1,426

8,967 25,194

B RERM AP BERERZ — 8D

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZT——4F XA =1H At 30 June 2011

£ Group /A7) Company
201 2010 2009 201 2010
/ BizE (&31)) (E51))
AR BELE in HK$ million Note (Restated) (Restated)
FRBEE Non-current assets
BTEBE Fixed assets
REME Investment properties 85,918 80,965 62,766 - -
BRPRENE Investment properties under
development 21,524 15,326 7,570 - -
HEETEE Other fixed assets 204 163 124 - =
" 107,646 96,454 70,460 - =
EING 2 Interest in subsidiaries 12 - = = 63,375 35,225
é%ﬁﬁ?ﬁéé Interest in jointly controlled entities 13 991 934 805 - =
HipBE Other assets 14 865 3 4 - =
ﬁk%ﬁlﬁ BE Deferred tax assets 20(b) 32 25 45 - =
109,534 97416 71,314 63,375 35,225
REEE Current assets
BeRBRITER Cash and deposits with banks 15 27,202 11,635 8,931 1 2
FEUER T R EL b EUEY  Trade and other receivables 16 1,983 1,494 686 2 2
FEME Properties for sale 17 5,963 5,856 7,683 - -
35,148 18,884 17,300 3 4
RBEE Current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 18 4,500 1,480 = - =
JENBR R EMEMT Trade and other payables 19 3,430 3,076 2,028 19 7
S8 Taxation payable 20(a) 1,196 1,132 831 - -
:ggﬂﬁﬂﬂﬁz Floating rate notes due 2009 - = 1,500 - =
/? % T]EI{
9,126 5,688 4,359 19 7
REEE /(BfE) FE Net current assets/(liabilities) 26,022 13,196 12,941 (16) @)
BESERREEE Total assets less current liabilities 135,556 110,612 84,255 63,359 35,222
FRBER Non-current liabilities
RITES Bank loans 18 12,236 4,978 4,661 - =
BT A AIE Finance lease obligations 21 35 168 287 - -
FERB A B E Amounts due to subsidiaries - = - 20,987 1,739
EERIERRE Deferred tax liabilities 20(b) 8,361 7,679 4121 - -
20,632 12,825 9,069 20,987 1,739
BEERE NET ASSETS 114,924 97,787 75,186 42,372 33,483
ERR R Capital and reserves
AR Share capital 22 4,472 4,159 4,146 4,472 4,159
G Reserves 23 105,247 88,946 67,748 37,900 29,324
WS Shareholders’ equity 109,719 93,105 71,894 42,372 33,483
FEEiE e Non-controlling interests 24 5,205 4,682 3,292 - =
AR TOTAL EQUITY 114,924 97,787 75,186 42,372 33,483
PR = 4% Philip N.L. Chen
BEEAKE Managing Director
(EES= H.C. Ho
WITES Executive Director

_\_

B RS ERR s T ARBA SRk 2 — 29 o The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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AR B
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZE—-ZT——F,XA=1HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2011

TR #Ez Shareholders’ equity

FiEER
RA  HiukE  RmEE Non- ki
Share Other  Retained @%  controlling Total
capital reserves profits Total interests equity
Mz (E22)  (s23)  (Fif2s) (Fizt24)
N BETHE in HKS milion Note  (Note22)  (Note23)  (Note 23) (Note 24)
WZZEEAFLA—H - At1July 2009, as previously reported 4,146 25,471 38,421 68,038 3292 71,330
THEERS
SHERES Y E Impact of change in accounting policy 2 - - 3,856 3,856 - 3,856
RZZTNECA—H " At1July 2009, restated 4,146 25471 4277 71,894 3,292 75,186
]
AEREM (B31) Profit for the year (restated) 2 - - 23561 23,561 1,39 24,957
WEENIBATEE  Exchange difference arising from
ELVERER translation of overseas subsidiaries - 207 - 207 30 237
REFRAYEEE (Z5) Total comprehensive income for
the year (restated) - 207 23,561 23,768 1,426 25,194
FEERERE Final dividends in respect of
previous year - - 2,115) 2,115) - 2,15)
REEPHRE Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - (705) (705) - (705)
B Issue of shares 13 124 - 137 - 137
EEREER Employee share-based payments - 120 6 196 _ 1%
B 3EERERRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests = = = = 3 3
BETHEERESTE  Repayment to non-controlling interests = = = = (33) 33)
RZZE—ZFA=1H At30June 2010 4,159 25,922 63,024 93,105 4,682 97787
WZZ-ZFELA—H " At1July 2010, as previously reported 4,159 25,922 57863 87944 4,682 92,626
LEERE
SHHKED T E Impact of change in accounting policy 2 - - 5,161 5,161 . 5,161
WZZE-ZFELA—H" At1July 2010, restated 4,159 25,922 63,024 93,105 4,682 97787
]|
AEERH Profit for the year - - 5,792 5,792 449 6,241
WEENIBATERE  Exchange difference arising from
EEvEHER translation of overseas subsidiaries - 2,491 - 2,491 235 2,726
REERENG LS Total comprehensive income for the year - 2,491 5,792 8,283 684 8,967
EERRERE Final dividends in respect of
previous year - - (2,252) (2,252) - (2,252)
REEPHRE Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - (760) (760) - (760)
) Issue of shares 313 10919 - 11,232 - 11,232
EEWEER Employee share-based payments - 104 7 m - m
ENFHERERRS Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - - - - (5) (5)
BRTIEERIESTIE  Repayment to non-controlling interests - - - - (156) (156)
RZE——F5:A=TH At30June 2011 4,472 39,436 65,811 109,719 5,205 114,924

B RERM AP BERERZ — 8D
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HZE—-ZT——F,XA=1HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2011

FiaE
B EE T E in HK$ million Note 201 2010
RETEE Operating activities
RELEER RS Cash generated from operations 25 4,507 10,054
BEHIE Tax paid
BERNEBFIEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (235) (764)
AR B FTEHL China Income Tax paid (399) (367)
REKEEFH2HEFE  Net cash generated from operating
activities 3,873 8,923
REEE Investing activities
RERETEE Payment for fixed assets (6,316) (3,666)
HERTEEEMSHIA Sale proceeds from disposals of
fixed assets 1 =
BEFZIHAKE Purchase of held-to-maturity
investments (827) -
2 U F S Interest received 206 55
BEREERRIRE Dividends received from jointly
controlled entities 36 36
BENRIER Repayment from jointly controlled
entities 5 27
FLETIREEEER Repayment of advances to
unlisted investments 1 1
R=1E A &2 BrRTT Increase in bank deposits with
Rz Em maturity greater than three months (7,404) -
FARREEEH2HEEEE  Net cash used in investing activities (14,298) (3,547)
REEE Financing activities
EIRITERETE A Proceeds from new bank loans 11,743 6,456
BERTER Repayment of bank loans (1,480) (4,676)
TERR D BRREFT S 20 Proceeds from exercise of share
options 336 137
BLERD TS A Proceeds from placement of shares 10,896 =
ENFEREMEEEM  Interest and other borrowing costs
paid (255) (203)
ENRERNER Finance lease charges paid (17) (24)
BRRE Dividends paid (3,012) (2,820)
B IR R Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests (5) (3)
BI2 IR s 7R Repayment to non-controlling
interests (156) (33)
RER L 2 EARE D Capital element of finance lease (119) (106)
EER_TTNFE|H Repayment of floating rate notes
ZEEER due 2009 - (1,500)
R’E (AR BEZE Net cash generated from/(used in)
ZEE T financing activities 17,931 (2,772)
HERBELZEEY Increase in cash and cash
ZIEm equivalents 7506 2,604
ERgE 28 Effect of foreign exchange rate
change 757 -
RtA—HZBER Cash and cash equivalents
HEZEY at 1 July 11,535 8,931
RARBA=1THZEER Cash and cash equivalents
BeEEY at 30 June 15 19,798 11,635

MR TDAT B HREK 2 — 8D »
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA #E A 85(7) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

1 FESFHEE

(a) HEpHIZEH
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FERI) (THKASs ) k#E - BB AR
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Feo AEERAZEES BRI
T o
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ZHKFRSs o It EREAEREEB R AR
B AT 2 & 5T HARE 7 0A A Ak sk AT 4R B4R
B-RAVAEAELEANERFBENE
BRSIRENMATE BN ESTR
REBHENAMBHRERARRE - @A
BRI FE2 -

REBERTERIBIEHKAS 40 [HEY)
¥ U2FEARZEEMEMER
ZIREFLIE - IR FERAHKAS 12 (185
A) T3] (THKAS 12 (&1E5T) 1) °

B T ERAHKAS 12 (F&HEET) 4h - A&
B ERAENES g MM AL
MZFER - BT AKRE (2BNE
33) °

(b) MBHmRENEE
HE_Z——FRA=THILEFEZLH
EUBRREFARALEKE QA
(B [AEE]) RAKRERAE QA

2 -

BRINXFrsz st BRI B IEIN - B
BRRIGAE LKA DRBEE -

1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A
summiary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group
is set out below.

The HKICPA issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note 2 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial adoption
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

The Group has decided to early adopt the amendments to HKAS 12,
Income taxes ("HKAS 12 (amended)”), in respect of the recognition
of deferred tax on investment properties carried at fair value under
HKAS 40, Investment property.

Other than the adoption of HKAS 12 (amended), the Group has not
applied any new standard, amendments or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period (see note 33).

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group's interest in jointly controlled
entities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise stated in
the accounting policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 FESHEEX ®
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 31.

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are
exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions
and any unrealized profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

EEBLEARAR —T—T / ——F4R
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the net assets

of subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned by

the Company, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries,
and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in

the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controller and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the changes
in relative interest, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognized.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

(d) Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a
contractual arrangement between the Group or the Company and
other parties, where the contractual arrangement establishes that
the Group or the Company and one or more of the other parties
share joint control over the economic activity of the entity.

The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method
and are initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-
acquisition change in the Group’s share of the jointly controlled
entities’ net assets. The consolidated income statement includes the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the jointly
controlled entities for the year, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax items of the jointly controlled entities’ other
comprehensive income is recognized in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the

jointly controlled entity, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity. For this purpose,
the Group's interest in the jointly controlled entity is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method together with
the Group's long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the jointly controlled entity, except
where unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred, in which case they are recognized immediately in
profit or loss.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in
jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less impairment losses.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group’s share of the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses and
is tested regularly for impairment.

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of
a business combination is recognized immediately in profit or loss as
a gain on a bargain purchase.

On disposal of an entity, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Properties

1. Investment properties and investment properties under
development

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned

or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income and/or

for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently

undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or

developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated in the statement of financial
position at fair value, unless they are still in the course of
construction or development at the reporting date and their fair value
cannot be reliably determined at that time. Any gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognized in profit or loss. Rental income
from investment properties is accounted for as described in note
1(q).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the interest

is classified and accounted for as an investment property on a
property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which has
been classified as an investment property is accounted for as if it
were held under a finance lease, and the same accounting policies
are applied to that interest as are applied to other investment
properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments are
accounted for as described in note 1(g).

2. Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are classified under current
assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs
include the acquisition cost of land, aggregate cost of development,
borrowing costs capitalized and other direct expenses. Net realizable
value represents the estimated selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in selling the property.

3.  Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale are classified under current assets
and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is
determined by apportionment of the total development costs,
including borrowing costs capitalized, attributable to unsold
properties. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling
price as determined by reference to management estimates based
on prevailing market conditions, less costs to be incurred in selling
the property.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other fixed assets
1. Other fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses.

2. Leased assets

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

The classification is determined based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease. Leases of assets under
which the lessee assumes substantially all the risks and benefits

of ownership are classified as finance leases. Leases of assets
under which the lessor has not transferred all the risks and benefits
of ownership are classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property is classified as
an investment property on a property-by-property basis; and

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value
of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value
of a building situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is
accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the
building is also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease
was first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases,
the amounts representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, of such
assets are included in fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the cost or
valuation of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where
it is likely the Company or the Group will obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 1(h). Finance charges
implicit in the lease payments are charged to the income statement
over the period of the leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals are
written off as an expense of the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other fixed assets (Continued)

2. Leased assets (Continued)

(i) Operating leases charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to the
income statement in equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from
the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognized in the
income statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to the income
statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(h) Depreciation

1. Investment properties

No depreciation is provided for investment properties and
investment properties under development.

2. Other fixed assets

Depreciation on other fixed assets is calculated to provide so as to
write off the cost, less their estimated residual value, if any, on a
straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 50 years or unexpired lease term,
whichever is shorter

Furniture and equipment 4-20 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

(i) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets

with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity which the
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are initially recognized in the
statement of financial position at fair value plus transaction costs and
subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment loss. Any impairment loss is
recognized in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired.

Investments are recognized/derecognized on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j). Impairment of assets

An assessment is carried out at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence that a current or non-current
asset, other than properties carried at revalued amounts, is impaired.

If any such indication exists, any impairment loss is determined and
recognized as follows:

—  For current receivables carried at amortized cost, the
impairment loss is recognized when there is objective evidence
of impairment and measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective rate where the effect of discounting is material.
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Group about events that have
an impact on the asset’s estimated future cash flows such as
significant financial difficulty of the debtor. If in a subsequent
period the amount of impairment loss decreases, the
impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated income
statement. A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset's carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognized in prior years.

—  For other non-current assets, the recoverable amount is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use. An impairment
loss is recognized as an expense in the consolidated
income statement whenever the carrying amount exceeds
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favorable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of impairment
losses is limited to the asset's carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognized
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to
the income statement in the year in which the reversals are
recognized. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

(k) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost less impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts, except where the receivables are interest-free
loans or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such
cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses for
bad and doubtful debts.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any
difference between costs and redemption value being recognized
in the consolidated income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

(o) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying assets for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities

1. Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the

guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary

of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because

a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance

with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Company issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of
the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognized as deferred
income within trade and other payables. \Where consideration

is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognized in accordance with the Company’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. When no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognized in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred
income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognized as deferred income
is amortized in profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as
income from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions

are recognized in accordance with note 1(p)(2) if and when (i) it
becomes probable that the holder of guarantee will call upon the
company under the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on
the Company is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in
trade and other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount
initially recognized, less accumulated amortization.

2. Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group or the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. \When the time value of the
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities (Continued)
2. Other provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

(q) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognized in the income statement as
follows:

1. Sale of properties

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognized upon the
later of the signing of sale and purchase agreements or the issue
of occupation permit by the relevant government authorities, which
is taken to be the point in time when the risks and rewards of
ownership of the property have passed to the buyer.

2. Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognized on a straight
line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Lease incentives
granted are recognized in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payment receivable. Contingent rentals are
recognized as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

3. Interest income
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

4. Dividends
Dividends are recognized when the right to receive payment is
established.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated
income statement except to the extent that they relate to items
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,

and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilized, are recognized. The limited exceptions to recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profits, and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the
Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse
in the future.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Taxation (Continued)

When investment properties and investment properties under
development are carried at their fair value in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(f)(1), the amount of deferred tax
recognized is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through
sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognized

is measured based on the expected manner of realization or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
reporting date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilized. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends
are recognized when the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognized.

(s) Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency that best reflects the economic
substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to
the entity (“functional currency”). The financial statements of the
Group are presented in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Exchange
gains and losses are recognized in the income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair values are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the fair value was determined.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated in Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the reporting date. The resulting exchange differences
are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to consolidated income statement when the profit or
loss on disposal is recognized.

(t} Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered
to be related to the Group if:

() the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial and
operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(i) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent, or a close family member of such
an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;

(v)  the party is a close family member of a party referred to in
(i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the
benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the Group's internal financial reporting to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of the Group's various lines
of business and geographical locations. For disclosure purpose,

a reportable segment comprises either one or more operating
segments which can be aggregated together because they share
similar economic characteristics and nature of the regulatory
environment, or single operating segments which are disclosable
separately because they cannot be aggregated or they exceed
quantitative thresholds.

(v) Employee benefits

1. Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement schemes

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, the cost of non-

monetary benefits and obligation for contributions to defined

contribution retirement schemes, including those payables in

mainland China and Hong Kong under relevant legislation, are

accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by

employees of the Group.

2. Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is measured at
grant date, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted, and is expensed on a straight line basis
over the vesting period taking into account the probability that the
options will vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (employee
share-based compensation reserve).

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is charged/credited to
the consolidated income statement for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognized as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve).
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Employee benefits (Continued)

2.  Share-based payments (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the related
employee share-based compensation reserve is transferred to share
capital and share premium, together with the exercise price. If the
options expire or lapse after the vesting period, the related employee
share-based compensation reserve is transferred directly to retained
profits.

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs,
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations that are effective in
the current year. The issuance of HK(Int) 5, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification by the borrower of a term loan that
contains a repayment on demand clause, is relevant to the Group's
financial statements. However, the issuance of HK(Int) 5 has had
no material impact on the Group'’s financial statements as the
Interpretation’s conclusions were consistent with policies already
adopted by the Group.

The Group has not applied any new standard, amendments or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period, with the exception of HKAS 12 (amended), in respect of
the recognition of deferred tax on investment properties carried at
fair value under HKAS 40, Investment property. The amendments
are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2012, but as permitted by the amendments, the Group has decided
to adopt the amendments early.

Early adoption of HKAS 12 (amended)

The change in policy arising from HKAS 12 (amended) is the

only change which has had a material impact on the current or
comparative periods. As a result of this change in policy, the Group
now measures any deferred tax liability in respect of its investment
properties with reference to the tax liability that would arise if

the properties were disposed of at their carrying amounts at the
reporting date, unless the property is depreciable and is held within
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather
than through sale. Previously, where these properties were held
under leasehold interests, deferred tax was generally measured
using the tax rate that would apply as a result of recovery of the
asset's value through use.
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2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Early adoption of HKAS 12 (amended) (Continued)
This change in policy has been applied retrospectively by restating
the opening balances at 1 July 2010 and 1 July 2009, with
consequential adjustments to comparatives for the year ended 30
June 2010. This has resulted in a reduction in the amount of deferred
tax provided on valuation gains as follows:

2mT
]
HKAS 12
(FHEET)
=7
EFERE  Effect of
As adoption of
previously  HKAS 12 =7
BB EHETtE in HK$ million reported (amended) As restated
HE-_ZT—TFXA=F+HIE Consolidated income statement for the year
FEZREWREE ended 30 June 2010:
BIES Income tax expense (6,262) 1,279 (4,983)
FE(EE & AR & A Share of profits of jointly controlled entities 166 26 192
FEMRARFAF Profit for the year attributable to:
ES Shareholders 22,256 1,305 23,561
VIR A Non-controlling interests 1,396 = 1,396
SRR Earnings per share
- IN Basic $5.37 $0.31 $5.68
] Diluted $5.30 $0.31 $5.61
RZZE—TFAH=THZ Consolidated statement of financial position
RETEARRE as at 30 June 2010:
BE AT Interest in jointly controlled entities 802 132 934
RIEFHRIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 12,708 (5,029) 7679
IREB R A Retained profits 57863 5,161 63,024
FEIEMR R A Non-controlling interests 4,682 = 4,682
RZZZNFEA—RAZ Consolidated statement of financial position
e MIBIRRR - as at 1 July 2009:
BE N AR Interest in jointly controlled entities 699 106 805
REFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 7871 (3,750) 4121
RE A Retained profits 38,421 3,856 42,277
AR A Non-controlling interests 3,292 = 3,292
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3 ExBERIBEHR
REERERM Y RIS RE R E R
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MEEDBUAERRARDEER - =
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G REBOMEME o

MERESLBRIEMERELE - K§
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3 TURNOVERAND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses according to the nature of
services and products provided. Management has determined three
reportable operating segments for the measurement of performance
and the allocation of resources. The segments are property leasing
in Hong Kong and mainland China and property sales in Hong Kong.

Property leasing segment includes property leasing operation. The
Group's investment properties portfolio, which mainly consists

of retail, office, residential, serviced apartments and carparks are
primarily located in Hong Kong and mainland China. Property sales
segment includes development and sale of the Group's trading
properties in Hong Kong.

Management evaluates performance primarily based on profit before
taxation.

Segment assets principally comprise all non-current assets and
current assets directly attributable to each segment with the
exception of interest in jointly controlled entities, other assets,
deferred tax assets and cash and deposits with banks. The
investment properties of the Group are included in segment assets
at their fair values whilst the change in fair value of investment
properties is not included in segment profits.

EELEARAT -/ ——FF%



3 EXFERIPBEH @ 3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
(a) PEHEXEBEREE (a) Turnover and results by segments
EERE B B & A
Turnover Profit before taxation
201 2010 201 2010
(&%)
LASEE &R E in HK$ million (Restated)
ol Segment
YIEHRE Property leasing
— &8 — Hong Kong 2,822 2,615 2,332 2,097
— R E A — Mainland China 2,339 1,931 1,862 1,629
5,161 4,546 4,194 3,726
YIEESHE Property sales
— B — Hong Kong 3 7511 2 5,256
DEF4AEE Segment total 5,164 12,057 4,196 8,982
EMuA Other income 231 35
THREMR () Administrative expenses (Note) (512) (456)
KT ALEMHEZ R FE Operating profit before change in
Lol eyl fair value of investment properties 3,915 8,661
B 2 A FEIE N Increase in fair value of investment
properties 3,349 21,234
—REBZYERE — property leasing in Hong Kong 2,496 7720
—PAREANM s MERE — property leasing in mainland China 853 13,514
B E Finance costs (93) (47)
FEIEE &R RRT] Share of profits of jointly controlled
entities 98 192
BrEE AT A Profit before taxation 7,269 29,940
M THEAREREER —E—T 887t (= Note: Administrative expenses included share-based payments of $111 million (2010: $126
T—TF: BT EBET)  c-REBRA million) representing the amortization of the fair value of options granted to employees
ETREORGOBEABEHN A FENE over the vesting period and which do not involve any cash outflow for the Group.

8 AEEREENEERSRA -
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3 EEERIFBER @ 3 TURNOVERAND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(b) PHREE (b) Total assets by segments

#8& = Total assets

2011 2010 2009
(&%) (E31))
B EEITTE in HK$ million (Restated) (Restated)
2 EB Segment
YEEE Property leasing
— &8 ~ Hong Kong 53,633 50,927 43,102
— FER — Mainland China 55,993 45,781 27596
109,626 96,708 70,698
VI HE Property sales
— & — Hong Kong 5,966 7095 8,131
D EBHEER Segment total 115,592 103,803 78,829
Fo R NI T Interest in jointly controlled entities 991 934 805
HAhEE Other assets 865 3 4
BIEFIBE E Deferred tax assets 32 25 45
e RIRTTIER Cash and deposits with banks 27,202 11,635 8,931
BEE Total assets 144,682 116,300 88,614
4 HWA 4 OTHER INCOME
%8 Group
BB ESTTHE in HK$ million 2011 2010
ER1THR B A Bank interest income 209 35
JE LT ESE R AT EU A Interest income from unlisted held-to-maturity investments 1 =
b 5 e 5 5E Net exchange gain 1 =

231 85
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5 BRBLADRF

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

& E Group
NEMBETTAE in HK$ million 201 2010
BREADRNEHBR TIEE - Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:
AR AFAERZRITER Interest on bank loans and other borrowings
MEMEEZFE repayable within 5 years 127 13
AR AFRERZRITERFE Interest on bank loans repayable over 5 years 69 2
RERLOEHA Finance lease charges 17 24
HifEET M Other borrowing costs 32 95
BEX HEE Total borrowing costs 245 234
W EBEEXHEERNE (M) Less: Borrowing costs capitalized (Note) (152) (187)
MZER Finance costs 93 47
[RASEE=—7/ESD 7N Cost of properties sold - 1,865
BINA  BiEEEREER Staff costs, including employee share-based
—E—F—8&r (ZT—ZF : payments of $111 million
—B=TFRE&ET) (2010: $126 million) 736 577
e Depreciation 24 23
EXENER - pREIAEE Operating lease charges, including contingent
—FREET (Z2—%F rentals of $25 million
—FNE&T) (2010: $28 million) 13 115
IZEET NS Auditors’ remuneration
— ZH RS — audit services 6 5
— Bims R E M AR — tax and other services 3 1
WEEFFA and after crediting:
KREYEZ B WALRE  BEH% Gross rental income from investment
BESXHNESTEEET properties less direct outgoings of
(Z2—ZFF : \E=FT&m) $967 million (2010: $820 million), including
BiEAHE=E—TET contingent rentals of $310 million
(Z=E—ZTF : —BhT—HETL) (2010: $191 million) 4,194 3,726

ik RRFVMEZEEXHMERTEEN 2B
(—B—2% BHZ-MZ) 2 THEEA
f -

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalized at an average rate of 1.8% (2010: 2.3%) per

annum for properties under development.
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6 EERSAEEEBEZHE 6 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
BRERFMEESRITRELEIIEHTT  The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of five
EE-RZESMESSIEMBEBESE  Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee makes
FINEF M EFBEROEZE - EFAM  recommendation to the Board on the Directors' remuneration
SHIEREBEREESHE  EEMER  packages and terms of employment. The emoluments of Directors
=B REBAQNTNKIEREAN - are determined by the scope of responsibility and accountability,
B RIBITHEBRAMEE and individual performance of directors, taking into consideration of
the Company’s performance and profitability, market practice and
prevailing business conditions.

(a) ESEe (a) Directors’ emoluments
EEMSFHNOT ¢ Details of directors’ emoluments are summarized below:
BB HE TS in HK$ million ErZ AEELRIA
Efls SatElZ iR
Salaries, Group's

allowances BEA  contributions
#%&  andbenefits Discretionary  to retirement

4 Name Fees in kind honuses scheme 2011 2010
HITES Executive Directors

BRRR Ronnie C. Chan 03 211 79 2.1 314 326
B (FifsE(c) Philip N.L. Chen (Note (c)) 0.2 19.1 6.3 09 265 =
Bt William PY, Ko 0.2 9.0 38 0.9 139 148
T Henry TY. Yiu 0.2 58 26 06 9.2 35
=8 (M) H.C. Ho (Note (d) 0.2 30 14 0.2 48 =
rER (He) Nelson W.L. Yuen (Note (¢]) - 0.7 = 0.1 08 302
RE7 (HIzH) Terry S. Ng (Note (f) = 0.6 = = 0.6 16.3
FHTES Non-Executive Director

rER (Fize) Nelson W.L. Yuen (Note (g)) 0.1 = = = 0.1 -
BUEHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors

BHE $.S.Yin 0.2 = = = 0.2 0.2
EHE Ronald J. Arcull 03 = = = 03 03
#Es H.. Cheng 04 = = = 04 03
[FEA Laura L.Y. Chen 03 = = = 03 03
Big PW. Liu 04 = = = 04 03
e Dominic C.F Ho 03 = = = 03 03
=3 201 31 59.3 20 48 89.2 9.1
s 2010 28 587 319 5.7 9.1
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(b)

EENREREEBEZME »

REHFAL

EREESHFALH 28 (Z2—F
F:28) ARARRIES  KEZHE
M 7E6(a) R M5 28(b)#H 5E -

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)
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6

(b)

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, all (2010: all)
are directors of the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 6(a) and note 28(b).

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Mr. Philip N.L. Chen was appointed as executive director on 15
July 2010.

Mr. H.C. Ho was appointed as executive director on 29
September 2010.

Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen retired as executive director on 14 July
2010 and was appointed as non-executive director on 15
March 2011. Total emoluments paid to Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen

of $85.3 million for the year ended 30 June 2011 included the
emoluments set out in note 6(a), an ex-gratia payment of $80
million in recognition of his contribution to the Group, and $4.4
million for the period he acted as an advisor to the Group.

Mr. Terry S. Ng resigned as executive director with effect from
21 July 2010.

In addition to the above emoluments, certain directors and
employees were granted share options under the share option
schemes of the Company and its ultimate holding company,
Hang Lung Group Limited. Details of the share options granted
by the Company to the individuals are disclosed in note 28(b).

During the years ended 30 June 2011 and 2010, there were
no amounts paid to directors and senior executives above for
compensation of loss of office and inducement for joining the
Group.
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7 HZERBEXRAZHIE 7 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT
(a) HEWRKAZHIEAR : (a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:
%8 Group
2011 2010
(E31))
BB ESETTHE in HK$ million (Restated)
REHBIAE Current tax
BEFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax 257 1,024
BT FERE 2 VIR Underprovision in prior years 1 29
258 1,053
AR & P 5 AR China Income Tax 440 379
698 1,432
PRIETIE Deferred tax
WEYEZ A FEEE Change in fair value of investment properties 213 3,378
EARE RO ERE Other origination and reversal of temporary differences 17 173
&5t (B45E20(0)) Total (Note 20(b)) 330 3,551
A Haast Total income tax expense 1,028 4,983

EBFSHBIBREVIZBA 2G5 Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2010:
AERMABD 2 T 8A (ZE—ZF  16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. China
FADZTAER)FE - AEME  Income Tax mainly represents China Corporate Income Tax calculated
MEZRPEPEMSHEES 2T at25% (2010: 25%) and China withholding income tax at the

R (ZE—ZF: A9 2=1+H) & applicable rates. A withholding tax of 5% is levied on the Hong Kong
LA ETERERIZBEAMREIE - 5 companies in respect of dividend distributions arising from profits
BEARNARFEAH 2GR EREE  of foreign investment enterprises in mainland China earned after 1
BRBEZZZNF—A—HRBELZAEF  January 2008.

FriRE 2 REHVERE D 2 AAMTER

PR

(b) BE-ZFT——FA=ZTHIFE (b) Share of jointly controlled entities’ taxation for the year ended

ZEEEERARHRELEET (= 30 June 2011 of $7 million (2010 (restated): $6 million) is
T-ZTF (FY)) : NE&ET) 25 included in the share of profits of jointly controlled entities.

AEIERERANENA
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7 HFREBRERAZBIE @) 7 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (continued)

(c) FEIZEPEBFADEMABEATR=E (c) Reconciliation between actual tax expense and profit before

TE ZRE - taxation at applicable tax rates:

%8 Group
2011 2010
(E31))
LSS R BITATE in HK$ million (Restated)
BRI AT A Profit before taxation 7,269 29,940
WAL A AT R T8 2§38 Tax on profit before taxation at applicable rates 1,482 6,308
A ERRRM 2 FHIBRE Tax effect of share of profits of jointly controlled entities (7) 6)
JEERFTUWA Z BT E Tax effect of non-taxable income (452) (1,311)
JEHR ST 2 B IE & Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 35 26

EE R R EEREAM Tax effect of tax losses utilized and other deductible

RSN EER 2B E temporary differences (74) (89)
RIERZHEER AT E Tax effect of unrecognized tax losses 43 26
BEFERE VR Underprovision in prior years 1 29
ERBES N Actual tax expense 1,028 4,983

(d) FR - EFEME2EKE TFI/RHIE (d) Thereis no tax effect relating to the component of the other

BEEBGETE - comprehensive income for the year.
8 MEE/LAR 8 NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLETO SHAREHOLDERS

MR EMRAFBIEARRRBFE®REANZ  Net profit attributable to shareholders includes a profit of $558
wEHNAEAETFNAEBET (ZZE—ZF : milion (2010: $2,390 million) which has been dealt with in the

“t+=EAFET) - financial statements of the Company.
9 RKE 9 DIVIDENDS
(a) XFEERE (a) Dividends attributable to the year
NEMBETTAE in HK$ million 201 2010
EEM&EIREFHRE Interim dividend declared and paid of 17 cents
BRI (ZE—2F (2010: 17 cents) per share 760 705
+-A0)
REE BB ERAR IS Final dividend of 54 cents (2010: 54 cents) per share
ERAO (ZZ—ZF proposed after the reporting date 2,415 2,246
ot S [(1TD)

3,175 2,951

REEBEER 2 KBRS - WEMR  The final dividend proposed after the reporting date has not been
REERZABE - recognized as a liability at the reporting date.

(b) —ZE—ZTFHHFEEZ_+-ER (b) The final dividend of $2,252 million for financial year 2010 was
T_BEBITABAKRKERN-Z—— approved and paid in financial year 2011 (2010: $2,115 million).
FHBRFEHAERRE (ZT—F
F Zt+—E-—FHREET) °
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10 BRER 10 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) BIREANEERAFNIIZATEE (a) The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based
ETE on the following data:
2011 2010
(&%)
A EE T E in HK$ million (Restated)
BLGGTESREAR R EE AT Earnings for calculation of basic and diluted earnings
ZZF| (BSR4 F)) per share (net profit attributable to shareholders) 5,792 23,561
2011 2010
3nE 4=
B BRETE in million Number of shares
BUGTEGREARBFZ G Weighted average number of shares used in calculating
TR R basic earnings per share 4,360 4,148
BESEER 2 BERM 252  Effect of dilutive potential shares
— IR {0 EARE — share options 63 54
FUGTEGREERT 2  Weighted average number of shares used in calculating
InEFEIg 2R diluted earnings per share 4,423 4,202

(b) PBREEMERLGR (TERIEEEY (b)) The underlying net profit attributable to shareholders which

XRNFEES  WHRABELER excluded changes in fair value of investment properties net of

TB N IEERR RS ) 2T EMT ¢ related deferred tax and non-controlling interests, is calculated

as follows:

2011 2010

(E31))

BB ETETE in HK$ million (Restated)
eyl Net profit attributable to shareholders 5,792 23,561
KREMEZ N EES) 2 FE Effect of changes in fair value of investment properties (3,349) (21,234)
FERRER e v R & Effect of corresponding deferred tax 213 3,378

BENFINIEEMEZ AT E Effect of change in fair value of investment properties

FER R of jointly controlled entities (58) (157)
(3,194) (18,013)

EEaliig = Non-controlling interests 143 1,126
(3,051) (16,887)

PR e AL T Underlying net profit attributable to shareholders 2,741 6,674

REBRREEERGENFTE 2 BREF

The earnings per share based on underlying net profit attributable to

V=1 shareholders are:
2011 2010
HIAK Basic $0.63 $1.61
e Diluted $0.62 $1.59
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11 BEEEE -8

11 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP

BEF
REYE
Investment
KEME properties
Investment under Hf At
AR EETTE in HK$ million properties  development Others Total
PRANESIEE - Cost or valuation:
R-EZNE+HA—H At 1 July 2009 62,766 7570 158 70,494
fE 5 A% () Exchange adjustment (Note) 169 62 - 231
NE Additions 142 4,348 62 4,552
HeE Disposals = = (4) 4)
ATEEM Increase in fair value 13,869 7365 = 21,234
B\ /(81) Transfer 4,019 (4,019) - -
RZE-ZEXA=THEK At 30 June 2010 and
—T-FTE+A—H 1 July 2010 80,965 15,326 216 96,507
fE 5 A% () Exchange adjustment (Note) 1,484 750 3 2,237
AE Additions 161 5,407 62 5,630
HE Disposals - = 2) 2
ANFEEN Increase in fair value 3,308 41 - 3,349
R-E——FXA=1H At 30 June 2011 85,918 21,524 279 107,721
ZEHNE Accumulated depreciation:
RZEZNF+A—H At 1 July 2009 - - 34 34
AEEE Charge for the year - - 23 23
E &R Written back on disposals - - 4) 4)
RZE-—TEXA=THK At 30 June 2010 and
—T-FE+A—H 1 July 2010 - - 53 53
REEHE Charge for the year = = 24 24
A & B[ Written back on disposals - - 2) 2)
R-E——FxA=1H At 30 June 2011 - - 75 75
HREFE Net book value:
R-BE——FXB=1H At 30 June 2011 85,918 21,524 204 107,646
RZZ—TFXA=+H At 30 June 2010 80,965 15,326 163 96,454
EAFEERNNA=1THZMAES Costor valuation of the fixed assets
HEMDT at 30 June is made up as follows:
—E-—-F: 2011:
&E Valuation 85,918 21524 - 107,442
RAE Cost - - 279 279
85,918 21,524 279 107,721
—E-TE: 2010:
(= Valuation 80,965 15,326 - 96,291
A Cost = = 216 216
80,965 15,326 216 96,507

MiaE : RIBMFI1CME 2 AEESTER » & Note: In accordance with the Group's accounting policy in note 1(s), statement of financial

ZHBERBEBZHBRAKREAR (BEEE
HE) DREERZERBRE BB - AR
EREZERZROIAELES

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

position items in the operations of the Group in mainland China, including fixed assets,
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting
date. The exchange difference relating to fixed assets has been dealt with in the exchange
reserve.
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11 BEEE -8 w

11

FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (Continued)

YEZREFESTUET An analysis of net book value of properties is as follows:
BRPIREYSE
EWE Investment properties
Investment properties under development

BB BESTHE in HK$ million 2011 2010 20M 2010
FEEREE Long leases in Hong Kong 33,889 31,936 - =
EBRIMNREAM Long leases outside Hong Kong - = 3,348 5,948
78 Hih 22 Medium term leases in Hong Kong 19,424 18,695 - -
FB RN EAH 22 Medium term leases outside Hong Kong 32,584 30,274 18,176 9,378
B A 2 Short lease in Hong Kong 21 60 - _
85,918 80,965 21,524 15,326

(a)

188

REBMZREMENBERTED
XN _T——FNA=THHZE
—KFHEFHEENEXBERA
RomzEMBERBNEM (EXA
B) RERLERTSEEEEE
Ifh1E -

FR - AEEBRSREMERERE
RIREYE L AFEEN=1T=&
NFABEET(ZE—FF: =7
—t+ZE=ZFTUEEL)  EFE
FERHR B A 2 R A ERIGE
MTF—E&T(ZE—ZTF : ++
ZEANTHEER) -

AEBREMEZRIFHENEE
REMEBOKA2EE  EKRE
FER/RET/\EBATABER (=
Z-ZF: ATOR=T=8E
L) °

AEEHEMWETEEZERAFERS
FUREBEBARBMZFEZ i
kEEY—THREET (ZE—F
F:—FHRABTT) URBEEIN
AR ERtth 22458 2 i REZEY N
BBLT(ZZE—ZF: LE&T)
MARBAH R IEHE 2 i RIREY)
=FHEELT (ZE—ZF: =F
MEET) -

WERERERITREAYE B
WABBE T —EATF-BET
(—2—2F: NTEENFAE
&)

(a)

The investment properties and investment properties under
development of the Group were revalued as at 30 June 2011
by Mr. Charles C.K. Chan, Registered Professional Surveyor
(General Practice), of Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited, on a market value basis.

During the year, an increase in fair value of investment
properties and those under development of $3,349 million
(2010: $21,234 million), including $41 million (2010: $7365
million) contributed by properties under development in
mainland China, is recorded.

The net book value of investment properties of the Group
includes an amount of $5,899 million (2010: $5,433 million) in
respect of an asset held under a finance lease.

The net book value of other fixed assets of the Group included
long leases of $15 million (2010: $15 million) in respect of land
and building held in Hong Kong respectively, and medium term
leases of $8 million (2010: $9 million) and long leases of $34
million (2010: $24 million) in respect of land and buildings held
outside Hong Kong respectively.

Property leasing revenue includes gross rental income from
investment properties of $5,161 million (2010: $4,546 million).

EEBEARAR — -/ —— 54K



1 IEIEEEE - % (%) 1 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (continued)
(b) AEBERBLERHHBELIZEE (b) The Group leases out its properties under operating leases

MADHEME - ZFHEL—KAY and subleases under finance lease. Leases typically run for an
PERP-ERTF  HRHHBEREE initial period of two to five years, with some having the option
BEQD  EFENBEMABEHRK - to renew, at which time all terms are renegotiated. Long term
REMABTE ST RAEN R leases contain rent review or adjustment clauses and the
BHESZGR MAKEESFHE Group has a regular proportion of its leases up for renewal each
— OB LOHHEL - A THE year. Certain leases include contingent rentals calculated with
HEFENAES - H2EREFP I reference to the revenue of tenants.
AMETE °
RANA=+H rAEEREEDHE At 30 June, the Group's total future minimum lease income
RERPIEEME - BB A HUEE under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of investment
ZEFERORDERZ RKREEE properties and investment properties under development were
CER(N as follows:
HfEL
baNi:| Other ‘st
BT BTt E in HK$ million Subleases leases Total
2011
—FR Within 1 year 244 3,733 3,977
—FRERFA After 1 year but within 5 years 46 6,648 6,694
& After 5 years - 2,500 2,500
290 12,881 13,171
2010
—F R Within 1 year 365 3,626 3,991
—FZERFNR After 1 year but within 5 years 283 5,047 5,330
AF% After 5 years = 553 553
648 9,226 9,874
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12 MIBATRIER 12 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES
A 7A] Company
BB ABETE in HK$ million 2011 2010
JE TR - BANE Unlisted shares, at cost 8 8
FEUEI B A RIFIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 63,367 35,217

63,375 35,225

FEMBARZFMERFNMIFE36 > Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note 36.

JEWH B AR RIEAEEE - BB KE  Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free with

PRIEENE - MEAEHZERBRANRK no fixed terms of repayment and classified as non-current assets

FTZEARTEYE - HWAIEIERBE  as they are not expected to be recoverable within the next twelve
e months.

13 & QFIREDS 13 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
£ Group

2011 2010 2009
(&%) (E31))
AR BITATE in HK$ million (Restated)  (Restated)
I EEFE — FELTRGD Share of net assets — unlisted shares 989 927 771
SN E R Amount due from a jointly controlled entity 2 7 34
991 934 805

JEWAEARIFIBEY AEEI - LATHIS  Amount due from a jointly controlled entity is unsecured, interest-
FIRFBEREETEENREY  MATEHZ  bearing at market rate with no fixed terms of repayment and
EFIETERARE+ZEAARUE - #  classified as non-current assets as it is not expected to be
SIEIERBEE © recoverable within the next twelve months.
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13 SEQAIRER @ 13 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
(Continued)
ABNT T EMEREHNHEE37 - &8 Details of jointly controlled entities are set out in note 37 The
BREL AT ZEZHMMEMBEEREE  summary financial information related to the Group's interest in
O jointly controlled entities are as follows:
2011 2010 2009
(&%) (&%)
LB EETaTE in HK$ million (Restated)  (Restated)
EREBEE Non-current assets 1,063 1,003 844
mENEE Current assets 22 25 11
ERHBEE Non-current liabilities (72) (73) (63)
mEARE Current liabilities (24) (28) 21)
BEFE Net assets 989 927 771
2011 2010
(&%)
NEEBETHE in HK$ million (Restated)
e Turnover 56 53
AEE R T Profit for the year 98 192
14 HEMEE 14 OTHER ASSETS
£ & Group
BB ABETE in HK$ million 2011 2010
BEAFLMHEIHBEKRE Unlisted held-to-maturity investments in Hong Kong
(P¥zE(@) (Note (a)) 863 =
EBIELHIRE (W?E(b)) Unlisted investments in Hong Kong (Note (b)) - =
ERTFIELEHREAD Advances to unlisted investee companies 2 3
865 3
B 5E Notes:
(a) RZZE——F X A=+8 " $§ﬁﬁ3FLT (a) At 30 June 2011, the Group held investments in unlisted bonds which will mature from

BEHRE  WREBEBNR T ——FNAE=Z
—ZFT AR EFREF-HAER
TEHANE(ZE-TF8) 2B RE R
g BEERFFIRE -

(o)  HRIFLHRETEBRERMSARETS (o)

HERBEETEDNTE B RKAMBREE
(anA) A8 -

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

September 2012 to December 2013. The effective yield of the bonds ranged from 1.6% to
2.9% (2010: Nil) per annum, payable quarterly or semi-annually.

Unlisted investments are carried at cost less impairment, if any, as they do not have a
quoted market price in an active market to determine their fair value.

191



M 85 A i

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 BERBITEXK

15 CASH AND DEPOSITS WITH BANKS

=& Group

BB ABETE in HK$ million 2011 2010
TFHETFER Time deposits 24,833 9,561
HRITIF Cash at banks 2,369 1,974
HREMIERARNIEE R Cash and deposits with banks in the consolidated

RITER statement of financial position 27,202 11,535
R R=1E A& HHY Less: Bank deposits with maturity greater than

RITER three months (7.404) _
GEBRSRERNRE R Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated

HEeEEY cash flow statement 19,798 11,535

HR T —TF+ - ANKRNEERE
FRA-—BENEATREBET Re
MRITTERAREMEZE AL+ —RF
“HERT -RE——FX A=tH"
AEEZR e MRTEFRE PO XS
FEHNE(CE—ZF:TH=F)
AR HEBAMINT

Following the placement of shares in November 2010 which
generated net proceeds of $10,896 million, cash and deposits with
banks increased substantially to $27202 million. At 30 June 2011,
the Group's cash and deposits with banks were interest-bearing

at an average rate of 0.9% (2010: 0.3%) per annum with currency
denominated in:

LSS A BITATE in HK$ million 201 2010
AR Renminbi 22,773 1,786
BT Hong Kong Dollars 2,961 6,773
=T United States Dollars 1,468 2,976

27,202 11,535

AEBEFIHARERITEFABNER
B E) R IA B RER AL

192

The Group holds Renminbi bank deposits to meet its ongoing
payment obligations in relation to its development projects in
mainland China.
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16 EWERA KR EMEWRR 16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(a) EstAEWBEZNREMmELKTZZE (a) Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables

WER R E AR T with the following terms:
%8 Group
NAYBEE TR in HK$ million 2011 2010
WA —E A A Current and within 1 month 25 1,255
—Z={@A 1 -3 months 9 4
=EAKLE Over 3 months 2 1
36 1,260

RZIE——FR T —FFXA=1 The balance of bad and doubtful debts as at 30 June 2011 and 2010

A REREBHRBATERK - is insignificant.

(b) AEBEZHMEWHBIELENLT (b) Included in other receivables of the Group are deposit of land
NBEBT (ZZE—FF: &) ¥ acquisition in mainland China of $798 million (2010: $Nil) and
AEE tiv 2 e R BEEN amount recoverable from a jointly controlled entity of $809
BELT(ZZE—ZF: &) 27K million (2010: $Nil) which is unsecured and expected to be
[Bl& & N RIFRIE o It RIE A EE R recoverable within one year.

KIEHRN —FAYE -

17 SEWE 17 PROPERTIES FOR SALE
%8 Group
BB ESTTHE in HK$ million 20M 2010
IR BEE 2 BERER Y Properties under development for sale located in Hong Kong
— RHEAH#Z —long leases 905 800
NRBEZHFEEEKDE Completed properties for sale located in Hong Kong
— R HAh 3D — medium term leases 5,058 5,055
5,963 5,855
HFERRDYEBHE—FRER - The properties under development for sale are expected to be

recovered after more than one year.
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18 RITER
RANAZ+HEBEMRRITER 2 ERY
mr

18 BANK LOANS

At 30 June, bank loans were unsecured and repayable as follows:

%8 Group
NAYBEETE in HK$ million 2011 2010
—F RNk BNEA Within 1 year or on demand 4,500 1,480
—FRE_FR After 1 year but within 2 years - 4,000
WMERERFAN After 2 years but within 5 years 10,638 802
FFAE Over 5 years 1,671 214
12,309 5,016
B REEE 2 TS B A Less: unamortized front end fees (73) (38)
12,236 4,978
16,736 6,458

FA AARTEFRHRTH =-EE N
BAE(CE—ZF  THNEEZRH
NE) FRERHE -

AEBzETIEEXDNMBERZLHRS -
HZEVBROBRASERTMAERZ
HEANWEERETSER REEELR
ERREEFEZLLEAEERREK
FoFER AREETE2BTZERY
HYESK e

R-ZT——FXA=1+H ~£EEE
ANTAREATEHEERL (ZE—ZF -
—AZTZEBZ—AET) ABHNR
THEGEEE °

o - FAR - ARFIZ —HEEEAN
MEBARRL—EEE_+EXTZT
HIREA & ([5H8))) - R=ZF——F RN
A=1H8 RNEBEXRELE TET
EARE -
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All bank loans are interest-bearing at rates ranging from 0.3% to
6.6% (2010: 0.4% to 5.9%) per annum during the year.

Certain of the Group's borrowings are attached with financial
covenants which require that at any time, the Group's consolidated
tangible net worth is not less than and the ratio of borrowings to
consolidated tangible net worth is not more than certain required
levels. During the year, all these covenants have been complied with
by the Group.

At 30 June 2011, the Group had $6,694 million (2010: $13,201
million) committed undrawn banking facilities.

In addition, during the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company established a US$2 billion Medium Term Note Programme
(the “Programme”). At 30 June 2011, the Group has not issued any
note under the Programme.
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19 EBAERFKREMENRK 19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

£E Group A" Company
BB ABETE in HK$ million 2011 2010 2011 2010
ER R ET & A Creditors and accrued expenses
(P¥zE(@) (Note (a)) 2,163 1,804 19 7
BddRE (FaEb) Deposits received (Note (b)) 1,253 1,128 - -
FER R RMEB A RZRIE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
(BzE(e) (Note (c)) 14 144 - =
3,430 3,076 19 7
st - Notes:
(a) ENZEEGFERBEERR —FATEERN (@) Creditors and accrued expenses include retention money payable of $237 million (2010:
ZREBFEZEBE=TLEBL(ZZE—ZF: $183 million) which is not expected to be settled within one year.

—EBAFT=EET) -

(b) BERStEATZEEL (ZT—ZFF: £ (b Deposits received of $763 million (2010: $756 million) are not expected to be settled within
BRTAEET) BHR—FRNTSER - one year.

(c) ENRZRMBARRESAEER 28RE (0 The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed
Bl EEEHE - terms of repayment.

BFFABRNERREMEMNRZEMEE  Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with the

HEBRRDITHAT - following ageing analysis:
%£& Group
BB ABITE in HK$ million 2011 2010
— & A R EEE Due within 1 month 1,446 1451
=@ A&R|H Due after 3 months 250 190

1,696 1,641
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20 REBEARRK E2BIE 20 TAXATION INTHE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
(a) AEHIE (a) Current taxation
%8 Group
B RETHE in HK$ million 201 2010
EBNETRE Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax 257 1,024
R TS E Provision for China Income Tax 108 67
LA E 2 RN B EFIEH Hong Kong Profits Tax payable relating to prior years 831 41
1,196 1,132
(b) EFZERIE (b) Deferred taxation

£E Group

2011 2010 2009

(==27))) (&F71))

A HBTE in HK$ million (Restated) (Restated)
EIETIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 8,361 7679 4,121
IR A E Deferred tax assets (32) (25) (45)
REFIE B EF5E Net deferred tax liabilities 8,329 7654 4,076
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20 REBARRRK EZBIE @ 20 TAXATION INTHE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (continued)
(b) EERIE (&) (b) Deferred taxation (Continued)
A ﬁ?gﬁﬁfﬂﬁj{/ﬂiiﬁ&u,uz;_Lﬁﬁlﬁﬁ The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognized in the
& CEE) MARKRENE8MT :  consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

NESRETHE in HK$ million HEQHES
N
Depreciation it
allowances BEEAE
in excess MEERL 2R ERE
of related  Revaluation of  Future benefit Hi ek
BERBEER Deferred tax arising from: depreciation properties  of tax losses Others Total
RZZZNELA—R - At 1 July 2009, as previously
FEEHE reported 853 7018 (22) (23) 7826
SHEREH VE Impact of change in accounting policy
(MizE2) (Note 2) - (3,750) = = (3,750)
RZZEZAFELA—H &F| At 1July 2009, restated 853 3,268 (22) (23) 4,076
EAEE’J‘ =TaEill Charged to exchange reserve 1 26 - - 27
RigAiER NG/ Charged/(Credited) to consolidated
(BN) (E=5) (H7E7(a) income statement (restated)
(Note 7(a)) 90 3,378 3) 86 3,051
RZZE—ZF A=1H At 30 June 2010 944 6,672 (25) 63 7654
R_ZE-ZEF+A—H" At 1 July 2010, as previously
FEERE reported 944 11,701 (25) 63 12,683
CHRREH TE Impact of change in accounting policy
GE?) (Note 2) - (5,029) - - (5,029)
R-F-ZEL AR BF At1July 2010, restated 944 6,672 (25) 63 7664
R R FERTR Charged to exchange reserve 24 321 - - 345
RigElEsRNmg / Charged/(Credited) to consolidated
(BA) (7)) income statement (Note 7(a)) 89 213 7) 35 330
R-ZE——&5xH=1+A At 30 June 2011 1,057 7206 (32) 98 8,329
() RERZELEHEEE (c) Deferred tax assets not recognized

REBEARSE THEBEAREEREL  The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in respect of
BONERTHBEEL (ZZT—FF :©  tax losses of $855 million (2010: $374 million) sustained in the
—EETHEEST) WEEEBMEEDN  operations of certain subsidiaries as the availability of future taxable
EEMIBEEELER - BANR-Z— profits against which the assets can be utilized is not probable at
—FXA=+H - JAERKEAEBAEE 30 June 2011. The tax losses arising from Hong Kong operations do
M BERERTRMDTEE - LEEE  not expire under current tax legislation. The tax losses arising from
EBHMBEENREREEHR LR the operations in mainland China expire five years after the relevant
By M B EBNRBEEAR  accounting year end date.

B FERAFREOE -
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21 EEHEARIE 21 FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS
mEMEASELEN B ExERHIEME  Total minimum lease payments under finance lease and their
/Al N present values are as follows:
£ & Group
= N

Rtz RERFE
SEZBRE FAZMNE RIEN

Present Interest Z A& 4858
value of  expenses Total
minimum relating  minimum
lease to future lease
LA R BT E in HK$ million payments periods  payments
2011
e Amounts payable
—F A Within 1 year 133 8 141
—FZBERFERN After 1 year but within 5 years 35 - 35
168 8 176
2010
eI %8 Amounts payable
—FR Within 1 year 119 17 136
—FRBERFA After 1 year but within 5 years 168 8 176
287 25 312

BMERNREZERFFEALE (= The effective interest rate of the finance lease obligations is 7%
T—FTF:LE)- (2010: 7%) per annum.

22 BA 22 SHARE CAPITAL

201 2010
&N A& 5
anE 4= Amount  BRSEE Amount
Number of of share  Number of of share
shares capital shares capital
(BEKR) (EBmT (@EER (@B’
(Million)  ($Million) (Million)  ($Miillion)

VETE Authorized
HRREE—TT Shares of $1 each 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000
BEEITREE Issued and fully paid
REA—H At 1 July 4,159 4,159 4,146 4,146
BIIRAS Issue of shares
— REEE () - from placement (Note) 294 294 = =
— BB ARt 21 — under share option scheme 19 19 13 13
RNB=1+H At 30 June 4,472 4,472 4,159 4,159

ek RoZE—24F+— 8 BER=t++TmuAgN Note: In November 2010, 294 million shares of $1 each were issued at $37.48 per share which
WET—EBATHEEBRTREE— T AR were fully paid in cash.
SER 2R -
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23 f#& 23 RESERVES

(a) &H (a) The Group
E il Other reserves
SR
BERE Employee
Ri&E Captal ~ EXGE  sharcbased [RE&F R
itz Share  redemption  Exchange  compensation %% Retained Total
PN ] in HKS million Note premium feserve feserve reserve Total pofits ~ reserves
REEZAECA—B - At1July 2009, as previously reported 2,721 2,066 1397 27 25471 38,421 63,892
LEEHE
SHHEEH/YE  Impact of change in accounting polcy 2 = - - - - 385 3656
REZZNELA—B At1Juy2009, restated 217 2,066 12397 287 25471 42271 6778
Ej
REEHEFI (B5)  Profitfor the year (restated) = - = = = 23561 23561
HERIBAR Exchange difference arising from
BEELZEHZZ  translation of overseas subsidiaries - - 207 - 207 - 207
REFRENEEE  Total comprehensive income for
(E7) the year [restated) - - 207 - 207 23,561 23,768
FEERARE Final dividends in respect of
previous year - - - - - (2,11) (2.115)
REERHRE Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - - - = (705) (705)
LS Issue of shares 124 - - - 124 - 124
REREER Employee share-based payments 34 - - 86 120 6 126
RZE-ZERA=1H At30June 2010 21879 2,066 1,604 33 25922 63,024 88,946
RZE-ZELA—B - At1July 2010, as previously reported 21879 2,066 1,604 3n3 25922 57863 83,785
LEERE
SrHRE Impact of change in accounting policy 2 - - = - = 5,161 5,161
k-7 +
RZE-ZELA—H At1July 2010, restated 21819 2,066 1,604 373 25922 63,024 88,946
|
REFRT Profit for the year - - - - - 5792 5,792
BEBNHELT Exchange difference arising from
BEEEZEAZZ  translation of overseas subsidiaries - - 2491 - 2491 - 2491
KEERENEEE  Total comprehensive income for
the year - - 2491 - 2491 579 8,283
FEERERS Final dividends in respect of
previous year - = = = = (2252) (2252)
AREERERE Interim ividends in respect of
current year - - - - = (760) (760)
Bk Issue of shares 10919 - - - 10,919 - 10919
EEREER Employee share-based payments 92 - - 12 104 7 1
RZE-—EABZTH At30 June 2011 32,890 2,066 4,09 385 39,436 65,81 105,247
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23 &\ @ 23 RESERVES (continued)
(b) 2AF] (b) The Company
Hi 4 Other reserves
EERH
AR GG
EEHE Employee
Rl EE Capital  share-based Gl BiRE
Share  redemption  compensation ks Retained Total
BB EE T E in HKS million premium reserve reserve Total profits reserves
RIZEZAFEA—H  At1July 2009 2,721 2,066 287 24,074 5,430 29,504
KERGEF Profit for the year = = = = 2,390 2,390
=EERERE Final dividends in respect of
previous year - - - = (2,115) (2,115)
AEERERE Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - - = (705) (705)
ki Issue of shares 124 - - 124 - 124
[EEMREER Employee share-based payments 34 - 86 120 126
M=E—ZF;A=1H At 30 June 2010 and
RZE-BELA-H 1.y 2010 21,879 2,066 37 24318 5,006 29,324
TR Profit for the year = = - - 558 558
REERIRE Final dividends in respect of
previous year - - - = (2,252) (2,252)
AEERERE Interim dividends in respect of
current year - - - = (760) (760)
ER) Issue of shares 10919 - - 10,919 - 10919
EEREER Employee share-based payments 92 = 12 104 7 m
RZE——%;A=+H At 30 June 2011 32,890 2,066 385 35,341 2,559 37900

AEER-ZF——F X NA=+HNKHE
EAHEE-EETEAEBT (2%
F:ATRABET) HRBERBHEA
Bl Z BERNTE o

The retained profits for the Group at 30 June 2011 included $147
million (2010: $86 million) in respect of statutory reserves of the
subsidiaries in mainland China.

Bt s B AR & B A B | 6 2 g Bl
2HEB(RRGRO) B+ NIHERE
M+NFREE - EXFEHEERERRES
SRR B MRAELE ZERZH
HARP EE (V)P - 1 B R R (8 R
BRER AR REITE 2D B

The application of the share premium account and the capital
redemption reserve are governed by Section 48B and Section

49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance respectively. The
exchange reserve comprises the exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of overseas subsidiaries.
The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the

NE fair value of share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
explained in note 1(v).
RZF——FRA=1+H  A2FAMH  The aggregate amount of the Company's reserves available for

DIRTRRZ FHEESEBER - TH{ER  distribution to equity shareholders of the Company at 30 June 20711
FAEBEBLT (ZZE—ZFF : AHEZRN  was $2,559 million (2010: $5,006 million).
EE POk

200 EELEARAT -/ ——FF%



23 @l

(b) AT @)

BEAEE
AREBHNEAEERE 2 EEREAR
EAEBEFELE  NARERER
BRAEMBOHERERNZE  RRUE
BRARESEE

A RIS R SR RSB A
T AT AR BT 1 K T A A A
50755 A 3R 21 9 S 5 A P B R ) B
RARKEZ RIER/G T 67 - i RAEA L E Y
EHAE REHEEY BOHE LS
et -

AEBEBRRTABEXRLRRERNENT
K WE BRI E R B 75 AR R B
HENGEE - AEREFEEEREN
FERZ LD o FEIRERITE R MR
BRKAIE  BIRE RIRITHER - I
BRI R MR R A o

N=B-—FR-F-BERA=T
B - AKEBENFREKT o AAFL
S AE I A R A R B SN A
FRZAR -

24 FEERER

IR RN B IR RN A EE (R
A=+8) k2EHANHE QTR
AR EEENKEE - 2 EHA
ZHBATER e AREENIRE
MR T AT o RS B
BEN R A RS E -

23 RESERVES (continued)

(b) The Company (Continued)

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits to
other stakeholders, and to secure access to finance at a reasonable
cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders'
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in the light of changes in
the Group's business portfolio and economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing
ratio and cash flow requirements, taking into account its future
financial obligations and commitments. The gearing ratio represents
the proportion of net debt to equity plus net debt. Net debt
represents bank loans and finance lease obligations, less cash and
deposits with banks. Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-
controlling interests.

The Group has a net cash position as at 30 June 2011 and 2010.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

24 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests represent the equity interests and the
share of profit or loss attributable to outside shareholders in
respect of the subsidiaries not wholly-owned by the Group as at 30
June which hold the Group's interests in investment properties in
Shanghai. Details of movement of non-controlling interests are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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25 RERKEEK RS 25 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
2011 2010
(&%)
A E BT E in HK$ million (Restated)
BrEE AT A Profit before taxation 7,269 29,940
PR Adjustments for:
RITHBUA Bank interest income (209) (35)
JEFESE RS EREU A Interest income from unlisted held-to-maturity investments (11) —
B8 A Finance costs 93 47
e Depreciation 24 23
B s > N(E 7 B Increase in fair value of investment properties (3,349) (21,234)
NG| Share of profits of jointly controlled entities (98) (192)
EEREEA Employee share-based payments m 126
FeEmES 8N, B (Increase)/Decrease in properties for sale (147) 1,798
FEUCBR N E A fEUG R 2 >~ Decrease/(Increase) in trade and
(3&10) other receivables 323 (828)
FER R FERTE A 2 N Increase in creditors and accrued expenses 525 319
BlkiRE 2380 Increase in deposits received 106 125
FERRZMBATZIEY RS Decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (130) (35)
RELEHEF R Cash generated from operations 4,507 10,054
26 IAEME 26 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
RANAR=THZHABERT : At 30 June, contingent liabilities were as follows:

A 7A] Company

BB ABETE in HK$ million 2011 2010
B AR FTESZIRITEE Guarantees given to banks to secure credit facilities
izt 2 &R drawn by subsidiaries 16,835 6,522

AARWERMNB AR ZEEREMEE  The Company has not recognized any deferred income for the
TEERMEZIERERTMIELWA - guarantees given in respect of borrowings and other bank facilities
ZEEERRITEEZRAFEREE for subsidiaries as their fair value cannot be reliably measured and
ASMErE REKZE (ZE—ZF +  their transaction price was $Nil (2010: $Nil).

/).
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27 EiE
(a) RANA=1+HEARIIEHREEE
TEREENT

27 COMMITMENTS

(a) At 30 June, capital commitments not provided for in the
financial statements were as follows:

=& Group
AR BESTTAHE in HK$ million 20M 2010
[ Contracted for 3,276 4,167
DB R Authorized but not contracted for 32,201 16,452
35,477 20,619

AT EBERAEERHE A
ZEBRTERIBREMEREEZ L
XS B2 SRR RAA A

(b) AEERE+F A& TR HH
LEBRVERETYE - HTHYD
BEZ2EMERAMEE 2 HAE
T MANA=TH  KRERKDEN
ZHELERENT

The above commitments include mainly the land costs and
construction related costs to be incurred in respect of the Group’s
development of its investment properties in various cities in
mainland China.

(b) The Group leases certain properties under non-cancellable
operating leases expiring within ten years. Certain leases
include contingent rentals calculated with reference to revenue
from the properties. At 30 June, total future minimum lease
payments were as follows:

%8 Group

BB ESTTHE in HK$ million 20M 2010
—FR Within 1 year 46 92
—FRERAFA After 1 year but within 5 years - 46
46 138

28 EERA 28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a) EAKER
AEBEAERERIATHIENRS
e ZFEl T Z2EER —MBILZ
REIZAAEE  THEEASEET
B EAEECZEES>HER -

BIREREOZEEZEAFHFEZET
B LK BB A D LIRRGFEM
EFTR - BERENA2BESAKHE
AR B kAt &) - BB R Wz ft5kT)
BAFTEIES ZHER - AEBERETF
FEEOKFEMEREEARKEEESR
ZREBBAEEKERP - A&EEAK
BNz HFOR DB BERALREHE
WAL SHUR R - ARERFA
ZEFBER-_TEL (ZT—FF:
—ThE&ER MBEARERZLK
HRXEeBRBBRANTERT(ZE—F
F:O+ET) °

(a) Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution provident fund scheme
for its employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group by an independent trustee and managed by
professional fund managers.

Contributions are made by both the employer and the employees at
a certain percentage of employees’ basic salaries, the percentage
varying with their length of service. When an employee leaves the
scheme prior to his or her interest in the Group’s contributions being
fully vested, forfeited contributions are credited to reserves of the
fund. Depending on the level of reserves, the Group may direct

the trustee to credit dividends to members' accounts out of the
reserves of the fund. The Group's contributions may be reduced by
the forfeited contributions, but there was no such reduction of the
Group's contributions during the year. Total contributions made by
the Group for the year amounted to $20 million (2010: $19 million)
and forfeited sums credited to reserves amounted to $0.6 million
(2010: $0.4 million).
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(a) Retirement benefits (Continued)

A master trust Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “"MPF
Scheme”) is operated by an independent service provider.
Mandatory contributions are made by both the employer and the
employees at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant income, up
to a limit of $20,000. The Group's contributions will be fully and
immediately vested in the employees’ accounts as their accrued
benefits in the scheme. Total MPF contributions made by the Group
for the year amounted to $3 million (2010: $3 million).

As the Group's provident fund scheme is an MPF Exempted
Occupational Retirement Scheme (the “ORSO Scheme"), eligibility
for membership of the ORSO and MPF schemes is identical. New
employees are offered a one-off option to join either the ORSO or
the MPF scheme.

Staff in the Company’s subsidiaries operating in mainland China,
are members of a retirement benefits scheme (the “Mainland RB
Scheme”) operated by the local municipal government in mainland
China. The only obligation of the subsidiaries in mainland China is
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the Mainland
RB Scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government in mainland China undertakes to assume the retirement
benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees of
the subsidiaries in mainland China. Total contributions made by the
subsidiaries in mainland China for the year amounted to $15 million
(2010: $11 million).

(b) Equity compensation benefits

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on 22
November 2002, whereby the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of
the Company is authorized to grant options to selected participants,
including employees and directors of any company in the Group, to
subscribe for shares of the Company as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. The exercise price of the options

is determined by the Board at the time of grant, and shall be the
highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing price of the
shares at the date of grant and the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant. The period open for acceptance of the option and amount
payable thereon, the vesting period, the exercisable period and the
number of shares subject to each option are determined by the
Board at the time of grant. The scheme remains in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on its adoption date and will expire on 21
November 2012.
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
The movements of share options during the year are as follows:

IEH

RIPEFEZE Number of share options

RZZ—%F RZZ—%F

+HA—-A NAZTH 1IfRfE

RIARHEATHE BRN AR ()

Outstanding B&RM  Outstanding RIDERE 2 1715 Exercise

KA on BRI BAff  Forfeited/ on Period during which price

Date granted 1 July 2010 Granted Exercised Lapsed 30 June 2011 options are exercisable (HKS)

“TTNERA-TH 9,395,000 - (1,793,500 - 7601,500 —ZTRFRA-THZE 9.20
20 May 2004 —Z-MERATNA
20 May 2005 to
19 May 2014

“TTRENA-AE 806,000 - (306,000) - 500,000 I vy = Y 1140-12.35
ZEERF+—A-H “E-RF+A=+-A
1 September 2005 to 1 September 2006 to
1 November 2005 31 October 2015

ZETNET-ATMAE 23,134,000 - (12,050,000) - 1M084000 ZEZLF+-ATEAZE 16.75 - 22.60
“ZZHF=RATNA “E—+45=A+/\A
14 November 2006 to 14 November 2007 to
19 March 2007 18 March 2017

“TTLFLAZRE 79,680,000 - (4,633,000) (13,427000) 61,620,000 “EE\FtAZRE 1736 -2790
“TF\F+-A=1—H ZZ-\§TZA=TH
3 July 2007 to 3 July 2008 to
31 December 2008 30 December 2018

ZZTHNET-A=THE  25650,000 - - (42000000 21450000 —T——4%+-fA=1HZF 26.46 - 28.88
—E-FESA-H “T-ZFRA=T-H
30 November 2009 to 30 November 2011 to
1 June 2010 31 May 2020

e s el INE - 47330,000 = (140,000 47190000 —ZE——FtA-t+NHZ 30.79-36.90
—E—4%-AT=H “2-—FxA+ZH
29 July 2010 to 29 July 2012 to
13 June 2011 12 June 2021

45t Total 138,665,000  47330,000 (18,782,500  (17767000) 149,445,500

All the above options may vest after one to five years of the grant
date and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of the date of
grant, after which they will lapse. No options were cancelled during
the year.

R A Bt BRRE R AR i B B AR AT —
ELFERRE  YARELARTFE
T EARIITAE - MR Ay HAREAS ERAR -
F L A 4 BRI R
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(b)

Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

In respect of share options granted to the directors, the related
charge/(credit) recognized for the year ended 30 June 2011,
estimated in accordance with the Group's accounting policy in note
1(v)(2) was as follows:

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

(6)

(7)

Mr. Ronnie C. Chan, $28.6 million (2010: $26.4 million);

Mr. Philip N.L. Chen, $25.5 million (2010: $Nil);

Mr. William PY. Ko, $19.8 million (2010: $20.0 million);

Mr. Henry T.Y. Yiu, $7.8 million (2010: $3.4 million, including the
charge of $3.0 million in relation to his employment as director
of the Company);

Mr. H.C. Ho, $5.6 million, including the charge of $5.5 million in
relation to his employment as director of the Company;

Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen, $28.2 million (2010: $27.9 million),
including the charge of $9.1 million (2010: $279 million) in
relation to his employment as director of the Company; and

Mr. Terry S. Ng, ($28.9) million, including adjustment to reverse
amounts of $30.8 million in relation to unvested share options
which were forfeited and a charge of $1.9 million in 2011 (2010:
charge of $23.0 million), in relation to his employment as
director of the Company.
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28
(b)
(i)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

201 2010

It piji

FH1TEE FHITEE

(A7) (F7T)

Weighted Weighted
average ) average B dn
exercise At exercise HiEE R
price Number of price  Number of
(HKS) options (HKS) options
P B— B mARETE Outstanding at 1 July 15.84 138,665,000 18.30 127744,000
BRI Granted 3159 47,330,000 26.561 25,650,000
217E Exercised 17.84 (18,782,500) 10.16  (13,519,000)
28Uk /B Rk Forfeited/Lapsed 21.83 (17.767,000) 20.32  (1,210,000)
NN A =1 B BRI TE Outstanding at 30 June 24.28 149,445,500 15.84 138,665,000
RANA=+HAIF7fE Exercisable at 30 June 18.05 33,472,500 16.22 30,161,400

(ii)
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The closing prices of the shares immediately before the dates
of grant range from $30.15 to $35.65 (2010: $25.95 to $2760).

No share options were exercised by the directors in the period
of their employment as directors of the Company during

the year. The weighted average closing price of the shares
immediately before the dates of exercise by the directors
during the year ended 30 June 2010 was $2753. The weighted
average closing price of the shares immediately before the
dates of exercise by the employees during the year was $34.93
(2010: $28.42).

The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise for
share options during the year was $34.87 (2010: $27.91).

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at the reporting date was 7.7 years (2010: 7.6
years).
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(iii) (iii)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

The weighted average value per share option granted during
the year estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes
pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted was $10.10. The
weighted average assumptions used are as follows:

RO -
S OI=h Y Share price at grant date $31.10
1TEE Exercise price $31.69
ERR TR Risk-free interest rate 15%
TBEEER (4F) Expected life (in years) 6
L] Volatility 0.4
SELEESE g Expected dividend per share $0.71

REMRERR REZEE 2K
g DIRBERRE B —FAE
BB Z SEat o i A2 - TAHE K
BRETIBEBERSMETE - B
AR B R HAFEMRENX
BERFE -

29 BBEALTRS 29
(a) AAFRZ—RARMBLARAREEL ()
e ERES] MARQR
THEBARIAESIERE R
B N T——FXNA=TBEZER
EA—FHNEST (ZE—TF:

—(EMFEEST)
(b) BERTEZEBEMLERK T (b)

N 28(b)HE -
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The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected
share price returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share
prices over the one year immediately preceding the grant date.
Expected dividend per share is based on historical dividend.
Changes in the input assumptions could materially affect the
fair value estimate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A fellow subsidiary of the Company contributed funds as
capital investment to a subsidiary of the Company for the
development of Plaza 66, a property in Shanghai. The amount
outstanding at 30 June 2011 was $14 million (2010: $144
million).

Emoluments to directors and key management has been
disclosed in notes 6 and 28(b).
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

Exposure to interest rate, liquidity, credit and currency risks arises in

the normal course of the Group's business. The Group has policies

and practices approved by management as described below in

managing these risks.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from deposits with
banks and borrowings issued at floating rates. Interest rate trend
and movements are closely monitored and, if appropriate, existing
borrowings will be replaced with new bank facilities when favorable
pricing opportunities arise.

In addition, the Group established the Programme which provides
fixed interest rate facilities to the Group and assists the Group to
manage its interest rate risk.

The interest rates of interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities
are disclosed in notes 15, 18 and 21.

Based on the simulations performed at year end in relation to the
Group's bank deposits and borrowings, it was estimated that the
impact of a 100 basis-point increase in market interest rates from
the rates applicable at the year end date, with all other variables held
constant, would increase the Group’s profit after taxation and total
equity by approximately $50 million (2010: $50 million).

This analysis is based on a hypothetical situation, as in practice
market interest rates rarely change in isolation, and should not be
considered a projection of likely future profits or losses. The analysis
assumes the following:

—  changes in market interest rates affect the interest income and
interest expenses of floating rate financial instruments and

bank borrowings; and

- all other financial assets and liabilities are held constant.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group manages its surplus cash centrally and the liquidity risk of

the Company and its subsidiaries at the corporate level. The objective

is to ensure that an adequate amount of cash and committed bank

facilities are available to meet all funding requirements. Significant

flexibility is maintained through diverse sources of committed credit

lines to respond to unforeseeable opportunities and events.

ANAMBRLTE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
:j—_fLE W

FEE —FR  —ERER Between REE

Carrying st Within Between 23and Over

NEEBETAE in HKS million amount Total Tyear 1and2 years 5 years 5 years
FITER Bank loans 16,736 18,422 4813 286 11,264 2,069
ERERABAAE  Noncurrent finance lease obligations 35 35 - 35 - -
FERTEE BB Trade and other payables 3,430 3,439 2,439 557 393 50
RZE——%;B=+H At 30 June 2011 20,201 21,896 7252 878 11,647 219

ANETERETE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow:
—“RhER

FEE —FR  —EREA Between AEE

Carrying Fe Within Between 2and QOver

INEEBETE in HK$ million amount Total Tyear 1and2years 5 years 5 years
BITER Bank loans 6,458 6,847 1,679 4,088 909 271
FTERERLAEE  Noncurrent finance lease obligations 168 176 - 141 3b -
RS REMERZ  Trade and other payables 3,076 3,093 2,154 544 260 135
RZZ—FF,XA=1H At30 June 2010 9,702 10,116 3,733 4773 1,204 406
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables

and deposits and bonds held with reputable banks and financial

institutions.

[t maintains a defined credit policy including stringent credit
evaluation on and payment of a rental deposit from tenants.
Proceeds from property sales are receivable pursuant to the

terms of the sale and purchase agreements. In addition to the
payment of rental deposits, tenants are required to pay monthly
rents in respect of leased properties in advance. Except for sale of
properties developed by the Group, it does not hold any collateral
over the receivables. Receivables are regularly reviewed and closely
monitored to minimize any associated credit risk.

The Group does not engage in any derivative transactions. Surplus
cash is placed with reputable banks and financial institutions in
accordance with pre-determined limits based on credit ratings and
other factors to minimize concentration risk.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company as set out
in note 26, the Group does not provide any other guarantee which
would expose the Group or the Company to material credit risk.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Currency risk

Currency risk arises when recognized assets and liabilities are

denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the

Group's entities to which they related. The Group maintains certain

bank deposits denominated in United States dollars amounting to

US$189 million (2010: US$380 million). Given that Hong Kong dollars

are pegged to United States dollars, the resulting currency risk on

such deposits is considered insignificant.

The Group also engaged in property development and investments
in mainland China through its local subsidiaries whose net assets
are exposed to foreign currency risk. In addition, the Group holds
Renminbi deposits and bonds to meet its ongoing payment
obligations in relation to its development projects in mainland China
which is denominated in Renminbi. Where appropriate, the Group
seeks to minimize its exposure to currency risk in mainland China
through borrowings denominated in Renminbi.

Management estimated that a 1% appreciation/depreciation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar would not have a material
effect on the Group's profit and the Group’s equity attributable to
shareholders would be increased/decreased by $573 million (2010:
$350 million).

The above analysis has been determined assuming that the change
in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the reporting date and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

(e) Fair value

The fair values of held-to-maturity instruments, trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, cash and deposits with banks,
bank loans and provisions are considered to approximate their
carrying amounts.

Unlisted investments for which their fair values cannot be reliably
measured are stated at cost less impairment losses.
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31 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 28(b) contains information about the assumptions and their risk

relating to fair value of share options granted. Other key sources of

estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development
The investment properties and investment properties under
development of the Group were revalued at reporting date by
independent professionally qualified valuers on a market value
basis. For the completed investment properties, the valuers have
valued such properties with reference to market evidence taking
into account the rental income of the properties. The assumptions
adopted are based on the market conditions existing at the reporting
date, with reference to current market sale prices for similar
properties in the same location and condition and the appropriate
capitalization rate. For the investment properties under development,
the valuers have valued such properties as if they were completed
in accordance with the relevant development plan allowing for any
future construction and other relevant costs required for completion
of the development, and where appropriate, by reference to the
comparable market sale and purchase transactions.

(b) Properties held for sale

The Group determines the net realizable value of unsold properties
based on estimation of future selling price less costs to be incurred
in relation to the sale, with reference to the prevailing market data
and market survey reports available from independent property
valuers.

(c) Impairment of assets

The Group tests regularly whether goodwill and other assets

that have indefinite useful lives have suffered any impairment.
Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount

is determined using fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use
calculations as appropriate. These calculations require the use of
estimates.
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31 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Income taxes

There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business

and judgment is required in determining the provision for income

taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from

the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact

the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such

determination is made.

(e) Recognition of deferred tax assets

The amount of the deferred tax assets included in the statement
of financial position of the Group is recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary differences and unused tax losses can be
utilized. The recognition of deferred tax assets requires the Group
to make judgments or based on the assessment of future financial
performance, the amount of future taxable profits and the timing of
when these will be realized.

32 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The ultimate holding company is Hang Lung Group Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong.
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33 BIBERZAREH 33 FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AEBWEIZESHABREBEETEMAE  The Group has not early applied the following amendments, new

78 0 ME 18 R A %Z Z E&&] ~ F#ERIsk®  standards or interpretations which have been issued by the HKICPA

2o AN TES /&ﬁ'Jié%ﬂIT\A but are not yet effective. The adoption of the following amendments,

HAEEZE .ﬂ'BZﬁ’“tPKiK“ standards or interpretations will not result in substantial changes to
the Group's accounting policies.

REATR B HAsk DAt

FRth < @B AR

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

—T—%—H—H
1 January 2011

HKFRSs (f£5T4%)
HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs22010&5]
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010

—T——F—H—H
1 January 2011

HKAS 24 (& &3]) @A LR
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

—F——%—A—H
1 January 2011

HKFRS 8 ({851 4%) KgEDE
HKFRS 8 (Amendments) Operating Segments

HKFRS 7 ({&5]7) SRIE K& —E——%tH—H
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 July 2011
HKAS 27 (2011) B RE —=%—H—H

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10
HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11
HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12
HKFRS 12

Separate Financial Statements

BrE AR REE DAl R
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

ST A
Financial Instruments

NSRRI D

Consolidated Financial Statements

B ek
Joint Arrangements

HAb AR IR

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

1 January 2013

—=%—A—H

1 January 2013

—=%—H—H

1 January 2013

—=#—A-A

1 January 2013

—=%—A—H

1 January 2013

—=#-A-8

1 January 2013

34 EILRBF

HARERAHKAS 12 (&1E5]) - &
BFEEHRI - BRAFIBEDRME2

35 ZEMBHRE

EERN-_FT——HtA-t+nBRE

WA BB SRR -

34 RESTATEMENT OF COMPARATIVES

Fr e Asaresult of the adoption of HKAS 12 (amended), certain

comparative figures have been restated. Further details of these
changes in accounting policy are disclosed in note 2.

35 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by
the Board of Directors on 29 July 2011.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 FEMBEAT 36 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
RZE——FA="1TH At 30 June 2011

BEIRA Faa AT
(&7) SEMH RElfR REFE
Issued E=AAL ERAAL Place of
NG Share Capital % Held by % Held by 7% Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity and Operations
Antonis Limited* 10,000 100 100 NERE Hh
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP City Limited 2 100 - EL &R
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Joy Limited 2 100 - WEERLES &R
Property development & leasing Hong Kong
AP Properties Limited NERENEE Bh
Property development & leasing Hong Kong

[Al IR 34 100 -

A shares
[B) & 6 100 -
'B' shares

AP Star Limited* 2 100 - ARgE &b
Investment holding Hong Kong
AP Success Limited 2 100 - NERE A
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Universal Limited* 2 100 - EES &
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Win Limited* 1,000,000 100 - EES BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP World Limited 2 100 100 EZES &0
Property development Hong Kong
Bonna Estates Company Limited 1,000,000 100 100 ESE Y A
Property leasing Hong Kong
REOFARDA® 4,000,000 100 - S BB
Caddo Enterprises, Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
BEEARAA® 2 100 - S BB
Carmana Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
Cititop Limited 2 100 - WEERNES &R
Property development & leasing Hong Kong
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36 E\Egl}ﬁ%@ﬁj (%) 36 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RZE——FA="TH At 30 June 2011
BEIRA Faa AT
(%) SEMH N iiecs REFEE
Issued E=ANL ERANL Place of
NG Share Capital % Held by % Held by 1% Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity and Operations
BAERERAR IR E BE
Country Bond Development Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[Al R 990 79.8 -
A shares
(Bl & 1 100 -
‘B" share
Dokay Limited* 2 100 - ELik &R
Property leasing Hong Kong
REAEERAR 2 100 = IR E BE
Easegood Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Fu Yik Company Limited* 3 100 - ELik &R
Property leasing Hong Kong
EXARAR* 2 100 100 IR E BE
Gala Ruby Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
Gowily Limited 2 100 - ELi &R
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Centre Limited 4 100 - nERS BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Hotel Group Limited 10,200 100 - BB ECERER %
Apartment operating & Hong Kong
management
REEESEERAR BREE &E
Grand Hotel Holdings Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[Al B 62,163,123 100 -
A shares
[Bl&& 6,000,000 100 -
'B' shares
Hang Chui Company Limited 2 100 - ES 2
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Far Company Limited* 2 100 - PRI E %
Investment holding Hong Kong

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 FEMBAT @)

36 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RZE——FA="TH At 30 June 2011
BETRA EalijzAvs
(A7) SEMH REIFfH REFE
Issued BRADH BRADH Place of
NG Share Capital % Held by % Held by 1% Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity and Operations
BRERAA 200 100 - ELik &R
Hang Fine Company Limited Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Kwok Company Limited* 10,000 100 - NERE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Lick Company Limited* 10,000 100 - NERE A
Property leasing Hong Kong
1Bl (1H) BRAR 10,000 100 100 ERRE A
Hang Lung (Administration) Limited Management services Hong Kong
Bl (R%) BRAA 1 100 - BREE &b
Hang Lung (Dalian) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B[ (/%) ARAA] 1 100 - PBRE &
Hang Lung (Jiangsu) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
fBf (&m) ARAA 1 100 - BREE &b
Hang Lung (Jinan) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
fBfE (%) ARAA 1 100 - BREE &b
Hang Lung (Liaoning) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Hang Lung Park-In Limited 2 100 - ES A
Property leasing Hong Kong
(ElANESE Lol ING 10,000 100 100 TREREE BB
Hang Lung Project Management Limited* Project management Hong Kong
BENFERERAF 100,000 100 = NEER A
Hang Lung Property Management Limited* Property management Hong Kong
EREREARAF 2 100 100 mERE &b
Hang Lung Real Estate Agency Limited* Property agencies Hong Kong
fBf (&%) ARAA 2 100 - BEREE &b
Hang Lung (Shenyang) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
falg (R2) BRAA 2 100 - BRERE A
Hang Lung (Tianjin) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Bl (&85) BRAA 1 100 - BRERE A
Hang Lung (Wuxi) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

218

EEBLEARAR —T -/ ——F4R



36 FEMBAT &

\
)
)

36 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RZE——FA="TH At 30 June 2011
BEIRA Faa AT
(%) SEMH N iiecs REFEE
Issued E=ANL ERANL Place of
NG Share Capital % Held by % Held by £ Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity and Operations
BEE (RE) FRAF 2 100 100 BREA &k
HLP (China) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
HLP Finance Limited 1% 100 100 g REARREE
US$1 Financial services  British Virgin Islands
BEPENBERERAR ARBIT 100 - Bt &k
HLP Financial Services Limited RMB1 Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Fortune Limited 1 100 100 LS &R
Property development Hong Kong
ERtEREERAA 2 100 100 Bt &k
HLP Treasury Limited Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Treasury Services Limited* 2 100 - PREE &b
Investment holding Hong Kong
Hoi Sang Limited* 2 100 - BRgE i
Investment holding Hong Kong
SEERARF® 1,000,002 100 = NEER A
Lockoo Limited* Property development Hong Kong
Magic Modern International Limited* 1 100 100 EE %
Advertising Hong Kong
Mansita Limited* 2 100 - EE &
Property leasing Hong Kong
Modalton Limited 2 100 - NERE A
Property leasing Hong Kong
Monafat Limited* 2 100 - EE &b
Property leasing Hong Kong
Ottringham Limited* 20 100 - ELik &R
Property leasing Hong Kong
Palex Limited* 2 100 - ELik &R
Property leasing Hong Kong
Pocaliton Limited 2 100 - ELik &R
Property leasing Hong Kong

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 TEMELAT @

36 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RZE——FA="TH At 30 June 2011
BEIRA Faai AT
(%) SE N iiecs REFE
Issued E=ADL ERANL Place of
NG Share Capital % Held by % Held by 1% Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity and Operations
Rago Star Limited 2 100 - EZEY )
Property leasing Hong Kong
Rioloy Limited 2 100 - EZik &R
Property leasing Hong Kong
Ronhero Limited* 2 100 - NERE 3
Property leasing Hong Kong
Stooket Limited 2 100 100 NERE 3
Property leasing Hong Kong
Tegraton Limited 2 100 - nERE %
Property leasing Hong Kong
BHREZARR 100,000 100 - EZEY B
Wai Luen Investment Company, Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
Willoy Limited* 2 100 - EET &b
Property leasing Hong Kong
Yangli Limited* 2 100 - EEY &b
Property leasing Hong Kong
Zarat Limited* 2 100 - EEY &b
Property leasing Hong Kong
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36 FEMBAT @)

36 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RZE——FA="TH At 30 June 2011
FHTER
B N iiecs REFEE
HERINTEE AR IR ERANL Place of
Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprises AR % Held by % Held by 7% Incorporation
in mainland China Registered Capital The Group The Company Activity and Operations
REERHERRAA ARH#2,031,877,3557T 100 - EZES hEIR,
Dalian Hang Lung Properties Ltd. RMB2,031,877355 Property development Mainland China
BEERHEARAA 401,500,005 100 - EZES EIR,
Liaoning Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$401,500,000 Property development Mainland China
WREEMERRAR 340,000,000% 7T 100 = ETA RELA,
Shandong Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$340,000,000 Property development Mainland China
RHEENEERAR 349,990,000 7T 100 = NEERRAE R Rt
Shenyang Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$349,990,000 Property development & leasing Mainland China
AEEEMEFRAG 1,650,000,000/% 7T 100 = NEER HELAH,
Tianjin Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$1,650,000,000 Property development Mainland China
mHEENEERAR 2,282,350,000/7C 100 = VIES B,
Wuxi Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$2,282,350,000 Property development Mainland China
BOBEMEERAF 509,000,000 7T 100 - VIE R R
Wuxi Hang Ying Properties Ltd. HK$509,000,000 Property development Mainland China
Faa AV
AR SEH DAl REFIE
BRI ERE (E7) B&EADL BRADL Place of
Equity Joint Venture Registered Capital % Held by % Held by £7% Incorporation
in mainland China (USS) The Group The Company Activity and Operations
HEEAEHEREARAR 167,004,736 82 - NRERREE hEM,
Shanghai Hang Bond Property Development Property development & leasing Mainland China

Co., Ltd.

HEBEEHEREERAR 165,000,000 69.3' - NRERRIEE hEM,
Shanghai Kong Hui Property Development Property development & leasing Mainland China

Co., Ltd.

* R BRI ENEBAER

# BAKERENBARERKEESANEZ ¢

RS R 2 i s

FRINGEZRRREAEE 28 KR
BERBEAFEZIZMBARF -

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

Not audited by KPMG

Represents the Group's attributable interest in the commercial portion of the properties
held either directly or indirectly by the subsidiary

the Group.

The above list gives the principal subsidiaries of the Group which in
the opinion of the directors, principally affect the profit and assets of
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37 827 37 JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
R—E——FA=1H At 30 June 2011
BEIRA Rali7ATE
(#7) SR NSIlies RESHE
Issued BrBA BB Place of
NG Share Capital % Held by % Held by £ Incorporation
Company (HK$) The Group The Company Activity and Operations
BEMEER AT 5,000,000 36.8 - TR E it
Country Link Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
EERBRAR PRIEE Hh
Ease Smart Development Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] R 1 = =
A share
[B) & 1 100 -
'B" share
ERERABRAR 3 333 - ESY Hh
Star Play Development Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
* FEESHEeEBIER ¥ Not audited by KPMG
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+ 4 B
TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B EELTE in HK$ million 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
5 E]
(restated) (restated)
BEE (M=) Total assets (Note 1) 144,682 116,300 88614 84341 69244 60366 53,096 47226 40,800 39,458
BEME Investment properties 85918 80965 62,766 59,085 47,153 39590 36,032 30,562 27,172 24,986
FEME Properties for sale

—BEK - Completed 5,058 5,055 6,923 6,774 9501 10,159 10,693 7,005 - -

—%REH ~ Under development 905 800 760 43 4 = - 5018 10775 8490
BERBITER Cash and deposits with banks 27,202 11,536 8,931 10,578 6,994 5,984 3,206 1,063 1,104 3,146
‘aaE (1) Total liabilities (Note 1) 29,758 18513 13428 15,691 13,407 16,077 11,841 15,273 14,889 12,884
FITER Bank loans 16,736 6,458 4,661 4,419 4,782 8,454 4113 9,593 7874 6,372
FEER Floating rate notes - - 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 540 540 540
ABRES Convertible bonds - - - - - - - - 3414 33%
L EGEL) Shareholders' equity (Note 1) 109,719 93105 71,894 66377 54277 43246 40,288 31,019 24,633 26,112
BEEFHE (8% Net assets (including

FiERER) non-controlling interests)

(FzE1) (Note 1) 114,924 97,787 75,186 68651 55838 44,289 41255 31,954 25911 26,574
= Tumover 5164 12057 4173 10,080 4389 3657 6955 4533 2143 2383
BRRE AR Net profit attributable to

(Fff=E1) shareholders (Note 1) 5792 23,561 3985 13,159 6,371 4,403 6,813 4,616 875 1,207

’ EREA (MzF2) Underlying net profit (Note 2) 2,141 6,674 2,388 5,123 2,048 1,627 2,516 2,065 875 1,207
K& Dividends 3,175 2,951 2,736 2,736 2,320 1,900 1,843 1,439 1,156 1,156
SREH Per share data
& (1) Earnings (Note 1)

—EX - Basic $1.33 $5.68 $0.96 $3.18 $1.60 $1.19 $1.94 $1.53 $0.30 $0.42

— % - Diluted $1.31 $5.61 $0.96 $3.15 $1.58 $1.18 $1.92 $1.52 $0.30 $0.42
EARF (M32)  Underlying eamings (Note 2)

—EX - Basic $0.63 $1.61 $0.58 $1.24 $0.51 $0.44 $0.72 $0.69 $0.30 $0.42

— 8 - Diluted $0.62 $1.59 $0.57 $1.23 $0.51 $0.44 $0.71 $0.68 $0.30 $0.42
fit 8 Dividends

— il — Interim 17¢ 17¢ 15¢ 15¢ 13¢ 13¢ 13¢ 11¢ 11¢ 11¢

— REA - Final 54¢ b4¢ 51¢ 51¢ 43¢ 38¢ 37¢ 33¢ 29¢ 29¢

— 2 ~Total for the year 71¢ ¢ 66¢ 66¢ 56¢ 51¢ 50¢ 44¢ 40¢ 40¢
R R Shareholders' equity

(FffzE1 %d) (Notes 1 & 4) $245 $224 $17.3 $16.0 $13.1 $11.6 $10.9 $9.4 $8.5 $9.0
BEFE (B Net assets (including

JeE ) non-controlling interests)

(FffzE1 %d) (Notes 1 & 4) $25.7 $235 $18.1 $16.6 $135 $11.9 $11.2 $9.7 $9.0 $9.2
BEE (F:3) Gearing ratio (Note 3) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 9% 7% 24% 31% 23%
RELEE (1) Pay-out ratio (Note 1) 53% 13% 69% 21% 35% 43% 26% 29% 132% 96%
ERREHEE Underlying pay-out ratio

(FfE 2) (Note 2) 113% 44% 114% 53% 109% 116% 70% 64% 132% 96%
ERITREY Number of shares issued

(BBR) (in million) 4,472 4,159 4,146 4145 4143 3,732 3,683 3,300 2,889 2,889

B3 Notes:

1.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

AR AFEMBIRFEMBHKAS 12 (BRTA) [H
BIZBE —E-ZER_ZTNF2EBY
%EW&%%o:??A@&M%ZEEﬁ*E
3

RIGEEAEEZEREREMR - bl 2 BEARLL
F - SREN RS ERGE MR IR E Y E R
BRHREMEZ ATELHREFBREHREAR
JEIERRIES T E o

BUE R AR SRR IS EIR 2 L - JFHER
BRTTER  AMEES  FEEBRERBERD
AP BB S RIRITER - B SERIRE
0 MIFPR R RS o

g?@ﬁé%iﬁ AZBREs BEFERDETR

1. Figures for 2010 and 2009 have been restated due to the early adoption of the amendments
to HKAS 12, Income taxes starting from the current year. For year 2008 and before, no
restatements are made.

2. To facilitate better understanding of the Group's operational results, the underlying net profit,
earnings per share and pay-out ratio are presented by excluding the effect of changes in
fair value of investment properties and investment properties under development and their
related deferred tax and non-controlling interests.

3. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents bank loans,
convertible bonds, floating rate notes and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits
with banks. Equity comprises shareholders' equity and non-controlling interests.

4. Based on shareholders' equity/net assets divided by number of shares issued on the
reporting date.
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L & K
LISTING INFORMATION

RZZ——F ;X A=+H At June 30, 2011

4,471,814,1700 F & EEEE1.007T
2D ERBBERSTER AR ET

4,471,814,170 shares of HK$1.00 each listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

% 134X 5% Stock Code

BEBMAERRZEN Hong Kong Stock Exchange 00101
FRIFE AL Reuters 0101.HK
EAE] Bloomberg 10THK
BFEEEN (BRH) Board Lot Size (Share) 1,000

XEREERES
F—HRE (BaX5)

American Depositary Receipt
Sponsored Level-1 (Over the Counter)

BEHR GRS 2N CUSIP Number /Ticker Symbol 41043M104/HLPPY
TEFLRE SRR 2 R ADR: Underlying Share Ratio 1:5
FrEiRTT « BAOEERTT Depositary Bank: The Bank of New York Mellon

A4 Website: http://www.adrbnymellon.com
REBFREZE Share Registrars

BERPRESFECHERAF
FEEERANBR-ANT=H
BMRL T

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong

B Tel: 2862 8628
EH Fax: 2529 6087
REEZBRE® Investor Relations Contact

78 I C.F Kwan

TERHIAL Email address: ir@hanglung.com

& 47 & Bt SHARE INFORMATION

(B Price o P(E Price L
HR R PR
&= =i Total Trading 55 =K Total Trading
High Low Volume High Low Volume
B BE R&ipErE (FAR) B B RinErE (FAR)
HK$ HK$ No. of Shares ('000) HK$ HK$ No. of Shares ('000)
2010 2009
=2 Third quarter 38.35 2955 434,684 | =2 Third quarter 29.00 22.00 466,923
$0UZ Fourth quarter  40.50  34.40 859,449 | #MZE Fourth quarter  32.95  27.00 418,858
2011 2010
25—7 First quarter 3820 29.50 439,728 | % —= First quarter 32.55 2535 370,365
=7 Second quarter  36.25  28.90 365,474 | =2 Second quarter ~ 32.85  25.95 332,138
R-B——ERA=+THZKRME : #H#E31.90T R-B-BERA=THZRE : ##230.157T
Share Price as at June 30, 2011: HK$31.90 Share Price as at June 30, 2010: HK$30.15
R-B——ERA=+HZHHE: % 1,426.5(8 T R-B-BERA=+THZHHE : 45 1,254.0{8T
Market Capitalization as at June 30,2011: HK$142.65 billion Market Capitalization as at June 30, 2010: HK$125.40 billion
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